# PROCEEDINGS

# International Online Symposium of Young Optometrists SIYO 2022



Vniver§itatö́dValència

# PROCEEDINGS

# International Online Symposium of Young Optometrists SIYO 2022





# PROCEEDINGS

# INTERNATIONAL ONLINE SYMPOSIUM OF YOUNG OPTOMETRISTS

14-28 November 2022

Resolución de 26 de octubre de 2022, de la directora general de Ciencia e Investigación, por la que se conceden subvenciones para la organización y difusión de congresos, jornadas y reuniones científicas, tecnológicas, humanísticas o artísticas de carácter internacional (AORG- 2022) Expediente CIAORG/2021/113



Esta obra está bajo una Licencia Creative Commons Reconocimiento-NoComercial-SinObraDerivada 4.0 Internacional.

© Del texto: los autores, 2022 © De la presente edición: Universitat de València, 2022

Imagen de la cubierta: RICARDO ZAHONERO MARCO SUSANA ORTI NAVARRO

Diseño de la cubierta: Publicacions de la Universitat de València

ISBN Papel: 978-84-9133-540-5 ISBN PDF: 978-84-9133-541-2 (OA) http://dx.doi.org/10.7203/PUV-OA-541-2

Edición digital

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This book of proceedings has been published thanks to the support of the "Programa para la promoción de la investigación científica, el desarrollo tecnológico y la innovación en la Comunitat Valenciana, (DOGV núm. 9185 de 30 de septiembre)"

Funding for SIYO 2022 has been provided by the "Proyecto de innovación docente de la Facultad de Física, 2021-2022 y 2022-2023", SFPIE (University of Valencia).

SIYO 2022 gratefully acknowledges the support provided by Càtedra Alcon-FISABIO-UVEG, INDO and VISIONIX.

### SIXTH INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM OF YOUNG OPTOMETRISTS, SIYO 2022

### **Scientific Committee**

Brendan T. Barrett Cristina Bonnin Arias Inmaculada Bueno Gimeno M.ª Teresa Caballero Caballero Vicent Camps Sanchís Dolores de Fez Saiz M.ª Amparo Díez-Ajenjo Alberto Domínguez Vicent José Juan Esteve Taboada M.ª Carmen García Domene Rosa M.ª Hernández Andrés Madalena Lira M.ª José Luque Cobija Sandra Maleysson

Jorge Manuel Martins Jorge Valeria Militello Daniel Monsálvez Romín Pedro Monteiro Susana Ortí Navarro David P. Piñero Llorens Esteban Porcar Izquierdo António Queiros Pereira Laura Remón Martín Anto Rossetti Abinaya Priya Venkataraman University of Bradford, UK Universidad Complutense, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Alicante, España Universidad de Alicante, España Universidad de Alicante, España Universidad de Valencia, España Karolinska Institutet, Sweden Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidade do Minho, Portugal Universidad de Valencia, España Institut des Sciences de la Vision-Saint Etienne, France Universidade do Minho, Portugal University of Palermo, Italy Universidad de Valencia, España Universidade Beira Interior, Portugal Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Alicante, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidade do Minho, Portugal Universidad de Zaragoza, España University of Padua, Italy Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

## **Organizing Committee**

Inmaculada Bueno Gimeno Dolores de Fez Saiz Augusto Díaz Escobar M.ª Amparo Díez-Ajenjo José Juan Esteve Taboada Sara Ferrer Altabas M.ª Carmen García Domene Sandra Johanna Garzón Parra Rosa M.ª Hernández Andrés Madalena Lira M.ª José Luque Cobija Raúl Martín Herranz Jorge Manuel Martins Jorge Myriam Teresa Mayorga Corredor Valeria Militello Daniel Monsálvez Romín Henrique Nascimento

Juan Carlos Ondategui

Susana Ortí Navarro Esteban Porcar Izquierdo Alejandro Rubio Barañano Celia Sánchez Ramos Raquel Salvador Roger Luisa Simó Rubén Velázquez Guerrero

Valldeflors Viñuela-Navarro

Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Alicante, España Universidad Latina, Costa Rica Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad Antonio Nariño, Colombia Universidad de Valencia, España Universidade do Minho, Portugal Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valladolid, España Universidade do Minho, Portugal Universidad de La Salle, Colombia University of Palermo, Italy Universidad de Valencia, España Instituto Superior de Educação e Ciências, Portugal Universidad Politècnica Catalunya, España Universidad de Valencia, España Universidad de Valencia, España University of Bradford, UK Universidad Complutense, España Universidad de Valencia, España University of Portsmouth, UK Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, México Aston University, UK

## PREFACE

The Sixth International Symposium of Young Optometrists (SIYO 2022) took place from 14 to 28 November 2022 in its usual online format. This conference aims to create a space featuring young optometry students and optometry practitioners.

This book of proceedings contains the abstracts of the different contributions to the conference. Its contents are organized into two sections: invited and sponsored talks and workshops, and free communications. This last section is divided in talks and poster communications, comprising the conference's different thematic areas.

The Organizing Committee thanks all the young and senior researchers who have contributed their work to the conference, the members of the Scientific Committee for their careful review of the work and the different companies and academic or official entities that have sponsored this event.

The Organizing Committee

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
SIXTH INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM OF YOUNG OPTOMETRISTS, SIYO 2022	
Scientific Committee Organizing Committee	9 10
PREFACE	11

#### GUEST LECTURES, SPONSORED TALKS AND WORKSHOPS

Assessing gaze via 3D motion-tracking: agreement with head-mounted eye-tracker	25
Development of new objective techniques for ocular surface health assessment aiding early diagnosis of contact lens-related dry eye	27
IZABELA K. GARASZCZUK, PHD   MARYAM MOUSAVI, PhD	
The use of strategies to reduce myopia progression by Portuguese optometrists	29
<b>Optical quality of aspheric intraocular lenses (IOLs)</b>	32
Research collaboration	36
New multi-diagnostic platforms and their application in optometric practice	37
Indo Miopía SARA FONT ARMADANS	39

Ocular	surface	evaluations	for the	detection	of dry	eye	 41
ELEN	IA MARTÍ	NEZ-PLAZA I	AINHOA	MOLINA-MA	RTÍN		

#### 1 TALKS

1.1. ANTERIOR SEGMENT	45
Anterior ocular segment analysis and correlation between biometric parameters involved in refractive surgery PAULA GARCÍA BALAGUER   DANIEL MONSÁLVEZ ROMÍN	45
Considerations when defining keratoconus progression: the role of previous knowledge MARTA JIMÉNEZ-GARCÍA   JOS ROZEMA	47
Development of a new experimental formula for the approximation of total corneal power in post-LASIK patients JOSE ALBERTO GARCÍA PÁRRIZAS   TIMOTEO GONZÁLEZ CRUCES ALBERTO RUIZ PORRAS   ANTONIO CANO ORTIZ	50
Sectorial corneal asphericity in keratoconus: before and after intrastromal corneal segment ring implantation TIMOTEO GONZÁLEZ CRUCES   ALBERTO RUIZ PORRAS JOSE ALBERTO GARCÍA PÁRRIZAS   ANTONIO CANO ORTIZ	52
1.2. CONTACT LENSES	55
Decrease of myopic progression rate by orthokeratology: three-year results of a retrospective study MATTEO PAGLIA   ALESSANDRO FOSSETTI   CHARLES DI BENEDETTO	55
<b>Evaluation of changes induced in the tear film due to computer use,</b> <b>contact lens wear and artificial tears using novel methods</b> JOSÉ VICENTE GARCÍA-MARQUÉS   CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES SANTIAGO GARCÍA-LÁZARO   ALEJANDRO CERVIÑO EXPÓSITO	57
<b>Tear film dynamics with eyelid and contact lens motion for full</b> <b>blinks and half blinks</b> DARSHAN RAMASUBRAMANIAN   JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO JOSÉ LUIS HERNÁNDEZ VERDEJO   DAVID MADRID COSTA	60
1.3. INTRAOCULAR LENSES AND REFRACTIVE SURGERY	63
Comparison of the estimated effective lens position and power lens with SRK/T, Hoffer Q, Holladay I and Haigis formulas	
in normal eyes	63

<b>Optical performance of a new trifocal intraocular lens</b> ANABEL MARTÍNEZ-ESPERT   DIEGO MONTAGUD-MARTÍNEZ VICENTE FERRANDO   WALTER D. FURLAN	65
Validation of a numerical model eye implemented in paraxial ray tracing software (OSLO) for cataract surgery DIANA GARGALLO YEBRA   LAURA REMÓN MARTÍN FRANCISCO JAVIER CASTRO ALONSO   JORGE ARES GARCÍA   IVÁN PEREZ	68
1.4. OPTICS AND INSTRUMENTATION	71
The Bebié curve for FDT perimetry	71
Changes in choroidal and retinal thickness assessed by optical coherence tomography in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with moderate diabetic retinopathy	74
ANA BONED MURILLO   MARÍA DOLORES DÍAZ BARREDA SOFÍA BIELSA ALONSO   MARÍA SOPEÑA PINILLA   ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO ISABEL PINILLA LOZANO	
Clinical evaluation of the repeatability and variability of ocular aberrometry with different target vergences MARÍA MECHÓ-GARCÍA   IÑAKI BLANCO-MARTÍNEZ   RUTE ARAÚJO PAULO FERNANDES   MIGUEL RIBEIRO JOSÉ MANUEL GONZÁLEZ-MÉIJOME	76
Comparison between clinically measured insert versus theoretical and standard value and its importance in progressive addition lens adaptation ÓSCAR GARCÍA ESPINILLA   IRENE SÁNCHEZ PAVÓN RAÚL MARTÍN HERRANZ	79
Contrast speckle as a retinal tissue integrity biomarker in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus with no retinopathy MARÍA ARCAS-CARBONELL   ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL ALEJANDRA CONSEJO	81
Repeatability of bulbar redness measurements obtained using the Keratograph 5MJOSÉ VICENTE GARCÍA-MARQUÉS   CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES SANTIAGO GARCÍA-LÁZARO   ALEJANDRO CERVIÑO EXPÓSITO	83
Zemax OpticStudio toolbox as a method for visual quality analysis in multifocal contact lenses	85

1.5. BINOCULAR VISION	89
Analysis of the Hess Lancaster screen test with eye-tracker LUZ MAURAIN ORERA   ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE   ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO	89
Use of contact lenses in patients with anisometropic amblyopia without strabismus	91
1.6. REHABILITATION, PERCEPTUAL TRAINING AND VISUAL THERAPY	95
Fusional vergence dysfunction associated with accommodative insufficiency.         IRENE PALACIOS ORTEGO   DIANA SORIANO PINA CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE	95
NUTRARET: Effect of two-year nutraceutical supplementation on redox status and visual function of patients with retinitis pigmentosa: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial LORENA OLIVARES GONZÁLEZ   DAVID SALOM ALONSO EMILIO GONZÁLEZ GARCÍA   DAVID HERVÁS MARÍN NATALIA MEJÍA CHIQUI   MAR MELERO MORENO SHEYLA VELASCO GOMARIZ   BIANCA TABITA MURESAN OLTEAN ISABEL CAMPILLO NUEVO   NIEVES VILA CLÉRIGUES EDUARDO LÓPEZ BRIZ   JUAN FRANCISCO MERINO TORRES JOSÉ MARÍA MILLÁN SALVADOR   JOSÉ MIGUEL SORIANO DEL CASTILLO REGINA RODRIGO NICOLÁS	98
1.7. SPECIAL POPULATIONS	101
Assessment of saccadic movements in Parkinson's disease patients using the King-Devick test ALBA HERRERO GRACIA   M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA   ROSA MARÍA HERNÁNDEZ ANDRÉS	101
Retinal vascular tortuosity in glaucoma and diabetic retinopathy: correlation with vessel diameters ASMAE IGALLA EL YOUSSFI   JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO	103
1.8. VISUAL PERCEPTION AND PROCESSING	107
Analysis of the relationship between subjective measures of the visual function and ocular optical quality parameters in healthy patients PAULA DAUDÉN OLIVER   DAVID P. PIÑERO LLORENS CELIA GARCÍA LLOPIS	107
<b>Perceptual scores of image quality at far distance through simulated bifocal corrections: addition and energy balance implications</b> EDUARDO ESTEBAN-IBAÑEZ   ENRIQUE GAMBRA   YASSINE MARRAKCHI LUCIE SAWIDES   CARLOS DORRONSORO	109

Visual system and visuomotor skills: review and study proposal PILAR GRANADOS DELGADO   JOSÉ JUAN CASTRO TORRES MIRIAM CASARES LÓPEZ	112
1.9. OTHER OPTOMETRY-RELATED TOPICS	115
Assessment of reading speed and visual fatigue with different types of controlled lighting JORGE BERGES CARDENAL   ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO	115
Influence of author's gender on peer-review timing in vision	117

science publications	117
MARTA JIMÉNEZ-GARCÍA   ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA   JOS ROZEMA	

#### POSTER COMMUNICATIONS

2.1. ANTERIOR SEGMENT	123
Effect on quality of life associated with the state of the ocular surface due to mask use	123
Changes in the corneal endothelium after cataract surgery NELA MARTINA MONEO COLL   ANABEL MARTÍNEZ-ESPERT WALTER D. FURLAN	125
<b>Corneal manifestations in systemic diseases: a case report</b> SALVADOR CORS FERRANDO   ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA MARÍA JOSÉ ROIG REVERT   ELSA GÓMEZ DOMINGO CRISTINA PERIS MARTÍNEZ	127
Effects of computer use on blinking kinematics CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES   JOSÉ JUAN ESTEVE TABOADA VICENT SANCHIS JURADO   ÁLVARO M. PONS   SANTIAGO GARCÍA LÁZARO	129
Face mask-associated ocular manifestations during the Covid-19 pandemic: a systematic review SARA MARQUINA MARTÍN   JORGE ANDRÉS NAVARRO CRISTINA PERIS MARTÍNEZ   LETICIA ORTEGA-EVANGELIO	132
Influence of the use of digital screens on the tear film in frequent computer users.	134

The role of scleral stiffness on corneal biomechanics using finite	125
ANA RAMOS ARIZCUREN   AMAYA PÉREZ DEL PALOMAR ALEJANDRA CONSEJO	137
2.2. CONTACT LENSES	139
Comparison of soft toric contact lenses with and without prism ballast stabilization system ELENA DURÁN-PRIETO   M. MAR GONZÁLEZ PASCUAL MERCEDES BURGOS-MARTÍNEZ   JESÚS CARBALLO ÁLVAREZ JOSE MANUEL LÓPEZ ALONSO	139
Effects of contact lens wear and computer use on the ocular	
SUFFACE	142
2.3. INTRAOCULAR LENSES AND REFRACTIVE SURGERY	145
Advanced biometric calculation: a case series SARA MARQUINA MARTÍN   RUBÉN HERNÁNDEZ VIÁN FRANCISCO JAVIER CASTRO ALONSO	145
Analysis of the effects of visual quality under different light conditions with monocular implantation of different intraocular lenses: a pilot study INAS BAOUD OULD HADDI   DAYAN FLORES CERVANTES CRISTINA BONNIN ARIAS   VANESA BLÁZQUEZ SÁNCHEZ CELIA SÁNCHEZ RAMOS	147
Calculation formula prediction of intraocular lens in cataract surgery depending on the axial length ALBA CARRERA BLANCO   IRENE ALTEMIR GÓMEZ DIANA SORIANO PINA	149
Comparison of biometric measurements obtained by two swept source technology based biometers and a corneal tomographer JORGE DONÍS DE LA TORRE   VANESA BLÁZQUEZ SÁNCHEZ JUAN GROS-OTERO   INES CONTRERAS-MARTÍN MONTSERRAT GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ   JORGE GARCÍA PÉREZ LAUREANO A. REMENTERÍA-CAPELO	151
Corneal epithelial growth after LASIK: a case report IRENE SIMÓ   AMPARO ORTIZ   ANTONIO HERNÁNDEZ	154
Preoperative refraction prediction after photorefractive keratectomy (PRK) JORGE DONÍS DE LA TORRE   VANESA BLÁZQUEZ SÁNCHEZ CRISTINA BONNIN ARIAS   JUAN GROS OTERO   ROCÍO RODRÍGUEZ VILLA	155

Visual performance and defocus curve after implantation of a new	1 - 7
ESTELA LÓPEZ REDONDO   RUBÉN SÁNCHEZ JEAN   ANA DÍAZ HURTADO JUAN CARLOS PALOMINO BAUTISTA	157
2.4. OPTICS AND INSTRUMENTATION	161
Anatomical changes in the retinal capillary plexuses assessed by Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography in type 2 diabetic patients with moderate diabetic retinopathy: descriptive study	
of a series of cases GUISELA FERNÁNDEZ ESPINOSA   ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL ANA BONED MURILLO   MARÍA DOLORES DÍAZ BARREDA SOFÍA BIELSA ALONSO   MARÍA SOPEÑA PINILLA   ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO ISABEL PINILLA LOZANO	161
Choroidal thickness difference with or without the use of the built-in software segmentation modifying tool in	
<b>swept-source OCT</b> NEUS BURGUERA-GIMÉNEZ   CELESTE BRICEÑO-LOPEZ M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO   M.ª JOSÉ LUQUE-COBIJA M.ª CARMEN GARCÍA-DOMENE   NOEMÍ BURGUERA CRISTINA PERIS-MARTÍNEZ	163
Comparison of corneal radius and corneal conic constant of both meridians measured with a new eye surface profiler and a Placido-ring videokeratograph	165
Corneal characterization in diabetes mellitus patients: pilot study CELESTE BRICEÑO-LÓPEZ   M.ª CARMEN GARCÍA-DOMENE NEUS BURGUERA-GIMÉNEZ   M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO M.ª JOSÉ LUQUE-COBIJA   CRISTINA PERIS-MARTÍNEZ	167
<b>Development of an algorithm to track blinks from a face video</b> YOUSSEF MARRAKCHI   JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO NURIA GARZÓN JIMÉNEZ   MARIANO GONZÁLEZ PÉREZ	170
<b>Evaluation of a blue blocker filter using eye-tracking technology</b> PAULINA DOTOR   PABLO CONCEPCIÓN   CLARA BENEDÍ-GARCÍA EVA CHAMORRO   JOSÉ ALONSO FERNÁNDEZ   JOSÉ MIGUEL CLEVA	173
2.5. BINOCULAR VISION	177
Comparison of horizontal heterophoria values in reading and computer tasks in an adult population IRENE EZKURRA LEÓN   JUAN CARLOS MONTALT RODRIGO ESTEBAN PORCAR IZQUIERDO	177

Influence of mobile phone distance on accommodative state MARIA DOLZ TORMO	178
Interexaminer repeatability and agreement in the measurement of ocular heterophoria in children JOSÉ LUIS CEBRIÁN LAFUENTE   ESTELA LÓPEZ REDONDO ISABEL SÁNCHEZ PÉREZ   ARTURO CORROTO CUADRADO	180
The DEM test objectively monitored with eye-tracker in young people without binocular dysfunctions AITANA NAVARRO MARQUÉS   ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE   ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO	181
2.6. REHABILITATION, PERCEPTUAL TRAINING AND VISUAL THERAPY	183
Analysis of two methods of evaluating ocular motility using	103
an eye-tracker. Elena Saz onrubia   Elvira orduna hospital   ana sánchez cano Carmen lópez de la fuente	183
Improvement in fusional vergence amplitudes after a vision therapy protocol for subjects with typical binocular vision CRISTINA ROVIRA-GAY   MARC ARGILES   CLARA MESTRE   JAUME PUJOL	185
<b>Insufficiency of convergence: a case report</b> DIANA SORIANO PINA   IRENE PALACIOS ORTEGO CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE	188
2.7. SPECIAL POPULATIONS	191
<b>Primary congenital glaucoma: a clinical case</b> NATALIA MARTÍNEZ VAÑÓ	191
The effect of cataracts on individual biological rhythms ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA   M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO SALVADOR CORS FERRANDO   ELSA GÓMEZ DOMINGO F. JAVIER PUERTAS CUESTA	193
Unilateral adult-onset foveomacular vitelliform dystrophy:	
a case report Estela lópez redondo   José luis cebrián lafuente	196
2.8. VISUAL PERCEPTION AND PROCESSING	199
<b>Color vision in neurodegenerative diseases, bibliographic review</b> MARÍA LANZÁN LANZÁN   ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL	199

2.9. OTHER OPTOMETRY-RELATED SUBJECTS	203
Correlation between functional and structural assessments of the retinal macula in healthy young subjects	203
Effect of power and astigmatism axis on visual acuity AIDA RAMÓN CAMPILLO	205
Headache and ametropia SILVIA HERNÁNDEZ SEGOVIA	207
Relationship between the results of the ocular surface disease index and the objective values of the ocular protection index with and without the use of an FFP2 face mask PAULA MARTÍNEZ   MERCEDES BASULTO MARSET	209
<b>ReMedy: a mobile application for a better use of medication</b> <b>and contact lenses</b>	210
2.10. TEACHING INNOVATION	213
Game-based learning as reinforcement tool in optic and optometry studies	213
A study of the applicability of the MUC test for teaching purposes using not colorimetrically characterized devices	216
AUTHOR INDEX	219

# GUEST LECTURES, SPONSORED TALKS AND WORKSHOPS

### Assessing gaze via 3D motion-tracking: agreement with head-mounted eye-tracker

ALEJANDRO RUBIO BARAÑANO BRENDAN T. BARRETT School of Optometry and Vision Science, University of Bradford, Bradford, UK JOHN G. BUCKLEY

Department of Biomedical and Electronics Engineering, University of Bradford, Bradford, UK

Aim: We recently presented a method for measuring gaze location without the need for an eye-tracker [1]. The approach determines the assumed-gaze position by tracking the motion of the target that is being viewed relative to the orientation of the head. In the current study, we determine how closely changes in the assumed-gaze angle match changes in the gaze angle measured using an eye-tracker.

**Experimental method:** Participants wore a headband and a Tobii Pro "Glasses 3" eye-tracker, Fig. 1A. The head orientation was tracked (six-camera motion capture system, Vicon, 100Hz) using markers placed on the headband. To ensure that both gaze assessment approaches had comparable reference frames for gaze outputs, the head's reference frame was relocated to the eye-tracker's "Scene camera" position and rotated to match the participant's neutral gaze orientation. The gaze angles recorded by the eye-tracker during calibration were recorded as the offset angles.

Participants walked on a treadmill at Slow (80% Customary) and Fast (130% Customary) walking speeds. A smartphone (Fig. 1B), placed in front of participants at their preferred distance/orientation consecutively showed single random digits each lasting 750 ms (21 digits in total). The vertical size of these digits represented a visual acuity (VA) of 0.49 LogMAR at 0.4 m. Participants were asked to read the consecutively appearing digits aloud.

To determine how closely changes in the assumed gaze angle match changes in the gaze angle measured using an eye-tracker, we plotted the gaze displacement in the Up-Down (UD) and Right-Left (RL) assumed-gaze angles against those measured using the eye-tracker over the 15-second period (Fig. 1C). The Bland-Altman agreement [2] between techniques was applied in both spatial and temporal aspects, in addition to analysis of spatial congruence.

**Results:** Spatial agreement: the assumed-gaze approach showed good spatial agreement across speeds, with the angles assessed by the eye-tracker (mean

diff.;  $[\pm 95\%$ CI]):  $\Delta$ UDGAZE: -1.08 [-5.09; 2.93] deg,  $\Delta$ RLGAZE: -0.32 [-4.49; 3.85] deg. Temporal agreement: Changes in assumed-gaze had good temporal agreement with the changes in gaze determined by the eye-tracker (mean diff;  $[\pm 95\%$ CI]): Time lag: 22.86 [-84.84; 86.81] ms. Congruence: The directional changes in the assumed gaze trajectory were congruent with the direction of changes in the eye-tracker gaze trajectory, for ~80% of the analysed periods: (mean,  $\pm$ SD): Slow (82.8%  $\pm$  8); Fast (79.6%  $\pm$  12.1).



FIGURE 1. A) Subject calibration. Participants stood still and looked at a marker, horizontally and vertically aligned with the scene camera, placed 1.5 m in front of them. The origin (reference frame) for the assumed gaze was set at the position of the eye-tracker's origin (*scene camera*) and rotated to neutral.
B) markers were used to track the phone screen. C) Pilot data comparing the assumed and actual gaze angles for the Up-Down (UD) and Right-Left (RL) directions. Only 5 seconds of data are shown.

**Discussion:** The agreement (spatial and temporal) was similar for Slow and Fast speeds, suggesting the assumed-gaze approach remains valid at faster head speeds and/or with increased head motion. Compensatory eye movements (i.e., saccades) and/or blinks, which were only recorded by the eye-tracker, may have affected the agreement determined. The assumed-gaze approach is a valid method for assessing gaze angles when it is known that the intended target is being viewed.

#### References

[1] Rubio Barañano, A., Faisal, M., Barrett, B. T. and Buckley, J.G. "Using a smartphone on the move: Do visual constraints explain why we slow walking speed?" in *Exp Brain Res 240*, *467-480 (2022)*.

[2] Bland, J.M. and Altman, D.G. "Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement" in *The Lancet 327 (8476), 307-310 (1986)*.

### Development of new objective techniques for ocular surface health assessment aiding early diagnosis of contact lens-related dry eye

IZABELA K. GARASZCZUK, PhD MARYAM MOUSAVI, PhD Visual Optics Group, Wroclaw University of Science and Technology, wyb. Wyspianskiego, 50-370 Wroclaw, Poland

**Aim:** To find a new macro-type biomarker that could be objectively and non-invasively measured as an indicator of contact lens-related dry eye disease (CLDED), specifically in its early stage.

**Experimental method:** Fifty subjects aged (mean±standard deviation)  $26\pm4$  y/o were refitted with either silicone-hydrogel (Delefilcon A, SiHy, n=34) or hydrogel (Omafilcon A, Hy, n=16) daily disposable soft contact lenses. The study included seven visits: baseline measurements without contact lenses, two visits for contact lens fitting and selection, follow-up measurements after three, six, and

12 months of contact lens wear and a post-study visit without contact lenses. Lens-type selection was based on a set of objective measurements. Subjects were instructed to follow strict wearing rules. The study included measurements of tear film quality, tear quantity (meniscometry), ocular surface health markers, tear osmolarity and meibomian glands check-up and two new measurements of tear dynamic and tear clearance quantification (tear clearance and tear fluorescein wash-out).

**Results:** Changes in some of the ocular markers were evident throughout the duration of the study. Decrease in tear osmolarity over a period of one year was statistically significant for the whole duration of the study. Additionally, dynamic meniscometry responded to subtle changes in tear meniscus morphology. These changes were additionally expressed as changes in the optical coherence tomography-based tear clearance rate.

**Discussion:** This study shows that tear osmolarity [1], tear clearance [2] and dynamic meniscometry measures [3] could be used as potential biomarkers for supporting early CLDED diagnosis, whose markers are sensitive enough to follow the progression of subtle ocular changes in time and respond to effective therapy.

#### References

[1] Garaszczuk, I. K., Mousavi, M., Szczesna-Iskander, D. H., Cerviño, A., and Iskander, D. R. (2020). "A 12-month prospective study of tear osmolarity in contact lens wearers refitted with daily disposable soft contact lenses" in *Optometry and Vision Science*, 97(3), 178-185.

[2] Garaszczuk, I. K., Mousavi, M., Exposito, A. C., Bartuzel, M. M., Montes-Micó, R., and Iskander, D. R. (2018). "Evaluating tear clearance rate with optical coherence tomography" in *Contact Lens and Anterior Eye*, 41(1), 54-59.

[3] Garaszczuk, I. K., & Iskander, D. R. (2017). "Qualitative assessment of tear dynamics with fluorescein profilometry" in *Contact Lens and Anterior Eye*, 40(4), 208-212.

# The use of strategies to reduce myopia progression by Portuguese optometrists

PEDRO TIAGO MAIA DOS REIS DE JESUS JORGE MANUEL MARTINS JORGE Clinical and Experimental Optometry Research Laboratory (CEORLab), Physics Center of Minho and Porto Universities (CF-UM-UP), School of Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

**Aim:** To study what Portuguese optometrists know about myopia progression control strategies and to discover which myopia progression control strategies are used in daily clinical practice.

**Methods:** During April and May 2022, a survey carried out on the Google Forms platform was distributed to the population of Portuguese optometrists. The survey asked if the professionals apply any strategy to control myopia progression and if so, what techniques did they use and what were the reasons that led them to choose a particular technique. Those who do not use any technique were asked why they do not use one and if they plan to do so.

**Results:** The validated sample contained 189 validated surveys, comprising 69.8% of people with degrees, 29.6% Master's degrees and 0.5% doctorates in Optometry. The age of the sample ranges from 22 to 59 years with a mean age (mean  $\pm$  Standard deviation) of 38.0  $\pm$  9.1 years. The professional experience of the participants ranged from 1 and 35 years with a mean value of 14.1  $\pm$  7.4 years. 63.0% of the sample are female. Sixty-eight percent of the respondents use strategies to control myopia, with no statistically significant differences regarding the level of academic training, age or years of professional experience.

Regarding the myopia progression control strategies, 14.3% consider that undercorrection is a valid method, single-vision spectacles are considered valid by 22.8%, bifocal or progressive spectacles by 62.4%, low-addition spectacles by 65.1%, rigid gas permeable contact lenses (alignment fit) by 33.3%, soft single-vision contact lenses by 25.4% and vision therapy by 49.7%. On the other hand, 11.1% answered that orthokeratology has no effect or increases the progression of myopia, while 21.7% said the same about atropine, 24.3% said the same about combined treatments (e.g., atropine and orthokeratology) and 12.2% agreed regarding increased outdoor activity.

Regarding the methods used to control the progression of myopia, 11% only use a single strategy and the rest of the sample use several. Of those who use methods to control myopia progression, 84.6% use specific myopia-controlling contact lenses, 66.2% use specific myopia-controlling spectacles, 10% use dual focus soft contact lenses, 9.2% use orthokeratology and only 0.8% use atropine and combined treatments. There is also a group of professionals who use techniques that are not validated or that have even been shown to be counterproductive for myopia progression control: 23.8% use low-addition spectacles, 19.2% use single-vision spectacles, 7.7% use undercorrection, vision therapy and single-vision soft contact lenses, 5.4% use progressive spectacles, 4.6% use bifocal spectacles, 3.1% use rigid gas permeable contacts (alignment fit) and 1.5% follow visual ergonomics recommendations. Finally, 62.3% recommend increasing outdoor activities.

#### Comparison with other studies conducted in different geographic areas:

To compare these results with the results related to other geographical areas, an analysis was made of the results obtained in other studies. The different sample size for each analysed study are:

- Wolffsohn et al (2020):
  - Global (Sample=1136)
  - Asia (Sample=202)
  - Australasia (Sample=79)
  - Europe (Sample=717)
  - North America (Sample=147)
  - South America (Sample=173)
- Martínez-Perez et al (2022): Spain (Sample=173)
- Douglass et al (2020): Australia (Sample=239)
- Jorge & Jesus (2022): Portugal (Sample=189)

Regarding optometrists' level of concern about the increasing prevalence of myopia, in Portugal, 29.5% of respondents rated their level of concern at 8, while 24.3% rated it as 9 and 31.2% rated it at 10. Calculating the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of the entire sample, the value obtained is 8.5 $\pm$ 1. On average, optometrists' level of concern about this subject is similar in the various geographical areas:

- Wolffsohn et al (2020):
  - Asia (Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation =9.0  $\pm$  1.6)
  - Australasia (Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation =7.6  $\pm$  2.2)
  - Europe (Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation =8.0  $\pm$  2.2)
  - North America (Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation =7.9  $\pm$  2.1)
  - South America (Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation =8.5  $\pm$  2.2)
- Martínez-Perez et al (2022): Spain (Mean ± Standard Deviation =8.4±1.9)
- Jorge & Jesus (2022): Portugal (Mean ± Standard Deviation =8.4±1.9)

In Portugal, 14.3% of the respondents think that undercorrection can reduce myopia progression at rates of between 0% and 75%. In a study by Wolffsohn et al (2020), "the least effective perceived methods were single-vision distance under-correction and single-vision spectacles, as well as single-vision soft contact lenses and refractive surgery options". By continent, Australasian practitioners have the lowest perceived effectiveness of undercorrection on myopia progression control (mean  $\pm$ SD =0.2%  $\pm$  6.6%) and South American practitioners have the highest (mean  $\pm$ SD =14.9%  $\pm$  21.9%). In a study conducted by Martínez-Perez et al (2022), Spanish respondents said that undercorrection is 13.9% effective. In another study by Douglass et al (2020), Australian respondents did not refer undercorrection as an effective method to control myopia progression.

In Portugal, some respondents apply techniques to control myopia progression that are not supported by current scientific evidence, such as visual therapy (7.7%), undercorrection (7.7%) and low addition spectacles (23.8%). According to the study by Martínez-Perez et al (2022), in Spain, undercorrection is sometimes or always recommended by 30.8% of practitioners. According to Douglass et al (2020), in Australia, between 20% and 40% of practitioners recommend undercorrection with spectacles, between 60% and 80% recommend visual therapy and between 40% and 60% recommend "eye exercises" (e.g., massages and blinking).

**Conclusions:** The results of this study lead us to conclude that most Portuguese optometrists are aware of the myopia problem and interested in applying strategies to control myopia progression. This trend was also verified in the studies conducted by Wolffsohn et al (2020) and Martínez-Perez et al (2022). It seems that there is some illiteracy about the effects of strategies to control the progression of myopia in Portugal. It was also found that there are professionals applying techniques to control myopia progression that are not supported by current scientific evidence in Portugal, such as visual therapy, undercorrection and low addition spectacles. The results demonstrate the importance of strengthening the training of Portuguese optometrists in this area.

#### References

[1] A. Douglass, P. R. Keller, M. He, and L. E. Downie, "Knowledge, perspectives and clinical practices of Australian optometrists in relation to childhood myopia" in *Clin Exp Optom*, vol. 103, no. 2, pp. 155-166, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1111/CXO.12936.

[2] J. S. Wolffsohn *et al.*, "Global trends in myopia management attitudes and strategies in clinical practice - 2019 Update" in *Cont Lens Anterior Eye*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 9-17, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.CLAE.2019.11.002.

[3] S. McCrann, I. Flitcroft, and J. Loughman, "Is optometry ready for myopia control? Education and other barriers to the treatment of myopia" in *HRB Open Res*, vol. 2, p. 30, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.12688/HRBOPENRES.12954.2.

[4] C. Martínez-Pérez, C. Villa-Collar, J. Santodomingo-Rubido, and J. S. Wolffsohn, "Strategies and attitudes on the management of myopia in clinical practice in Spain" in *J Optom*, 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.OPTOM.2022.03.002.

### **Optical quality of aspheric intraocular lenses (IOLs)**

LAURA REMÓN MARTÍN

University of Zaragoza, Department of Applied Physics. Faculty of Sciences. Zaragoza

**Aim:** To evaluate and compare the effect of misalignment and tilt on the optical performance of different aspheric intraocular lens (IOL) designs with standard cornea and with simulated corneas after myopic and hyperopic laser ablation surgery.

**Experimental method:** To design the aspheric IOLs and to evaluate the effect of misalignment and tilt on their optical performance, a numerical model of a pseudophakic eye was implemented with a commercial optical design software program (OSLO EDU Edition 2001-2012, Revision 6.6.0 – Lambda Research Corporation) and ray-tracing simulations were performed. The model was based on the Navarro schematic eye [1]. The cornea of the eye model has a refractive power of 42.16 diopters (D) and a spherical aberration (SA) of +0.141 µm for a 6.00 mm entrance pupil diameter. IOLs models with refractive power +20.00 D were designed with a refractive index n = 1.485 at the design wavelength  $\lambda 0 = 546$  nm. Lens A was an IOL with a negative SA to totally compensate the positive SA of the Navarro's cornea. In this last case, the total ocular SA is slightly positive (+0.069 µm). See more details of the parameters of IOL lenses used in simulations in reference [2].

Moreover, two types of refractive surgery were simulated, a myopic and a hyperopic refractive surgery, to simulate the different amounts of spherical corneal aberrations induced by laser ablation. The conic constants used in the post-surgery eye models were obtained from the postoperative corneal asphericity (Q) values presented in the study by Bottos et al. [3]. Corneal asphericity values used to simulate corneas after myopic and hyperopiclaser ablation surgery and SA calculated for a 6.00 mm entrance pupil were: Myopic (Q= +0.24 and SA= +0.734  $\mu$ m) and Hyperopic (Q= -0.56 and SA= -0.086  $\mu$ m). See more details on the procedure in the reference [4].

Once each IOL was designed, its optical performance was evaluated for each cornea (Navarro's eye model cornea and modified Navarro's eye model cornea) using OSLO optical design software for different alignment conditions. First, the IOLs were decentered horizontally from 0.00 mm (on axis) to 1.00 mm in 0.25 mm steps relative to the pupil center. Secondly, the optical IOLs axis was tilted relative to the corneal optical axis with the vertex in the pupil center (from 0.00 degree to 5.00 degrees in steps of 1.00 degree). For each misalignment and tilt, tangential and sagittal Modulation Transfer Function (MTF) at 100 cycles per degree for a 3.00 mm pupil diameter were calculated following the procedure described in ISO 11979-2 [5].

Results: Fig 1 shows on-axis MTFs and tangential and sagittal MTF results for misalignment (left column) and tilt (right column) for an IOL with a refractive power of +20.00 D. Regarding on-axis MTF, in Fig (left column) it can be seen that spherical IOLs clearly performed the worst, their MTF values being almost misalignment independent. Lens A on-axis MTFs are slightly higher than those of Lens B or Lens C. However, when the IOL was decentered, the amount of MTF degradation was strongly dependent on the IOL design. Lens A MTFs rapidly decay with misalignment and when decentered by 0.50 mm, its MTF value decays below 0.43. Lens B was scarcely sensitive to misalignment for all refractive powers, as even the MTF value increased with misalignment. Lens B MTF never decayed below 0.43 for any misalignment. Lens C offered better on-axis MTF values than Lens B, below 0.50 mm misalignment. However, when decentered by 0.75 mm, its MTF value fell below 0.43. Fig 1 (right column) shows MTF as a function of tilt. In this case, the MTF was less sensitive. The spherical IOL MTF was almost tilt independent. Fig 2 shows the average MTF values for Lenses A, B and C in the worst-case scenario (tilted 5.00 degrees and with a misalignment of 1.00 mm) with the three corneas, presenting a 3.00 mm pupil diameter. No average MTF above 0.43 is obtained with any considered cornea for any of the IOL designs. For all corneas, the average MTF values followed the same tendency. For the normal cornea (Fig 2A), the highest MTF value was obtained for Lens B, with 0.307 as the average MTF, followed by Lens C with an average MTF of 0.243. Lens A was the IOL with the lowest MTF with the normal cornea (0.182 as the average MTF). For the myopic and hyperopic corneas (Fig 2B and 2C), the highest MTF value was obtained for Lens B, while Lens A remained the IOL with the lowest MTF. With the myopic cornea, all lenses had their MTF values reduced. However, it is remarkable how Lens B MTF increased to a value of 0.386 with hyperopic corneas.



FIGURE 1. The MTF of the tested IOL as a function of decentration (left column) and tilt (right column) with a 3.00 mm pupil diameter and 100 cycles per degree. The tangential MTF (continuous line) and the sagittal MTF (dashed line) are shown. The horizontal dashed line represents the value of MTF 0.43 specified in the ISO 11979-2 [5].



FIGURE 2. MTF average values (average between tangential and sagittal) for each IOL design (Lens A, Lens B and Lens C with each cornea, in the worst-case scenario: 5 degrees of tilt and 1 mm of misalignment. Corneas are represented in rows: A) Normal, B) Myopic, C) Hyperopic.

**Discussion:** Aspherical IOLs are more sensitive than spherical IOLs to misalignment or tilt, depending on their SA correction. The optical degradation caused by IOL misalignment had a greater effect on IOL designs with a higher amount of negative spherical aberration. In contrast, the effect of tilt on optical performance was less sensitive to the IOL design. Evaluated by means of the MTF, optical quality is dependent on the amount of SA correction of the IOLs for every studied cornea. The results obtained suggest that if the alignment cannot be guaranteed, aberration-free IOLs may be the best option for a specific patient to provide acceptable imaging, even with some misalignment and tilt.

#### References

[1] Navarro R, Santamaría J, Bescós J. "Accommodation-dependent model of the human eye with aspherics" in *J Opt Soc Am A*. 1985; 2(8):1273-81.

[2] Pérez-Gracia J, Varea A, Ares J, Vallés JA, Remón L. (2020) "Evaluation of the optical performance for aspheric intraocular lenses in relation with tilt and decenter errors" in *PLoS ONE* 15 (5): e0232546.

[3] Bottos KM, Leite MT, Aventura-Isidro M, Bernabeko J, Wongpitoonpiya N, Ong-Camara NH, et al. "Corneal asphericity and spherical aberration after refractive surgery" in *J Cataract Refract Surg.* 2011; 37 (6):1109-1115.

[4] Pérez-Gracia J, Ávila FJ, Ares J, Vallés JA, Remón L (2020) "Misalignment and tilt effect on aspheric intraocular lens designs after a corneal refractive surgery" in *PLoS ONE* 15(12): e0243740.

[5] ISO 11979-2, "Optical implants-intraocular lenses. Part 2: optical properties and test methods", International Organization for Standardization (2014).

#### Acknowledgments

L. Remón acknowledges the Spanish Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities (Grant DPI2017-84047-R, Grant PID2020-114311RA-I00); Government of Aragon (Grant E44-20R, Grant T24-20R).

L. Remón acknowledges AJL Ophthalmic S.A. (Spain) for manufacturing the proof-of-concept IOLs used in this study.

L. Remón acknowledges the rest of the authors of references 2 and 4 [JPG, AV, JA, JAV, FJA].

### **Research collaboration**

VICTORIA DE JUAN JESÚS MARÍN XAVIER PUIG Alcon Healthcare, Barcelona, Spain

**Aim:** The aim of this guest talk is to show the different ways that Alcon and researchers in visual health collaborate.

**Summary:** Alcon's mission is to help people to improve their eye health. With that goal in mind, the Medical Affairs Department is the company's point of connection with researchers in visual health.

The Medical Advisor acts as a scientific advisor on Alcon products. His job is to help researchers to answer questions about purely scientific issues related to research projects. The Medical Advisor is also the point of contact between the researcher and Alcon to improve collaboration between both parties.

One of the problems that researchers often encounter is the lack of resources to carry out their ideas and publish the study they have designed in a scientific journal as the final result. The presentation will show how Alcon helps researchers to achieve their goals through participation in multi-center clinical trials, grant applications to carry out research-initiated studies or grants for publishing scientific results.

Collaboration between researchers and Alcon can undoubtedly be beneficial to both parties. They also share a very important common end goal: the development of better treatments, products and devices that help people to have better visual health.
# New multi-diagnostic platforms and their application in optometric practice

DIANA BRAVO Optician-Optometrist Product and Marketing Manager Visionix Iberia

**Aim:** This presentation explains the main features and clinical applications of the Visionix vx650 device.

**Main content:** VX650 is Visionix's innovative multi-diagnostic platform for the detection and complete monitoring of the main ocular pathologies. It combines topography, tonometry, pachymetry, aberrometry and retinography, as well as all the essential technologies to monitor anterior and posterior poles in a single device.

The optician-optometrist will be able to perform the following operations with this instrument in less than 90 seconds:

- Detection, evaluation and control of keratoconus
- Adaptation of special contact lenses
- Objective refraction according to day and night vision needs
- Cataract detection, assessment and monitoring
- Fundus analysis with non-mydriatic retinography
- Measurement of compensated intraocular pressure by means of pachymetry
- Evaluation of dry eye syndrome

The VX650 can be connected to Nexus, our Visionix digital health platform. Designed to connect all eye care professionals, even remotely, it brings eye care closer to patients, bridging barriers of time and space.

About Visionix: Based in France, Visionix is a leading company in the field of eye care. The company develops, manufactures and markets ophthalmic equipment ranging from refraction and multimodal diagnostics to finishing equipment. The Visionix brand comprises the former Luneau, Briot (edging), Weco (edging), Visionix (diagnostics and refraction), Next Sight (fundus camera and telemedicine solutions) and Optovue (high-speed OCT and OCTA technology) brands. Figure device and main screen [1-2].



FIGURE 1. vx650 device.



FIGURE 2. Main screen.

**Discussion:** This device provides several clinical applications that add value to optometry practices, in addition to saving time and space. It is also a very important tool for communication with the patient.

# Indo Miopía

#### SARA FONT ARMADANS

Indo Optical S.L.U. Avda. Alcalde Barnils, 72 08174 Sant Cugat del Vallés. Barcelona (Spain)

**Aim:** Myopia is widely recognised as a significant public health problem, proven to be a major cause of vision loss, as well as a risk factor for various other serious eye conditions.[1] Myopia is one the most common refractive errors currently affecting 20% of children.[2] Myopia prevalence is increasing, with research suggesting that 52% of the global population will be myopic by 2050.[3]

Indo's goal is to provide a solution that allows the optician to offer the services and care needed during different stages of the Myopia process.

**Experimental Method:** Myopia is a refractive error which causes light rays entering the eye parallel to the optical axis to focus in front of the retina when ocular accommodation is relaxed, causing distant objects to appear blurred. Until now, the refractive error of myopia has usually been corrected with a standard single-vision minus lens. These lenses create a divergence of light, enabling the image to form on the central retina which, in turn, makes the image appear clearly.

However, when we correct myopia with a standard single-vision lens, light is brought to focus above the central retina, yet the clear image is peripherally projected behind the retina, thus generating peripheral hyperopic defocus. The peripheral defocus created by the lens induces axial elongation in an attempt to focus the image, thus having a counterproductive effect on myopia progression.

The various scientific studies have shown that the population most at risk of myopia progression shows an asymmetry between the nasal and temporal regions of the retina.

**Results:** In relation to retinal profiles, the results show a significant difference in nasal retinal steepness for progressing myopes. The conclusion is that greater nasal retinal steepness is linked to a progressive increase of myopia.

The Superkid Miofocal lens is a peripheral defocus lens with a horizontally asymmetrical design. It has a central vision zone, which provides stable refraction around the optical centre, while an outer zone creates peripheral progression along the horizontal meridian (Figure 1).

The Superkid Miofocal lens has been clinically tested in a trial conducted over 5 years with Caucasian children. These long-term studies have shown that the Superkid Miofocal lens reduces the progression of myopia by 40%.



#### Mapa de Potencia de Superkid Miofocal

FIGURE 1. Superkid monofocal design.

**Discussion:** This optical design allows light to adapt perfectly to the retina's characteristics. As shown in Figure 1, light entering the optical centre of the lens is focused correctly on the retina, as occurs with a standard lens. However, light entering through the nasal zone of the lens focuses on the temporal hemifield, while light coming through the temporal zone, which is more powerful, focuses on the nasal zone, in line with the asymmetrical needs of the myopic eye.

### References

[1] Defining and Classifying Myopia Report (2019.) The international Myopia Institute 2019. Founded by BHVI.

[2] Radiografía de la miopía infantil en España (2016-2020.) Universidad Europea de Madrid.

[3] Holden BA, Fricke TR, Wilson DA, Jong M, Naidoo KS, et al. Global prevalence of myopia and high myopia and temporal trends from 2000 through 2050. Ophthalmology. 2016; 123:1036-42.

# Ocular surface evaluations for the detection of dry eye

#### ELENA MARTÍNEZ-PLAZA

Group of Optics and Visual Perception, Department of Optics, Pharmacology and Anatomy, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain University of Valladolid, Valladolid, Spain

#### AINHOA MOLINA-MARTÍN

Group of Optics and Visual Perception, Department of Optics, Pharmacology and Anatomy, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain

Dry eye is a multifactorial disease of the ocular surface characterized by a loss of homeostasis of the tear film and accompanied by ocular symptoms, in which tear film instability and hyperosmolarity, ocular surface inflammation and damage and neurosensory abnormalities play etiological roles. Considering its great prevalence in the adult population, it is of great interest that optometrists known how to perform an ocular surface evaluation to detect abnormalities of the ocular surface that could be treated by specialists. Consequently, this workshop aims to detail the procedure of an ocular surface test designed to evaluate dry eye in clinical practice. Particularly, it will address an assessment of the corneal and conjunctiva staining, tear break-up time, tear production by Schirmer test, tear osmolarity using the Tearlab device and an assessment of dry eye symptoms with the Ocular Surface Disease Index (OSDI) questionnaire.

# 1 TALKS

# **1.1. ANTERIOR SEGMENT**

## Anterior ocular segment analysis and correlation between biometric parameters involved in refractive surgery

PAULA GARCÍA BALAGUER DANIEL MONSÁLVEZ ROMÍN

Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, Faculty of Physics, University of Valencia. Carrer del Dr. Moliner, 50 46100 Burjassot, Valencia

**Aim:** To establish correlations between biometric parameters that integrate the anterior ocular segment and are involved in processes such as refractive or cataract surgery, as considering the morphologic condition of the parameters helps clinics to establish inclusion criteria and guarantee safe surgery for patients.

**Experimental method**: Exclusion criteria included previous ocular surgery, having used contact lenses within less than 24 hours and being a minor or above 40 years old. Accepted patients were required to sign an informed consent form. Three measurements were taken for each patient using VISIONIX VX-130 (Visionix, Pont-de-l'Arche, France), including: autorefractometry (wave front analysis), corneal topography, anterior segment biometry by Scheimpflug sweep and non-invasive intraocular pression measurement.

**Results:** This study included 55 eyes (55 patients). Firstly, correlations between anterior segment parameters without any group differentiation were analyzed, resulting in a high negative correlation between spherical equivalent and anterior chamber depth (ACD) (p=0.003) and white-to-white (WTW) (p=0.010); while there were positive correlations with angle kappa (p=0.025) and eccentricity (p=0.012), as well as elevated positive correlations between keratometry and iridocorneal angles (p=0.034) and negative ones with WTW (p<0.001). There were also positive correlations between central corneal thickness (CCT) and intraocular pressure (PIO) (p=0.021). There were negative correlations between ACD

and angle kappa (p=<0.001), as well as with eccentricity (p=0.008) where found, in addition to positive ones with temporal/nasal iridocorneal angles (p=<0.001) and WTW (p=<0.001). Angle kappa is negatively correlated with temporal/nasal displacement (p=<0.001) and temporal/nasal iridocorneal angles (p=<0.001). Likewise, a positive correlation between both nasal/temporal iridocorneal angles was found (p=<0.001) and a negative one was detected with eccentricity (p=0.009). Afterwards, data was divided in accordance with spherical equivalents, resulting in four groups: hyperopia (1), low myopia (2), moderate myopia (3) and high myopia (4). There were significant statistical differences between groups regarding ACD (p=0.010) and WTW (p=0.013). Finally, it was demonstrated that the biggest differences between the parameters and the spherical equivalent were found within the hyperopia (1) and high myopia group (4), suggesting that whenever the value of the spherical equivalent is more negative (myopic tendency), the anterior ocular segment structures will be larger in size.



FIGURE 1. Box and whisker plot between spherical equivalent and ACD/WTW.

**Discussion:** Anterior ocular segment parameters are significantly correlated between them, as well as with the spherical equivalent. There are morphologically related structures with outcomes like a strong positive correlation between ACD and both nasal/temporal iridocorneal angles. There was also a demonstrated tendency for the size of the anterior ocular segment parameters to be larger as the spherical equivalent was more negative, as can be seen in Figure 1, where the ACD and WTW were bigger in eyes with a more myopic refractive value.

Beyond these outcomes, there is a parameter that should be highlighted due to its importance when performing ocular surgery, especially refractive surgery with laser ablation, where the surgeon must adjust the centration of the laser in relation to this parameter: angle kappa. It was found to be positively correlated with spherical equivalent, ACD, displacement and iridocorneal angles, suggesting a tendency for hyperopic eyes to have larger angles kappa, a characteristic that complicates the procedure. Moreover, angle kappa used to be displaced temporally when its value was higher.

The discoveries of this study are related to other researchers' results. However, complementary studies using diverse clinical devices should be conducted to establish agreement relations and repeatability between instruments.

## References

[1] Moshinfar M, Hoggan RN, Muthappan V. Angle Kappa and its importance in refractive surgery. Oman J Ophthalmol. 2013 Sep;6(3):151-8. doi: 10.4103/0974-620X.122268.

# Considerations when defining keratoconus progression: the role of previous knowledge

#### MARTA JIMÉNEZ-GARCÍA

Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza, Spain Department of Ophthalmology, Antwerp University Hospital (UZA), Belgium Department of Medicine and Health Science, University of Antwerp, Belgium

#### JOS ROZEMA

Department of Ophthalmology, Antwerp University Hospital (UZA), Belgium Department of Medicine and Health Science, University of Antwerp, Belgium

Aim: Corneal crosslinking (CXL) is major breakthrough in keratoconus (KC) management. However, there has also been a debate about its efficiency. Cochrane reviews have deemed its evidence limited, and there is no consensus on which KC need CXL, nor on how to establish progression [1-2]. This is complicated further by increased noise in KC measurements. This study aimed to verify the performance of diverse progression criteria, as well as to what extent the results match previous clinical knowledge on keratoconus evolution.

**Experimental method:** Retrospective longitudinal study with 743 KC patients measured with Pentacam. Habitual progression criteria were analyzed based on (combinations of) maximum keratometry (KMAX), anterior corneal astigmatism (AF) and minimum pachymetry (PMIN) or were based on the ABCD Progression Display. For each progression criterion and cut-off, we calculated the eyes

flagged as progressive at some point (RPROG), the individual longitudinal consistency CIND (i.e., the percentage of examinations after the first detection of progression that would be still considered progressive) and the population consistency CPOP (the percentage of eyes with CIND > 66%). Finally, we studied more monotonic and consistent variables [3] such as front steep keratometry (K2F), keratometry in a 3 mm area around KMAX (KZONAL3mm) and the average radius of the back surface (RmB).



FIGURE 1. Progression surface. Color represents the rate of progressive eyes ( $R_{PROG}$ ) and the surface represents the longitudinal population consistency ( $C_{POP}$ ).

**Results:** Using a single criterion (e.g.,  $\Delta$ KMAX >1D) led to rather high values of RPROG, unless the cut-off was well over repeatability. When two criteria were required, (KMAX AND AF), this led to worse CPOP and higher variability than (KMAX AND PMIN); alternative criteria (KZONAL3mm AND RmB and K2F AND RmB) obtained the best CPOP and the lowest variability (Figure 1,

p < 0.0001). ABCD, as defined by its authors, obtained a very high RPROG of 74.2%. Using wider 95% confidence intervals (95CI) and requiring two of ABC over the 95CI reduced RPROG to a more realistic 27.9%.

**Discussion:** Clinical observation of visual acuity loss, contact lens parameters changing [4-5] the incidence of scarring and corneal transplants suggest that 20-35% of KC are progressive. These clinical RPROG observations should be considered when defining KC progression to avoid overtreatment. By using combinations of alternative variables and wider 95CI for ABC, the RPROG can be brought closer to clinical observation. Ffurthermore, these approaches obtained better longitudinal consistency than current definitions.

## References

[1] Sykakis E, Karim R, Evans JR, Bunce C, Amissah-Arthur KN, Patwary S, et al. "Corneal collagen cross-linking for treating keratoconus" in *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*. 2015 Mar 24; (3):Art. No.: CD010621.

[2] Ng SM, Hawkins BS, Kuo IC. "Transepithelial Versus Epithelium-Off Corneal Crosslinking for Progressive Keratoconus: Findings from a Cochrane Systematic Review" in *Am* 7 *Ophthalmol.* 2021 Sep; 229(Cxl):274-87.

[3] Jiménez-García M, Kreps EO, Ní Dhubhghaill S, Koppen C, Rozema JJ. "Determining the Most Suitable Tomography-Based Parameters to Describe Progression in Keratoconus" in *Eye Contact Lens Sci Clin Pract.* 2021 Sep 25; 47(9):486-93.

[4] McMahon TT, Edrington TB, Szczotka-Flynn L, Olafsson HE, Davis LJ, Schechtman KB, et al. "Longitudinal changes in corneal curvature in keratoconus" in *Cornea*. 2006; 25(3):296-305.

[5] Bilgin LK, Yilmaz Ş, Araz B, Yüksel SB, Sezen T. "30 years of contact lens prescribing for keratoconic patients in Turkey" in *Contact Lens Anterior Eye*. 2009; 32(1):16-21.

## Development of a new experimental formula for the approximation of total corneal power in post-LASIK patients

JOSE ALBERTO GARCÍA PÁRRIZAS TIMOTEO GONZÁLEZ CRUCES ALBERTO RUIZ PORRAS ANTONIO CANO ORTIZ Department of Optometry and Ophthalmology, La Arruzafa Hospital, Cordoba, Spain

**Aim:** The curvature of the posterior corneal surface was unknown until the development of anterior segment optical coherence tomographs. Because of this, keratometers and videokeratometers identified a physiological relationship between the anterior and posterior corneal surface of 1.23 (a/p ratio = 88%) to calculate total corneal power (TCP). This ratio resulted in what is called the keratometric refractive index (1.3375). However, in patients undergoing corneal refractive surgery, an error is made in keratometric measurements due to this mistaken assumption of ratios. Several authors have published formulas to try to predict TCP in post-LASIK patients [1-3]. The aim of this study is to develop a novel empirical formula for the prediction of TCP in post-LASIK patients, with only data from the anterior corneal surface.

**Experimental method:** Data from 100 post-LASIK eyes belonging to 64 patients were reported for the development of the empirical formula. Through the SimK formula used by keratometers to calculate corneal refractive power (formula 1), we obtain the expression allowing us to calculate the post-LASIK refractive index (n') for each case (formula 2). The True Net Power (TNP) and the anterior corneal radius were measured one month after surgery using Pentacam® tomograph (OCULUS, Wetzlar, Germany).

$\delta = \frac{(n-1)}{r}$	n'= (δ'.r')+1		
(formula 1)	(formula 2)		

(n'= post-LASIK refractive index;  $\delta$ '= true net power (pentacam); r'= post-LASIK anterior corneal surface radio).

Due to high correlation between the preoperative spherical equivalent and n' variables, a linear regression analysis was performed to predict n' based on preoperative data (figure 1).

In this way, knowing the predictor formula of the post-LASIK refraction index (n'), we can make an approximation of the total power in post-LASIK patients with only data from the anterior cornea surface using the following expression:

$$\delta = \frac{(0.3363 - 0.0023 \text{EE})}{\text{r}}$$

( $\delta$ = Post-LASIK total corneal power; EE= Preoperative spherical equivalent; r: post-LASIK anterior corneal radius).

To validate this empirical formula, it was compared with Maloney's method [1], which has been widely accepted by clinicians and the scientific community.

**Results:** To compare both formulas, we made Bland-Altman graphs for each. This analysis gives us the information of the prediction error using pentacam TNP as the standard reference. The average prediction error for our new model was 0.02±0.36 D (95% CI: -0.68 and 0.72 D) versus 0.36±0.46 D (95% CI:-0.54 and 1.25 D) generated using Maloney's method [1]. The average TCP was 39.94±2.11 D, 39.60±2.03 D and 39.96±2.15 D for the new experimental formula, Maloney's method and Pentacam TNP, respectively, p<0.01 (ANOVA).



FIGURE 1. Linear regression. Refractive index post-LASIK (y-axis) versus preoperative spherical equivalent (x-axis) (diopters).

**Discussion:** Other published research has shown an expression similar to ours for the approximation to the postoperative refractive index [4]. However, no final prediction method for postoperative keratometry has been developed. The empirical formula developed by the authors can be used for the approximation of

total keratometry in post-LASIK patients only by knowing parameters of the anterior corneal surface.

## References

[1] Maloney RK. "Formula for determining corneal refractive power" in *J Cata-ract Refract Surg.* 2009; 35(2):211-212.

[2] Shammas HJ, Shammas MC, Garabet A, Kim JH, Shammas A, Labree L. "Correcting the corneal power measurements for intraocular lens power calculations after myopic laser in situ keratomileusis" in *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2003; 136(3):426-432.

[3] Sandoval HP, Serels C, Potvin R, Solomon KD. "Cataract surgery after myopic laser in situ keratomileusis: objective analysis to determine best formula and keratometry to use" in *J Cataract Refract Surg* [Internet]. 2021 Apr; 47(4): 465-70.

[4] Savini G, Barboni P, Zanini M. "Correlation Between Attempted Correction and Keratometric Refractive Index of the Cornea After Myopic Excimer Laser Surgery" in *J Refract Surg* [Internet]. 2007 May; 23(5):461-6.

## Sectorial corneal asphericity in keratoconus: before and after intrastromal corneal segment ring implantation

TIMOTEO GONZÁLEZ CRUCES ALBERTO RUIZ PORRAS JOSE ALBERTO GARCÍA PÁRRIZAS ANTONIO CANO ORTIZ Department of Optometry and Ophthalmology, La Arruzafa Hospital, Cordoba, Spain

**Aim:** The main objective of this study is to evaluate sectoral corneal asphericity in keratoconus eyes before and after the implantation of intrastromal segments.

**Method:** A retrospective observational study was conducted in which 50 keratoconus eyes were involved. The inclusion criteria were grade I to III keratoconus according to pentacam topographic keratoconus classification (TKC scale), Kmax <60 D and preoperative corrected distance visual acuity > 0.15 logMAR. Different corneal parameters were evaluated using pentacam AXL Pentacam® (OCULUS, Wetzlar, Germany) before surgery and three months after surgery. The sectorial corneal asphericity measured in the 4 quadrants around 6 mm, the total average asphericity, the simK and the vertical coma were all evaluated. P-values lower than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.





FIGURE 1. Box and whisker diagram: Sectorial corneal asphericity.

**Results:** No statistically significant differences were found in preoperative sectorial asphericity between the four hemimeridians:  $-0.64 \pm 0.87$  nasal hemimeridian,  $-0.84 \pm 0.71$  temporal,  $-0.72 \pm 0.85$  inferior and  $-0.69 \pm 1.06$  superior (p = 0.09). After surgery, these parameters were  $-0.11 \pm 0.76$ ,  $-0.73 \pm 0.73$ ,  $-0.79 \pm 0.82$  and  $-0.37 \pm 0.91$ , respectively (p <0.001). The post-oc Bonferroni test showed differences between the inferior-temporal hemimeridians and the superior-nasal hemimeridians. At the same time, there was only a change in asphericity between the pre and post values for the upper (p= 0.006) and nasal hemimeridians (p <0.001). Vertical coma aberration decreased from  $-2.53 \pm 0.97$  preoperative to  $-1.53 \pm 0.81$  postoperative (p<0.001). The mean keratometry was flattened from  $48.64 \pm 8.05$  to  $45.75 \pm 2.51$ , respectively (p=0.01).

**Discussion:** Corneal hyperprolaticity in patients with KC decreased significantly after corneal segment implantation [1]. However, during the present study it was observed that these changes in mean corneal asphericity occurred only in the nasal and upper meridians, while no significant differences were found in the inferior-temporal sectors. According to the results obtained in the present study, we obtained that segment implantation tends to regularize the anterior corneal surface, producing a central flattening and a peripheral steepening in the upper-nasal area.

## Reference

[1] Utine, C. A., Ayhan, Z., & Durmaz Engin, C. (2018). "Effect of intracorneal ring segment implantation on corneal asphericity" in *International Journal of Ophthalmology*, 11(8), 1303-1307.

# **1.2. CONTACT LENSES**

## Decrease of myopic progression rate by orthokeratology: three-year results of a retrospective study

#### MATTEO PAGLIA

Institute of Research and Studies in Optics and Optometry (IRSOO)

#### ALESSANDRO FOSSETTI

Institute of Research and Studies in Optics and Optometry (IRSOO) University of Florence

CHARLES DI BENEDETTO University of Florence

**Aim**: To study the effectiveness of overnight orthokeratology in a group of young myopic subjects over a three-year period. This retrospective study compared data from clinical records of 41 myopic children fitted with overnight orthokeratology (OK group) and 41 myopic subjects treated with single-vision glasses (control, C group).

**Experimental method**: The clinical records were acquired in two different private optometric clinics, one for the OK group and the second for the C group. The inclusion criteria for treated subjects were those indicated by IMI [1]. The subjective refraction was carried out without cycloplegia by two different optometrists, one for the OK group and the other for the C group. The C group was matched according to ethnicity, age and refractive error with the OK group.

**Results**: The mean spherical baseline equivalent was  $-2.85 \pm 1.55$  and  $-2.51 \pm 1.61$ , for the OK and C group, respectively. The follow-up data was available for two years for all 41 subjects of each group and for three years for 30 subjects in the experimental group vs 25 in the C group. The data of the three years follow-up were analyzed. The increase in myopia at 3 years was  $-0.48 \pm 0.43$  D for the OK group and -1.52 D  $\pm 0.90$  D (p < 0.01) for the C group. The comparison

between the two groups is summarized in Figure 1. The Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used because of the non-normal distribution of some of the variables. The differences found in the myopia progression rates between the two groups (OK vs C) for each year were: -0.15 vs -0.47 (p<0.01) in the first year, -0.13 vs -0.47 (p<0.01) in the second year and -0.19 vs -0.39 (p<0.01) in third year). Children treated with OK lenses reported 68% less myopic progression compared to children corrected with single vision ophthalmic lenses after three years. There were no serious complications or adverse events in the three years of the study.



FIGURE 1. Myopization progress during the three-year follow-up.

**Conclusion:** The results of this retrospective study confirm that overnight OK is a reliable way to slow down myopic progression, compared to single-vision glasses. The rate of the reduction of the myopic progression for the OK group is in line with others published in the literature [2-6]. No adverse events caused subjects to stop wearing the lenses or drop out. Overnight orthokeratology can be proposed as a myopia correction technique and its spread among practitioners could help to contain the increasing prevalence of this refractive error.

### References

[1] J. S. Wolffsohn, P. S. Kollbaum and D. A. B. et. al, "IMI - Clinical Myopia Control Trials and Instrumentation Report," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.18-25955.

[2] P. Cho, S. W. Cheung and M. Edwards, "The longitudinal orthokeratology research in children (LORIC) in Hong Kong: a pilot study on refractive changes and myopic control" in *Curr Eye Res*, 2005 Jan.

[3] J. J. Walline, L. A. Jones and L. T. Sinnott, "Corneal reshaping and myopia progression" in *Ophthalmol.*, 2009 Sep.

[4] T. Kakita, T. Hiraoka and T. Oshika, "Influence of overnight orthokeratology on axial elongation in childhood myopia" in *Ophthalmol Vis Sci.*, 2011 Apr.

[6] J. Santodomingo-Rubido, C. Villa-Collar, B. Gilmartin e R. Gutiérrez-Ortega, «Myopia control with orthokeratology contact lenses in Spain: refractive and biometric changes" in *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 2012 Jul.

[6] P. Cho e S.-W. Cheung, "Retardation of Myopia in Orthokeratology (ROMIO) Study: A 2-Year Randomized Clinical Trial" in *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci*, 2012.

## Evaluation of changes induced in the tear film due to computer use, contact lens wear and artificial tears using novel methods

JOSÉ VICENTE GARCÍA-MARQUÉS CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES SANTIAGO GARCÍA-LÁZARO ALEJANDRO CERVIÑO EXPÓSITO Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

**Aim:** There is a need to develop new metrics to assess the tear film and the ocular surface objectively and non-invasively [1]. This study aims to evaluate the effects of computer use, contact lens wear and artificial tears on recently developed metrics to assess tear film dynamics and the lipid layer [2, 3].

**Experimental method:** Forty healthy subjects (Mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation: 23.2  $\pm$  2.6 years) were enrolled in this study, which focused on 40 eyes. The tear film was assessed under different conditions. Baseline measurements were taken in the first visit and participants performed a reading task on a laptop computer for 20 minutes. After the 20-minute reading task, measurements were repeated. After the visit, contact lenses (Dailies Total One®, Alcon Laboratories Inc. Fort Worth TX, USA) were fitted and the subjects were instruct-

ed to put in the contact lenses 1 hour before the second visit. In the second visit, measurements were repeated (with the contact lenses) and participants were instructed to read on the computer for 20 minutes while wearing the contact lenses. One drop of Systane® Ultra (Alcon SL, Geneva, Switzerland) single-dose artificial tears were instilled on each eye 2 minutes before doing the reading. After the reading task, the tear film was assessed again. New metrics included the assessment of tear film dynamics through the measurement of the speed of tear film particles post-blink and the objective evaluation of lipid layer thickness by measuring the intensity of the reflected Placido disk onto the tear film and higher intensity of the reflected Placido disk is related to a thicker tear film lipid layer [2, 3].



FIGURE 1. Top: Histogram of Placido disk pixel intensity distribution in one frame. In the histogram, the "x" axis represents the grey level intensities (0-255), while the "y" axis shows the number of pixels. Bottom: Particles spread after blinking in one frame. Light particles spread over the cornea (blue circles).

**Results:** After computer use, lower values were obtained in metrics related to the intensity of the Placido disk pattern (p<0.001) and in metrics related to particle speed (p<0.030). Moreover, when the contact lens was fitted, lower values were found for particle speed (p<0.019), but no differences were found in the intensity of the Placido disk (p>0.05). Mixed ANOVA showed that artificial tears help ameliorate the effects of computer use on metrics related to particle speed post-blink and the intensity of the Placido disk (p<0.028).

**Discussion:** Computer use and contact lens wear worsened lipid layer thickness and tear film dynamics. Remarkably, the speed of particles can be influenced by the surface on which they move, causing an alteration in tear film dynamics. Moreover, artificial tears help to ameliorate the deterioration of these parameters after reading on a computer. This study further helps to validate these novel methods as a reliable tool to quickly, non-invasively and objectively assess changes in the tear film induced by different conditions.

## References

[1] Wolffsohn J, Arita R, Chalmers R, Djalilian A, Dogru M, Dumbleton K, Gupta P, Karpecki P, Lazreg S, Pult H, Sullivan B, Tomlinson A, Tong L, Villani E, Yoon K, Jones L, Craig J. "TFOS DEWS II Diagnostic Methodology Report" in *The Ocul Surf*, 2017; 15(3):539-574.

[2] García-Marqués JV, Talens-Estarelles C, García-Lázaro S, Cerviño A. "Validation of a new objective method to assess lipid layer thickness without the need of an interferometer" in *Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*, 2021; 260(2):655-676.

[3] García-Marqués JV, Talens-Estarelles C, Martínez-Albert N, García-Lázaro S, Cerviño A. "An Emerging Method to Assess Tear Film Spread and Dynamics as Possible Tear Film Homeostasis Markers" in *Curr Eye Res*, 2021; 46(9):1291-8.

# Tear film dynamics with eyelid and contact lens motion for full blinks and half blinks

DARSHAN RAMASUBRAMANIAN JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO JOSÉ LUIS HERNÁNDEZ VERDEJO DAVID MADRID COSTA Optics and Optometry Faculty, UCM, Spain. darshram@ucm.es

**Aim:** The tear film is important in eye optics due to its influence on dry eye, contact lens fit, etc. A mathematical model is used to assess the blinking of eyelids by coupling partial differential equations for tear film thickness to contact lens motion. This article aims to study tear film dynamics when using an experimental real motion of the eyelid and the influence of contact lens motion on the eye in real patient situations.

**Experimental method:** The dynamics of the tear were simulated with a precorneal tear film model with blinking and contact lens motion. The model uses the standard parameters given in [1], changing the values of the meniscus (experimental values) and the thickness of the contact lens. The eye meniscus height can be measured with Optical Coherence Tomography (OCT) for different patients. The motion of the upper lid during blinking was defined as a sinusoidal function as given in [2], where a fraction parameter is used to represent the difference between half blinks and full blinks. The model was developed with MATLAB software and toolboxes [3].

**Results:** The principal result given by the model is the thickness between the tear film and the contact lens surface (pre-lens with lens) and the total thickness of the tear film without the contact lens (pre-corneal). The difference between the pre-corneal (PCTF) and pre-lens tear film (PLTF) characterizes the dragging of the tear fluid. Figure 1 shows the simulation of the mathematical model of tear film thickness for an eye fully open after the blink (160 ms) for a sinusoidal eyelid and contact lens motion for full blinks (Figure 1 center) and half blinks (Figure 1 down). The thickness of the pre-lens tear film is higher than the pre-corneal tear film in full blinks, except very close to the lower lid. For a half blink, we see that tear film thickness for a pre-lens tear film is lower at the lower lid.

**Discussion:** The main difference between pre-corneal tear film and pre-lens tear film is how the contact lens moves the tear fluid in the direction of motion



FIGURE 1. Up: Schematic diagram of the precorneal tear film, pre-lens tear film and space coordinates; Center: Tear film thickness at 160 ms after blinking for a full blink; Down: Tear film thickness at 160 ms after blinking for a half blink. Inside center and down images show a zoomed-in version.

and we observe the shift away from the eyelids in the upper lid portion of the tear film thickness, for both full blinks and half blinks. Half blinks improve the

thickness of the pre-lens tear film in the upper portion of the eye while decreasing it in the lower part, compared to full blinks. This could change the stability of the tear film affecting the patient's comfort of wearing the contact lens in situations with a high number of partial blinks (viewing electronic screens such as computers, mobiles, etc.). Moreover, the model permits an assessment of the dynamics of tear films for different patients because tear thickness curves are given as a function of time, which could help in the contact lens fitting process. Tear film dynamics for contact lens wearers could further be explored by modifying certain dynamics, such as complex contact lens motion.

### References

[1] Daniel M. Anderson, Maria Corsaro, Jonathan Horton, Tim Reid & Padmanabhan Seshaiyer. "Tear Film Dynamics with blinking and contact lens motion" in *Math Med Biol*, 2021, Aug 14; 38(3):355-395.

[2] RJ Braun & PE King-Smith. "Model Problems for the tear film in a blink cycle: single-equation models" in *J. Fluid Mech*, 2007; 586: 465-490.

[3] The MathWorks, Inc. MATLAB. Version 2021b, The MathWorks, Inc., 2021. Computer Software. https://www.mathworks.com/.

# 1.3. INTRAOCULAR LENSES AND REFRACTIVE SURGERY

## Comparison of the estimated effective lens position and power lens with SRK/T, Hoffer Q, Holladay I and Haigis formulas in normal eyes

DIANA GARGALLO YEBRA LAURA REMÓN MARTÍN University of Zaragoza

FRANCISCO JAVIER CASTRO ALONSO Alcañiz Hospital

JORGE ARES GARCÍA IVAN PEREZ University of Zaragoza

**Aim:** The purpose of this study is to compare the estimated effective lens position (ELP) and the spherical power of intraocular lenses (PIOL) calculated with SRK/T, Hoffer Q, Holladay I and Haigis formulas and to compare the ELP with respect to the real anatomical position of postoperative lens (ALP).

**Experimental method:** This retrospective, observational study consisted of 30 eyes belonging to 30 patients who had already undergone uneventful phacoemulsification with IOL implantation by a single surgeon (FJCA) at Hospital Alcañiz. Inclusion criteria were the availability of preoperative ocular biometry measurements from Lenstar LS900 (Haag-Streit AG, Koenitz, Switzerland) and suitable for Alcon Clareon monofocal IOL (A-constant=119.1). Exclusion criteria were corneal astigmatism of over 2.00 diopters, previous ocular surgery, ocular trauma and the impossibility of IOL detection through the Lenstar optical biometer. Before surgery, all patients underwent a comprehensive preoperative examination that included 5 biometry measurements with Lenstar to know central corneal thickness (CCT), anterior corneal keratometry

(K), anterior chamber depth (ACD) and axial length (AL). The spherical power of the lens was calculated using the Barret Universal II to achieve emmetropia.

Patients were evaluated at least 3-4 weeks after surgery. The Lenstar biometry was performed postoperatively to determine the final position of the lens (ALP).

For data analysis, all the ocular parameters (biometry and keratometric data) of each patient were entered into a database developed by MATLAB (Mathworks Inc.) to calculate the mean values and standard deviations. Besides, the SRK/T, Hoffer Q, Holladay I and Haigis formulas were introduced to calculate  $P_{IOL}$  and ELP. Data analysis was performed by using R-Commander v.2-7. The normality of variables was evaluated via the Saphiro-Wilk test. The correlation between the values was evaluated with Pearson's test. The statistical significance was set at p<0.05.



FIGURE 1. Comparison of ELP predicted with the Hoffer Q, Holladay I, SRK/T and Haigis formulas and axial intraocular lens position (ALP) measured with optical biometer Lenstar. ELP: Effective lens position; ALP: Anatomical lens position.

**Results:** A total of 30 eyes belonging to 30 patients were included in this study (mean age 75±9.28 years). The mean ELP ± SD predicted by Hoffer Q was 5.49 ±0.22 mm. With Holladay I it was  $5.56\pm0.46$  mm, with SRK/T it was  $5.54\pm0.31$ mm, with Haigis it was  $5.17 \pm 0.24$  mm and with ALP it was  $4.51\pm0.23$ mm (see Figure 1). The highest Pearson's correlation (cor) was between ELP, estimated by Hoffer Q and ELP by Haigis cor=0.910 (p-value<0.05). The minimum correlation is between ELP-SRK/T and ELP-Haigis cor=0.441(p=0.016). The ELP estimated by Haigis showed the highest correlation with ALP with a cor=0.331 (p=0.100), closely followed by the ELP, estimated by SRK/T cor=0.309 (p=0.094). The mean PIOL calculated with Hoffer was  $21.59 \pm 2.34$  D. With Holladay I it was  $21.49 \pm 2.29$  D, with SRK/T it was

21.65  $\pm$  2.14 D, with Haigis it was 21.38  $\pm$  2.24 D and with PIOL implanted, it was 21.89  $\pm$  2.04 D.

**Discussion:** There are statistically significant differences between the ELP values estimated by the formulas used in this study and the ALP measured postoperatively. However, there are no statistically significant differences between the PIOL calculated by the different formulas.

## References

[1] Wang JK, Chang SW. "Optical biometry intraocular lens power calculation using different formulas in patients with different axial lengths" in *Int J Ophthalmol.* 2013 Apr 18; 6(2):150-4.

# Optical performance of a new trifocal intraocular lens

#### ANABEL MARTÍNEZ-ESPERT

Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Burjassot 46100, Spain

#### DIEGO MONTAGUD-MARTÍNEZ

Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Burjassot 46100, Spain Physical Technologies Center, Polytechnic University of Valencia, Valencia 46022, Spain

#### VICENTE FERRANDO

Department of Applied Physics, Polytechnic University of Valencia, Valencia 46022, Spain

#### WALTER D. FURLAN

Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Burjassot 46100, Spain

**Aim:** The purpose is to present a new intraocular lens design based on the Devil's staircase fractal function.

**Experimental method:** The diffractive structure of the lens is based on a triadic Cantor fractal [1].

The Liou-Brennan model eye (LBME) [2] was programmed in Zemax OpticStudio design software (v.18.7, LLC, Kirkland, WA, USA) to simulate the optical performance of the IOL under realistic visual conditions. Areas under the modulation transfer function (MTFas) curves were calculated at spatial fre-



FIGURE 1. A) MTFas of the Devil IOL design and imaging simulation of a Snellen Es optotipe at pupil diameters of 3.0 mm and 4.5 mm and **B**) images at the main foci of the VAO simulation for both pupils.

quencies of between 0 and 50 lines/mm. This metric correlates with clinical visual acuity (VA) results [3]. Point spread functions (PSFs) were calculated at the focal planes and convolved with a Snellen Es optotype of VA 0.4 logMAR. All simulations were performed with a 550 nm green light for 3.0 mm and 4.5 mm pupil diameters to simulate photopic and mesopic pupils.

Experimental measurements using the visual adaptive optics simulator (VAO, Voptica SL, Murcia, Spain) were also performed [4]. The object used was a Snellen Es optotype of sizes corresponding to VAs of 0.4, 0.2 and 0.0 LogMAR. Images were captured at distance –, intermediate – and near-vision foci with a camera acting as an artificial eye. The optical perfor-

mance of the IOL was evaluated with polychromatic light for 3.0 and 4.5 mm pupil diameters.

**Results:** Figure 1(A) shows the MTFas. For both pupils, the MTFas were observed to have a trifocal profile where the performance for distance vision has the higher value.

Moreover, the Zemax simulations in the main foci and the images obtained with the VAO (Figure 1(A) and Figure 1(B)) agree with the results of the MTFas.

**Discussion:** Numerical and adaptive optics simulations are consistent. All optical performance images show good resolution with both pupils, with higher contrast in the far vision. It is possible to recognize the optotype at all distances for 0.0 logMAR VA.

The new Devil IOL design provides good optical performance results with a trifocal visual profile.

## References

[1] Monsoriu JA, Furlan WD, Saavedra G, Giménez F. "Devil's lenses" in *Opt Express*, 2007; 15:13858-13864.

[2] Liou HL, Brennan NA. "Anatomically accurate, finite model eye for optical modeling" in *FOSA A*, 1997; 14(8): 1684-1695.

[3] Alarcon A, Canovas C, Rosen R, Weeber H, Tsai L, Hileman K, Piers P. "Preclinical metrics to predict through-focus visual acuity for pseudophakic patients" in *Biomed Opt Express*, 2016; 7(5): 1877-1888.

[4] VAO. Voptica. Available online: https://voptica.com/vao/ (accessed on 15 September 2022).

## Validation of a numerical model eye implemented in paraxial ray tracing software (OSLO) for cataract surgery

DIANA GARGALLO YEBRA LAURA REMÓN MARTÍN University of Zaragoza FRANCISCO JAVIER CASTRO ALONSO Alcañiz Hospital

JORGE ARES GARCÍA IVÁN PEREZ University of Zaragoza

**Aim:** The purpose of this study is to validate a numerical model of a pseudophakic eye implemented in a paraxial ray tracing software program (OSLO) as a complementary tool in cataract surgery.

**Experimental method:** This retrospective, observational study consisted of 30 eyes belonging to 30 patients who had already undergone uneventful phacoemulsification with intraocular lens (IOL) implantation by a single surgeon (FJCA) at Alcañiz Hospital. Inclusion criteria were the availability of preoperative ocular biometry measurements made with the Lenstar LS900 (Haag-Streit AG, Koenitz, Switzerland) and suitable for Alcon Clareon monofocal IOL (A-constant=119.1) implantation in a capsular bag and the absence of complications during or after cataract surgery. Exclusion criteria were corneal astigmatism of over 2.00 diopters, previous ocular surgery, ocular trauma, active ocular infection or inflammation and the impossibility of IOL detection through the Lenstar optical biometer.

Before surgery, all patients underwent a comprehensive preoperative examination that included 5 biometry measurements with the Lenstar and 2 measurements with an Oculus Pentacam topographer to characterize the anterior and posterior surface of the cornea. Patients were evaluated at least 3 weeks postoperatively. The subjective refraction was performed by the same experienced examiner. The numerical model of a pseudophakic eye was implemented with optical analysis software (OSLO) following these steps:

1) Design of Clareon IOL with a power range of between 16.50 D and 26.50 D and a spherical aberration on the anterior surface equal to  $-0.20 \mu m$  for a 6.00 mm diameter pupil entrance, following the manufacturer's specifications.

2) Modeling of all real eyes. Refractive index values of the Atchison model eye were used (1) and the anterior and posterior corneal radius of curvature were measured with a Pentacam preoperatively.

3) The IOL power (calculated with Barrett Universal II) to be implanted in each eye was introduced in every modeled eye. The final distance of the IOL was measured postoperatively (ALP) with the Lenstar LS900 biometer in "pseudo-phakic" mode, which indicates the actual position of the IOL after surgery.

Refractive error (ER\_OSLO) was calculated with OSLO from the development of wavefront aberration through the Zernike coefficients corresponding to defocus, spherical aberration, oblique astigmatism and regular astigmatism. From these coefficients, the M, J0, and J45 components were calculated for a pupil diameter of 3 mm and finally the spherocylindrical refraction was calculated to obtain ER\_OSLO. These values were compared with the real postoperative refractive error ER\_SUBJ).



FIGURE 1. Correlation between ER\_OSLO and ER\_SUB.

**Results:** Figure 1 shows the ER\_OSLO versus the ER\_SUBJ. A linear regression between both ERs was obtained and the correlation coefficient, R2 and the slope, b, were computed. The correlation coefficient R2 was 0.571 and b was 0.606.

**Discussion:** OSLO is an interesting tool for performing postoperative simulations. It allows users to enter the anterior and posterior corneal radius (parameters that are not taken into account by most biometric calculators) and to vary the position of the lens to achieve emmetropia. It can also be used to evaluate the refractive repercussions that toric IOL rotations may cause.

## References

[1] Thibos, L. N., & Horner, D. (2001). "Power vector analysis of the optical outcome of refractive surgery" in *Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery*.

[2] Vega Y, Gershoni A, Achiron, et al. (2021). "High agreement between Barrett Universal II calculations with and without utilization of optional biometry parameters" in *J Clin Med*.

# **1.4. OPTICS AND INSTRUMENTATION**

## The Bebié curve for FDT perimetry

#### CELESTE LÓPEZ ESCOLÀ

Degree in Optics and Optometry, Faculty of Physics, University of Valencia, Dr. Moliner 50, 46930 Burjassot (Spain)

Aim: The Bebié curve (BC) is a graphic diagnostic tool used by some perimeters that shows different patterns of sensitivity loss in the human visual field (VF). It displays sensitivity differences between the patient and the mean standard observer, sorted in decreasing order, and can detect and distinguish between diffuse and localized losses [1]. Its principal disadvantage is that it does not show where in the VF the loss has been produced. The Frequency Doubling Technology (FDT) perimeter, designed to detect damage in the magnocellular pathway [2], does not include this tool, although Johnson [3] analyzed its possible clinical application in the Matrix FDT perimeter. The purpose of this study is to define the normal range of the BC for classic FDT perimetry in a sample of young subjects and to compare the curve's loss detection performance with standard FDT parameters in numerically simulated pathologies.

**Experimental method:** The diagnostic performance of the BC was analyzed by simulating different pathologies by numerical methods, using FDT data collected from measurements with young patients. Inclusion criteria were having an age of between 20 and 30 years old, no systemic or ocular pathologies, ametropia under 2 diopters (D) and astigmatism under 1 D if corrected by ophthalmic lenses (although the FDT perimeter tolerates as much as a 6D defocus, we limited the range more as we were using a normal database), or below 6D if corrected by contact lenses (considered emmetropia), decimal visual acuity (VA) above 0.8 and normal contrast sensitivity function (CSF) for all the frequencies in Topcon's M-3 map (we considered CSF a detector test if there was any abnormality in the visual system, more precise than VA). We recruited 26 subjects, excluding three for presenting glaucoma, migraine and high myopia,

respectively. Subjects took the FDT C-20-5 screening test with the worst VA eye, for training, followed by the N-30 threshold test with the eye with best VA. The BC was computed using a MATLAB script, subtracting the patient's sensitivity at each point of the visual field and the mean sensitivity of the sample at that point and ordering the resulting values from highest to lowest. We simulated numerically diffuse loss, foveal loss, nasal and temporal hemianopsias, upper and lower altitudinal defect, quadrantanopsia, peripherical loss, central loss and central plus diffuse loss by reducing the sensitivity at each point of the affected area by the same amount. A normal database for our sample was also defined for the difference map (DM), the mean defect (MD) and the pattern standard deviation (PSD). The 5% percentile was used in all parameters as a normality criterion.

	BC	DM	MD	PSD
Diffuse loss	6	5	8	
Nasal hemianopsia	7	5	15	5
Temporal hemianopsia	9	8	18	8
Upper altitudinal Defect	9	6	16	7
Lower altitudinal Defect	8	5	16	6
Inferior Nasal Quadrantanopsia	9	5	29	7
Superior Nasal Quadrantanopsia	9	6	29	6
Inferior Temporal Quadrantanopsia	9	8		8
Superior Temporal Quadrantanopsia	11	8		9
Peripherical Loss	8	6	12	7
Central Loss	9	5	29	7
Diffuse + Central Loss	6	2	17	7

TABLE 1. Minimum detectable sensitivity loss (dB) for each parameter. Empty cells indicate that the parameter does not detect the damage. BC=Bebie Curve; DM=Difference Map; MD=Mean Defect; PSD= Pattern Standard Deviation.

**Results:** To compare the diagnostic performance of the different diagnostic tools, we determined the minimum amount of sensitivity loss needed for the DM, BC, MD and PSD to be out-of-normal limits (Table 1). In all the simulated pathologies, the difference map was the most sensitive representation, so in what follows we compare only the three remaining parameters. For diffuse loss, the PSD was unable to detect the damage and the BC detected earlier than the MD. All the types of localized loss were detected earlier by the PSD, followed by the BC, with the MD only detecting a greater loss (>12dB), if at all. With diffuse + central loss, however, the BC detects the loss earlier than PSD.
**Discussion:** We could define the normal range of the BC for classic FDT perimetry, and to compare the BC with other parameters. According to the literature, the BC gives similar results to the PSD in concrete losses and improves in diffuse losses [1-4], but in our database it is better as is more specific [3]. The MD can be better [3, 4], but the BC is a graphic that is easy to understand [4] and a complement to clinical procedures.

## References

[1] Bebié H, Flammer J, Bebié T. "The cumulative defect curve: separation of local and diffuse components of visual field damage" in Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1989, 227:9-12.

[2] Brusini P, Johnson CA. "Staging functional damage in glaucoma: Review of different classification methods" in *Surv Ophthalmol.* 2007; 52(2):156-79.

[3] Johnson CA & Spry PGD. "Cumulative defect (Bebié) curves for FDT perimetry" in *Perimetry Update* 2002/2003, pp-3-12 Kugler Publications (2004).

[4] Chan AB, Chauhan BC, LeBlanc RP, McCormick TA, Shaw AM. "Intraand interrater agreement with cumulative defect curves" in *J Glaucoma*. 1997; 6(2):117-22.

# Changes in choroidal and retinal thickness assessed by optical coherence tomography in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with moderate diabetic retinopathy

GUISELA FERNÁNDEZ ESPINOSA ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL University of Zaragoza Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza

ANA BONED MURILLO MARÍA DOLORES DÍAZ BARREDA Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza

SOFÍA BIELSA ALONSO University of Zaragoza

MARÍA SOPEÑA PINILLA Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza

ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO University of Zaragoza

Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza

#### ISABEL PINILLA LOZANO

Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza

**Aim:** To study choroidal thickness (CT) in type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2) patients with moderate diabetic retinopathy (DR) without diabetic macular edema (DME) and to correlate with changes in retinal thickness (RT) with swept source OCT (SS-OCT) compared to healthy subjects.

**Methods:** Fifty-four DM2 patients with moderate DR without DME and 73 agematched healthy subjects were evaluated using SS-OCT to measure changes in the total RT and the CT in the 9 Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) macular areas [1]. Exclusion criteria for both groups included amblyopia or best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) of less than 20/40 on the Snellen chart, refractive error over  $\pm$  5.50 diopters (D) of spherical equivalent (SE) or 3.00 D of astigmatism, intraocular pressure (IOP) higher than 20 mmHg, history of any ocular pathology affecting central vision, ocular hypertension or glaucoma with perimetric involvement or papillary atrophy or the inability to perform good quality OCT. All patients underwent a complete visual examination, including BCVA, IOP measured by Goldman tonometry, axial length (AL) and SS-OCT. In addition, a complete history with clinical variables was performed. In statistical analysis, the Mann-Whitney U test was performed for independent nonparametric samples to assess if there were statistically significant differences between the groups, considering a value of p<0.05 as statistically significant.

**Results:** The mean ages were  $64.06 \pm 11.98$  years and  $60.79 \pm 8.62$  years in the diabetic and control groups, respectively. Visual acuity (VA) with ETDRS 100% was lower in the DM2 patients (U=1329.00; p<0.001). In the total RT, statistically significant differences were found in the temporal external area being thicker in the DM2 group ( $260.70\pm19.22$  µm vs  $271.90\pm37.61$  µm with U=1262.50; p=0.010, in control and DM2 group, respectively). The CT did not show significant differences between both groups (p>0.05) in any ETDRS area. There was a significant negative correlation between RT and age in all the external ETDRS areas and a positive significant correlation between CT and age in all ETDRS areas except for the inferior inner area. In the DM2 group, a negative correlation was observed between RT and CT in the central area (rs=-0.287; p=0.039) and in both horizontal parafoveal areas (temporal inner: p=0.028, central: p=0.039 and nasal inner: p=0.003).

**Discussion:** Choroidal and retinal layers undergo changes due to DM progression, especially in patients with poor glycaemic control and with longer evolution time. In addition to the choroidal and retinal changes, there are many visual changes with the disease evolution, such as BCVA, getting worse as the pathology progresses [2, 3]. This study shows that DM2 patients with moderate DR have no changes in CT in comparison with normal age-matched controls. CT and RT decrease with age and show a negative correlation with RT in the central and horizontal parafoveal ETDRS areas [4-6]. Our results are consistent with those found in the literature. Future studies will be required to confirm these findings with a larger sample of diabetic patients and with different DR stages and with both DM1 and DM2, since their behavior can be different, influenced by age, time of DM evolution and other factors.

## References

[1] "Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Design and Baseline Patient Characteristics: ETDRS Report Number 7" in Ophthalmology. 1991; 98(5, Supplement):741-56.

[2] Wang H, Tao Y. "Choroidal structural changes correlate with severity of diabetic retinopathy in diabetes mellitus" in *BMC Ophthalmol.* 2019; 19(1):1-9.

[3] Kim JT, Lee DH, Joe SG, Kim JG, Yoon YH. "Changes in choroidal thickness in relation to the severity of retinopathy and macular edema in type 2 diabetic patients" in *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2013; 54(5):3378-84.

[4] Orduna-Hospital E, Sánchez-Cano A, Perdices L, Acha J, Lopez-Alaminos EM, Pinilla I. "Changes in retinal layers in type 1 diabetes mellitus without retinopathy measured by spectral domain and swept-source OCTs" in *Sci Rep.* 2021; 11(1):1-10.

[5] Jiang J, Liu Y, Chen Y, Ma B, Qian Y, Zhang Z, et al. "Analysis of changes in retinal thickness in type 2 diabetes without diabetic retinopathy" in *J Diabetes Res.* 2018; 2018.

[6] Abbey AM, Kuriyan AE, Modi YS, Thorell MR, Nunes RP, Goldhardt R, et al. "Optical coherence tomography measurements of choroidal thickness in healthy eyes: correlation with age and axial length" in *Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina*. 2015 Jan; 46(1):18-24.

# Clinical evaluation of the repeatability and variability of ocular aberrometry with different target vergences

MARÍA MECHÓ-GARCÍA IÑAKI BLANCO-MARTÍNEZ RUTE ARAÚJO PAULO FERNANDES MIGUEL RIBEIRO JOSÉ MANUEL GONZÁLEZ-MÉIJOME Clinical and Experimental Optometry Research Lab, Center of Physics (Optometry), School of Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

**Aim:** This study aims to evaluate the within-session repeatability of ocular aberrations when the accommodation is monocularly stimulated.

**Experimental method:** The study included 16 right-health eyes from 9 females and 7 males, young Caucasian subjects aged 20 to 33. None of the subjects had any ocular pathology or had undergone any refractive surgery. Accommodative stimulation was induced by the in-built stimulus of a Hartmann-Shack aberrometer irx3 (Imagine Eyes, France) [1].

The monochromatic aberrations were measured with a natural pupil in dim room illumination for accommodative demand range between 0.0 D to 5.0 D in 0.50 D steps. For each step, three repeated measures were obtained, making thirty-three measurements in total for each subject, lasting about 2 seconds for each measure. Data were rescaled to a 4 mm pupil size, reported as individual Zernike coefficients, and expanded to the 6th order. Statistical analysis on repeatability and variability were done based on the variance  $(S^2_w)$  of the three repeated measurements, in coefficients of repeatability (CR) and coefficients of variation (CV) [2].

**Results:** The mean and within Sw for all target vergences were calculated. All Zernike coefficients showed high repeatability, CR < 0.05, except for the defocus coefficient, **Z** (2,0), CR > 1.85. The coefficient of repeatability increased with accommodative demand in the defocus, (Pearson correlation coefficient r = 0.985, p - value < 0.01).

Overall, there was variability in the data if we look at each Zernike coefficient for each accommodative vergence. The Z(2,0) increased the percentage of variability when the target vergence increased, from 0.63% to 21.84%. However, a decrease in variability was observed with increasing target vergence in Z(2,2) (from 79.55% to 3.12%), Z(2,-2) (from 67.12% to 4.56%), Z(4,0) (from 5.85% to 1.54%) and Z(6,0) (from 11.89% to 1.37%).

**Discussion:** It should be noted that an increase in repeatability has been observed with accommodative demand and a decrease with the order of the coefficients, in agreement with other repeatability studies [3, 4]. Studies on repeatability of Zernike coefficients with accommodation [5-7] reported higher variability in the population for the coefficients Z (2,-2), Z (2,2) and Z (3,-1), with values greater than 60%, while the defocus Z (2,0), spherical aberration Z (4,0) and second-order spherical aberration Z (6,0) showed weaker variability (CV < 40%).

**Conclusion:** This aberrometer gives us large variability in the different Zernike coefficients for the different vergences measured. This variability may be due to fixation errors, operator dependency or microfluctuations in accommodation [8], tear film instability [9] and small fixation eye movements [10]. It must be kept in mind that the measures carried out under these conditions have some level of inconsistency.

## References

[1] Maeda N. "Clinical applications of wavefront aberrometry - a review" in Clin Experiment Ophthalmol. 2009; 37(1):118-29.

2] McAlinden C, Khadka J, Pesudovs K. "Precision (repeatability and reproducibility) studies and sample-size calculation" in *J Cataract Refract Surg.* 2015 Dec; 41(12):2598-604.

[3] Mirshahi A, Bühren J, Gerhardt D, Kohnen T. "In vivo and in vitro repeatability of Hartmann-Shack aberrometry" in *J Cataract Refract Surg.* 2003; 29(12):2295-301.

[4] Efron S, Efron N, Morgan PB. "Repeatability and reliability of ocular aberration measurements in contact lens wear" in *Contact Lens Anterior Eye.* 2008; 31(2):81-8.

[5] Del Águila-Carrasco AJ, Kruger PB, Lara F, López-Gil N. "Aberrations and accommodation" in *Clin Exp Optom.* 2020 Jan; 103(1):95-103.

[6] Neroev VV, Tarutta EP, Arutyunyan SG, Khandzhyan AT, Khodzhabekyan NV. "Wavefront aberrations and accommodation in myopes and hyperopes" in *Vestn Oftalmol.* 2017; 133(2):5-9.

[7] McLellan JS, Marcos S, Burns SA. "Age-related changes in monochromatic wave aberrations of the human eye" in *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2001; 42(6):1390-5.

[8] Ford J, Werner L, Mamalis N. "Adjustable intraocular lens power technology" in *J Cataract Refract Surg.* 2014 Jul 1; 40(7):1205-23.

[9] Koh S. "The effect of tear film break-up on higher-order aberrations measured with wavefront sensor" in *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2001.

[10] Iskander DR, Collins MJ, Morelande MR, Zhu M. "Analyzing the dynamic wavefront aberrations in the human eye" in *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* 2004; 51(11):1969-80.

# Comparison between clinically measured insert versus theoretical and standard value and its importance in progressive addition lens adaptation

ÓSCAR GARCÍA ESPINILLA IRENE SÁNCHEZ PAVÓN RAÚL MARTÍN HERRANZ

Optometry Research Group. University Institute of Applied Ophthalmobiology (IOBA). Department of Atomic Theoretical Physics and Optics. University of Valladolid

Aim: Inset is the horizontal distance between far and near vision zones in progressive addition lenses (PALs) and is an important parameter in users' PALs adaptation.[1] However, inset is usually calculated based on theoretical calculations (with the center of the pupil as the point of reference) or directly assigned with a standard value (commonly 2.5 mm). Recently, a new method called the Ergofocus® system, (Lentitech Inc, Spain) has been developed to measure the foveal fixation axis (FFA) line, which directly links to the fixation point and the fovea [2], to provide a point to centre the ophthalmic lens at far and near distances that can clinically measure the real inset value. The aim of this study was to compare the theoretical, standard (2.5 mm) and clinically measured inset with FFA and analyze its importance in users' PALs adaptation.

**Experimental method:** Seventy-one presbyopic patients, classified in four groups according to their previous use of PALs (dropout group, uncomfortable PALs users, comfortable PALs users and neophytes) were included in the study. Theoretical inset was calculated using the HoyaiLog system (HOYA Inc, Japan) for a LifeStyle 3i lens prescription using facial and frame parameters measured individually in every patient. The value for standard inset was 2.5 mm. FFA distance was measured with the Ergofocus® system (Figure 1), which comprises two moveable stenopeic slits located in front of each eye (one horizontal and one vertical). These slits were moved to the patient fixation point in far and near distance and the device provided both distances and inset value as the difference at the PALs prescription plane. Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS 24.0 (SPSS, Chicago, USA) statistical package for Windows. The non-parametric data distribution was verified with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The Wilcoxon non-parametric paired test was used to compare the different insets.

**Results:** Right and left FFA inset (1.45±1.19 and 2.21±1.48mm) showed statistically significant differences with theoretical inset (2.55±0.61 and 3.39±0.68mm)

(P<0.01) in both eyes. Just the right eye FFA inset and left eye theoretical inset were statistically different from the standard inset (P<0.01). Meanwhile, left the eye FFA inset (P=0.09) and right eye theoretical inset (P=0.52) did not show significant differences with the standard inset. Regarding study groups, comfortable PALs users showed non-significant differences between FFA, theoretical and standard inset in both eyes (P>0.05). Moreover, uncomfortable PALs users and dropout groups showed significant differences between FFA inset, theoretical and standard inset in both eyes (P<0.05).



FIGURE 1. Device for FFA distance measurement.

**Discussion:** Clinically measured FFA inset is different from standard and theoretical inset, especially in patients who are unable or have trouble adapting to wearing PALs. However, comfortable PALs users showed no differences between different calculated inset values. These results suggest that a clinically measured inset could help in patients' adaptation process with a physiological inset farther from the standard or theoretical inset values. More studies are necessary to analyze the inset variation in adapting to using PALs.

## References

[1] Kozol F, Capone RC, Kozol ND. "Determining the vertical and horizontal positioning of multifocal and progressive lenses" in Surv Ophthalmol. 1998; 43 (1):71-82.

[2] Chang DH, Waring GO. "The subject-fixated coaxially sighted corneal light reflex: a clinical marker for centration of refractive treatments and devices" in *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2014; 158(5):863-874.

# Contrast speckle as a retinal tissue integrity biomarker in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus with no retinopathy

MARÍA ARCAS-CARBONELL ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL ALEJANDRA CONSEJO Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza, 50009 Zaragoza, Spain

Aim: To study the retinal and choroidal layers of subjects with type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1) without diabetic retinopathy (DR), using speckle contrast of spectral-domain optical coherence tomography (SD-OCT) images as a tissue biomarker in comparison with healthy subjects. [1].

Experimental method: SD-OCT Spectralis images of 148 eyes were collected, 84 from DM1 patients without DR signs and 64 belonging to the control group. Interferometry, the measurement technique on which OCT is based, gives rise to speckle, which has been considered a form of noise that degrades the quality of the OCT image. However, OCT speckle can also be signal-carrying and be used to infer about the micro-structure of the tissue. [2] In this context, the contrast speckle of the inner retinal layer (IRL), the outer retinal layer (ORL) and the choroidal layers in the nasal parafoveal area (N3) was estimated as the ratio between mean pixel intensity and its standard deviation and analysed using custom made software. In addition, the IRL, the ORL and the choroid thicknesses were obtained from the SD-OCT Spectralis software version 6.8.1.0. in the same N3 area. Statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Office Excel (Microsoft Office Professional Plus 2016; Microsoft; Redmond, WA, USA) and SPSS version 25.0 statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Normality was not rejected for each data set (Shapiro-Wilk test, p>0.05). The paired two-sample Student's t-test and the coefficient of determination  $(R^2)$  were used to investigate the differences between the right and left eyes of both groups.

**Results:** The right eye (OD) and the left eye (OS) of each patient were compared, each one within their study group, with no statistically significant differences (both p>0.05). A statistically significant difference (p=0.001) in the IRL thickness between groups was observed, being thicker in the DM1 group. There were no differences in the ORL and choroidal thicknesses between groups. The same comparison between groups was performed with the speckle contrast per layer, again observing a statistically significant difference (p=0.02) in the IRL speckle contrast, being lower in the DM1 group compared to the control group. The maximum speckle contrast was reached in the ORL for both groups, although in the control group, the maximum speckle occurs at an ORL depth of  $58 \pm 9 \mu m$ , while in the DM1 group the maximum speckle occurs at a deeper position, closer to the choroid, at  $64 \pm 8 \mu m$ . This difference is statistically significant (p=0.008).



FIGURE 1. Box plot representing the speckle contrast in arbitrary units (a.u.) for the control group (n=64), and for the DM1 group (n=84) for each layer under study (IRC, CER and choroid). Data was obtained by calculating the mean speckle contrast value for each participant and for each layer. Results marked with an asterisk (\*) indicate a statistically significant difference between groups.

**Discussion:** Statistically significant differences were found in speckle contrast between the control and the DM1 group without DR signs. The differences observed are currently of no clinical importance as determined by a retinal ophthalmologist. Still, they suggest an alteration in the retinal tissue of DM1 patients, especially at the IRL level, so close follow-up of patients with this pathology would be recommended. This finding (decreased speckle contrast in DM1) could support the IRL neurodegeneration before DR signs are observed. [1].

## References

[1] Orduna-Hospital, E., Sánchez-Cano, A., Perdices, L., Acha, J., Lopez-Alaminos, E., Pinilla, I. "Changes in Retinal Layers in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus with-

out Retinopathy Measured by Spectral Domain and Swept-Source OCTs" in Scientific Reports, 2021; 11(1):1-10.

[2] Jesus, D.A., Iskander, D.R. "Assessment of corneal properties based on statistical modeling of OCT speckle" in *Biomedical Optics Express*. 2017; 8(1):162-76.

## **Repeatability of bulbar redness measurements obtained using the Keratograph 5M**

JOSÉ VICENTE GARCÍA-MARQUÉS CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES SANTIAGO GARCÍA-LÁZARO ALEJANDRO CERVIÑO EXPÓSITO Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

**Aim:** The Tear Film and Ocular Surface Dry Eye WorkShop II reported in 2017 that diagnosing dry eye disease is a challenge, partially due to the low repeatability of some metrics used for assessing the ocular surface [1]. Therefore, this study aims to assess the intraexaminer repeatability of bulbar redness metrics obtained using the Keratograph 5M.

**Experimental method:** Thirty eyes from 30 healthy subjects (Mean±Standard deviation: 31.1±10.3 years) were enrolled in this study. Bulbar redness was objectively assessed three consecutive times through the Keratograph 5M. Conjunctiva must be adequately focused and an image of 1156 x 873 pixels and at 96 dpi was created and displayed on the computer screen. The device automatically detected the bulbar conjunctiva vessels (red) and sclera (white) with an accuracy of 0.1 units. Thus, the bulbar redness scores ranged from 0.0 to 4.0 in each zone: temporal bulbar, nasal bulbar, temporal limbal, nasal limbal and total bulbar redness [2, 3]. Repeatability was assessed for each metric by the coefficient of variation (CoV) [4, 5]. The Friedman test was used to compare the three measurements.

**Results:** Table 1 shows the repeatability coefficient for each metric. CoV showed values near 0 for all metrics, with values between 10.92 and 28.57%. The highest repeatability was obtained in total bulbar redness (CoV=10.92%). The Friedman test revealed that the third measurement was slightly higher than the others (p<0.045).

Metric	CoV (%)	First (Mean±SD)	Second (Mean±SD)	Third (Mean±SD)	p-value	Post-hoc
Temporal bulbar redness	13.02	0.70±0.24	0.73±0.25	0.77±0.29	0.0451*	1-2=0.422 <sup>2</sup> 1-3=0.018 <sup>2*</sup> 2-3=0.06 <sup>2</sup>
Nasal bulbar redness	14.28	0.74±0.32	0.75±0.31	0.79±0.35	0.0441*	1-2=0.516 <sup>2</sup> 1-3=0.015 <sup>2*</sup> 2-3=0.07 <sup>2</sup>
Temporal limbal redness	22.12	0.36±0.25	0.36±0.29	0.4±0.31	0.0401*	1-2=0.489 <sup>2</sup> 1-3=0.014 <sup>2*</sup> 2-3=0.08 <sup>2</sup>
Nasal limbal redness	28.57	0.31±0.20	0.34±0.26	0.39±0.29	0.0281*	1-2=0.543 <sup>2</sup> 1-3=0.008 <sup>2*</sup> 2-3=0.010 <sup>2*</sup>
Total bulbar redness	10.92	0.72±0.24	0.73±0.26	0.77±0.30	0.0301*	1-2=0.524 <sup>2</sup> 1-3=0.017 <sup>2*</sup> 2-3=0.025 <sup>2*</sup>

TABLE 1. Repeatability of ocular redness measurements.

<sup>1</sup> Friedman test; <sup>2</sup> Bonferroni; \* Statistically significant.

**Discussion:** Measurements are fast (3 seconds per each measurement); however, white light might have increased the redness of the ocular surface in the third measurement. Infrared light could be used as a possible improvement. Despite the comparison between the three measurements being statistically significant, it was not considered clinically significant. Keratograph 5M can be used as an objective tool with acceptable repeatability for assessing bulbar redness, which could help in the diagnosis of some diseases related to ocular surface inflammation, such as dry eye disease or uveitis.

## References

[1] Wolffsohn J, Arita R, Chalmers R, Djalilian A, Dogru M, Dumbleton K, Gupta P, Karpecki P, Lazreg S, Pult H, Sullivan B, Tomlinson A, Tong L, Villani E, Yoon K, Jones L, Craig J. "TFOS DEWS II Diagnostic Methodology Report" in *The Ocul Surf*, 2017; 15(3):539-574.

[2] Wu S, Hong J, Tian L, Cui X, Sun X, & Xu J. "Assessment of bulbar redness with a newly developed keratography" in *Optom Vis Sci*, 2015; 92:892-899.

[3] Downie LE, Keller PR, Vingrys Aj. "Assessing ocular bulbar redness: A comparison of methods" in *Ophthal Physiol Opt*, 2016; 36:273-279.

[4] Bland JM, Altman DG. "Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement" in *Int 7 Nurs*, 2010; 47:931-936.

[5] Martínez-Albert N, Esteve-Taboada JJ, Montés-Micó R. "Repeatability assessment of anterior segment biometric measurements under accommodative and nonaccommodative conditions using an anterior segment OCT" in *Grafe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*, 2018; 256:113-123.

# Zemax OpticStudio toolbox as a method for visual quality analysis in multifocal contact lenses

ALICIA LÓPEZ-RASO Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid (UCM) Mark'ennovy Personalized Care SL

JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid (UCM)

MERCEDES BURGOS-MARTÍNEZ Mark'ennovy Personalized Care SL

JAVIER RUIZ-ALCOCER Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid (UCM)

NEIL GOODENOUGH Mark'ennovy Personalized Care SL

Aim: The purpose of this study is to explore Zemax OpticStudio as a toolbox to analyze the visual quality of optical systems such as multifocal contact lenses for presbyopic patients. The Visual Strehl ratio (VSOTF) for on-axis and off-axis objects and for different aperture diameters were studied. Moreover, Zemax opens the possibility of assessing more visual merit figures (aberrations, spot diagrams, image simulation, distortion etc.) not usually given for multifocal contact lens evaluation, specially for changes in the visual field.

**Experimental method:** A multifocal contact lens with centre-near design was simulated in Zemax OpticStudio. As developed in previous scientific articles which only take the wavefront coming out from the lens into account [1], a study of VSOTF was performed, with the difference that we also analyzed an off-axis object at 20° and higher fields and far distance. The sagittal data (vertical field



FIGURE 1. Image quality results. Power profile and distortion with field (top), VSOTF for several pupils and object field (left, 0° and 20°), image simulation (image size 20°, center for image centered at 0°, bottom centered at 20°), and spot diagrams (right column).

deviation) of the modulation transfer function via fourier transform (FFT-MTF) was obtained from Zemax for several distances and aperture diameters. Afterwards, the data were transferred to Matlab, where the VSOTF formula was calculated, taking into account a nominal contrast sensitivity function [2]. Several quality curves were displayed. At the same time, the optical aberrations of the system, such as the Optical Path Difference (OPD), Ray Fan, spot diagram and image simulation were studied and compared for on-axis and off-axis objects with Zemax OpticStudio [3].

**Results:** The results from the quality analysis are depicted in Figure 1. The method evaluates different pupil diameters easily. On axis, the VSOTF curves for all the pupil diameters are above the ocular FFT-MTF threshold, considered 0.2. In the off-axis analysis (field of 20°), the real prescription of the lens changes by around 0.25 diopters. For fields from 20° to 40°, it changes by 0.11D per field degree. The maximums of the VSOTF decrease and the curves are displaced to the left as the pupil gets bigger for both on-axis and off-axis representations. From 0° to 40°, the maximum of VSOFT decreases by 17.65%, 34.8% and 44.4% for 2,3,4 mm diameter, respectively. Image quality and spot diagrams show an increase of aberrations with the field not normally reported. Distortion curves were also studied (0.2% at 5° and 0.76% at 40°).

**Discussion:** The results show image quality and prescription changes with the object field that could vary among different lens design analyses. The increase of aberrations with field extends the depth of focus and change the image quality (see Figure 1). Zemax OpticStudio provides more merit figures than usually reported, especially variations with field of view that could be very interesting in multifocal contact lens design for presbyopic applications.

## References

[1] Del Águila-Carrasco AJ, et al. "Optical quality of rotationally symmetrical contact lenses derived from their power profiles" in Cont Lens Anterior Eye. 2017 Oct; 40(5):346-350.

[2] Iskander DR. "Computational aspects of the visual Strehl ratio" in *Optom Vis Sci.* 2006 Jan; 83(1):57-9.

[3] Zemax OpticStudio Optical Design Software.

# **1.5. BINOCULAR VISION**

# Analysis of the Hess Lancaster screen test with eye-tracker

LUZ MAURAIN ORERA ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza, 50009 Zaragoza, Spain

**Aim:** To objectively measure the coordination and gaze direction of both eyes in different positions when performing the Hess Lancaster screen test monitored with an eye-tracker in a sample of control subjects without binocular dysfunctions.

**Experimental method:** In this study, 59 subjects between the ages of 18 and 27 underwent a complete optometric examination in which refractive error, accommodation, vergences, measurement of the horizontal and vertical phoria with the Maddox rod test, oculomotricity and sensory state of vision were assessed. Subjects who suffered from suppression of one of the two eyes, visual acuity of less than 0.8 in each eye, strabismus or any symptom of binocular dysfunction that could alter the results were excluded. After optometric evaluation, there were 29 participants without binocular problems who underwent the Hess Lancaster screen test wearing anaglyph glasses. While performing this test, the examiner wrote down each of the points on a template in a traditional way, while the eye-tracker (Tobii Pro Fusion, Tobii AB, Sweden), placed in front of the subject, took objective measurements of the position of both eyes at each point. A specific program called Etracker Parse video (University of Zaragoza, Spain) was developed to analyse the prismatic deviation between both eyes at each evaluated point.

**Results:** The results of horizontal prismatic deviation between visual axes in the different gaze positions are quite similar between the values obtained with the Maddox rod, the manual annotated Lancaster screen and the eye-tracker measurement, but variations can be found in the magnitude of the deviation between

one and the other, although not in the direction (if there is endophoria, it is detected as endophoria in all three cases) (Table 1). On the other hand, vertical deviations are more difficult for the examiner to detect and quantify, obtaining different values when measuring objectively with the eye-tracker, especially when it comes to small magnitudes, as was the case in this study (Table 2).

**Discussion:** None of the tests is diagnostic by itself, but they all are complementary to the rest of the optometric tests that would be carried out in a binocular vision examination. The possibility of objectively measuring the prismatic deviation that exists between visual axes while performing the Hess Lancaster screen test through an eye-tracker represents progress, especially in detecting vertical deviations, which are more difficult to detect subjectively by the examiner. As such, the eye-tracker is an objective method with which it is possible to evaluate the Hess Lancaster screen test in patients with no binocular problems, obtaining more accurate results than when it is performed subjectively.

<u>Subject 1</u>		Mado	lox Roc	l Phoria		DV IV				
		I	Horizor	ıtal		Orthophoria Orthopho			oria	
			Vertica	al		Orthophoria $1 \Delta BU RE$				RE
		Examiner Eye-Trac						Tracker	acker	
		Δx	$\Delta y$	Δx	Δy	7	$\Delta \mathbf{x}$	$\Delta y$	Δx	$\Delta y$
		LE	LE	RE	RE	Ξ	LE	LE	RE	RE
	1	0.00	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	-4.02	1.42	-6.08	-0.75
	2	0.00	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	-4.76	2.08	-9.13	1.22
	3	0.00	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	-3.17	4.30	-5.48	3.69
	4	-2.50	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	-4.23	4.32	-1.03	6.03
· B	5	-5.00	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	1.81	8.57	-1.03	9.57
	6	-5.00	0.00	-3.75	0.0	0	-2.25	3.28	-2.62	4.64
	7	-3.75	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	-5.47	-0.10	-5.80	1.36
	8	0.00	0.00	-5.00	0.0	0	-4.78	0.74	-6.60	0.20
	9	-6.25	0.00	-2.50	0.0	0	-7.45	-0.15	-8.61	-1.00

TABLE 1. Above is a first table with the subjective data of the values of the horizontal and vertical phoria measured with the Maddox rod test for both distance vision (DV) and intermediate vision (IV). Below to the right is another table with the data, both objective (the fixations collected by the eye-tracker from the 9 central points of the Hess Lancaster screen test) and subjective (estimated deviations after the manual data collection by the explorer and reflected in the Hess Lancaster test template), in both cases horizontal ( $\Delta x$ ) and vertical ( $\Delta y$ ) deviations for each eye. On the left, above, is the represented result of the Hess Lancaster screen obtained manually (red for the LE and green for the RE (illustration A)) and just below the representation of the points obtained with the eye-tracker (red points for the LE and green for RE (Illustration B).

Examiner vs. Eye tracker values	Differences (p)	Correlation coeficient (cc) (p)
Δx LE	<0.001	0.401 (<0.001)
Δγ LΕ	0.815	0.002 (0.983)
Δx RE	<0.001	0.527 (<0.001)
Δγ RE	0.650	0.034 (0.716)

TABLE 2. Differences related between the measurements and the correlation coefficient (cc) obtained when comparing the results of the horizontal ( $\Delta x$ ) and vertical ( $\Delta y$ ) deviations collected subjectively by the examiner versus the objective ones by the eye-tracker in a sample size of 117 measurements (9 points from 13 subjects). A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Use of contact lenses in patients with anisometropic amblyopia without strabismus

GABRIEL RUIZ FABRA DAVID P. PIÑERO LLORENS University of Alicante. Optics, Pharmacology and Anatomy

**Aim:** The aim of the study was to assess binocular vision, ocular alignment and visual acuity before and after the use of contact lenses in patients with anisometropic amblyopia.

**Experimental method:** A prospective pre-post quasi-experimental study was performed with 8 patients with anisometropic amblyopia between 6 to 56 years (mean: 27.6; SD: 20.24; median: 24 years, 50% males and 50% females, Anisometropic Power Mean: 3.44; SD: 1.31; median: 3.50). The study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Alicante Hospital and followed the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. A baseline examination was performed before contact lens fitting, including analysis of stereopsis, visual acuity and ocular alignment. After this, the contact lens Horizon Bio (Tiedra Farmaceutica SL) was fitted following the manufacturer's guidelines. The patient wore the lenses for 4 to 6 weeks and the same evaluation as in the baseline assessment was performed. For the analysis of binocularity, the concept of binocular function score (BF) was used [1], which combines the results of the Worth 4 dot test [2-3] and stereopsis measurements [4-6].

**Results:** The results that we obtained in the changes of the BFs of distance (Figure 1) and near with the lateral disparity stereopsis test were statistically significant (p=0.016), while it was not achieved in BFs with the use of the Random Dot test at near vision (p =0.079). Changes in visual acuity at far distance (p=0.344) and near distance (p=0.250) were not statistically significant. As for the ocular alignment measured before and after the use of contact lenses, no statistically significant changes were achieved either in the horizontal distance (p=0.187) and near distance (p=0.719), and much less changes in the vertical phoria in far distance (p=0.500) and near distance (p=0.999). Only lens breakage has been reported as a side effect in learning to wear contact lenses.

## ESTEREOPSIS DISPARIDAD LATERAL VISIÓN CERCANA





**Discussion:** The use of contact lenses is a first step in the treatment of anisometropic amblyopia, but it should be combined with other treatments to improve its effectiveness. We cannot compare the results of this study with any other due to the scanty published scientific evidence [7-10], since it is old and not related to stereopsis. More studies are needed to compare its effectiveness and compare it with the use of other types of lenses such as rigid lenses or in combination with other treatments such as vision therapy, virtual reality or the dichoptic method.

## References

[1] Webber AL, Wood JM, Thompson B, Birch EE. "From suppression to stereoacuity: a composite binocular function score for clinical research" in Oph-thalmic Physiol Opt. 2019 Jan; 39(1): 53-62.

[2] Bak E, Yang HK, Hwang JM. "Validity of the Worth 4 Dot Test in Patients with Red-Green Color Vision Defect" in *Optom Vis Sci.* 2017 May; 94(5): 626-629.

[3] Morale SE, Jeffrey BG, Fawcett SL, Stager DR, Salomão SR, Berezovsky A, Lapa MC, Birch EE. "Preschool Worth 4-Shape test: testability, reliability, and validity" in *J AAPOS*. 2002 Aug; 6(4):247-51.

[4] Mølgaard IL, Biering-Sørensen K, Michelsen N, Elmer J, Rydberg A. "Amblyopia screening in kindergartens with TNO stereotest" in *Acta Ophthalmol* (Copenh). 1984 Feb; 62(1):156-62.

[5] Walraven J, Janzen P. "TNO stereopsis test as an aid to the prevention of amblyopia" in *Ophthalmic Physiol Opt.* 1993 Oct; 13(4):350-6.

[6] Morale SE, Jost RM, Hunter JS, Weakley DR, Birch EE. "Normative Values, Testability, and Validity for a New Preferential Looking Stereoacuity Test" in *J Binocul Vis Ocul Motil.* 2021 Jan-Mar; 71(1):29-34.

[7] Mets M, Price RL. "Contact lenses in the management of myopic anisometropic amblyopia" in *Am J Ophthalmol.* 1981 Apr; 91(4):484-9.

[8] Bogorodzki B, Grałek M. "Stosowanie soczewek kontaktowych u dzieci z wysoka krótkowzrocznościa" [Use of contact lenses in children with severe myopia] in *Klin Oczna*. 1996 Jan; 98(1):37-40. Polish.

[9] Elmer J, Fahmy YA, Nyholm M, Nørskov K. "Extended wear soft contact lenses in the treatment of strabismic amblyopia" in *Acta Ophthalmol* (Copenh). 1981 Aug; 59(4):546-51.

[10] Roberts CJ, Adams GG. "Contact lenses in the management of high anisometropic amblyopia" in *Eye* (Lond). 2002 Sep; 16(5):577-9.

# 1.6. REHABILITATION, PERCEPTUAL TRAINING AND VISUAL THERAPY

# Fusional vergence dysfunction associated with accommodative insufficiency

IRENE PALACIOS ORTEGO Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza

DIANA SORIANO PINA Miguel Servet Ophthalmology Research Group

CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza

**Aim:** The objective of this study is to present a clinical case of an 8-year-old patient with symptomatic fusional vergence dysfunction, accommodative insufficiency and oculomotor dysfunction.

**Experimental method:** The patient was referred by the ophthalmology service of the Miguel Servet University Children's Hospital for a complete review of the visual system. She had frequent headaches and had often complained of pain and blurred vision for a few weeks, especially in the RE. After evaluation, she was diagnosed with fusional vergence dysfunction, accommodative insufficiency and oculomotor dysfunction. She also showed an inability to perform vergence jumps, with prismatic flippers of  $4 / 14\Delta$ . We also highlight a remote PPC, a low ARN and low accommodative flexibility. During the examination, high values of exophoria were also obtained. The patient presented a hyperphoria of  $1 \Delta$  in the RE. Moreover, we found an inability to stimulate accommodation and low amplitude of accommodation. Lastly, oculomotor dysfunction was demonstrated in the inability to perform more than three complete cycles in NSUCO for saccades.

**Results:** A 21-session vision therapy program was carried out at the university clinic, complemented by exercises performed by the patient at home. During the therapy program, the sequence was as follows: monocular, biocular and binocular. Accommodative, vergences, motility, anti-suppression, eye-hand coordination and peripheral vision exercises were performed. The results of the optometric evaluations carried out before and after the treatment and the normal ranges are shown in Figure 1. After the vision therapy program, the patient's symptoms disappeared; she did not report headaches, eyestrain or asthenopia. The treatment was completed after 21 sessions, because although the symptoms were lessened, the program ended when the different visual skills were automated. On the other hand, each patient is different and in this case the age of the patient could have an influence, as well as their cooperation in the exercises performed.

		AFTER				NORMAL VALUES			
VA nv	RE: 0.5	LE: 0.6	BE: 0.6	RE: 1	LI	E:1	BE:1	1	
NPC		1/5 cm				< 6 cm			
SACCADIC MOVEMENT		Ability: 5				Ability: 5			
		Precision: 3				Precision: 3			
COVER TEST	10.92	0.72±0.24	0.73±0.26	FV: 6ΔF	Exo	NV: 12ΔExo		1 ∆ Exophoria	
MADDOX TEST	Н	FV: 4ΔExo	NV: 3ΔExo	FV: 4ΔF	FV: 4ΔExo		7: 6∆Ехо	- 1 ∆ Exophoria	
	V	FV: 1AH RE	NV: 1AH RE	FV: ORT	ΉO	NV: ORTHO			
PFV	FV:6/0		NV:10/0	FV:20/18		NV:30/20		FV:11/7	NV:19/14
VF (4/14 ∆)	FV:0 cpm		NV:0 cpm	FV:12 cpm		NV:12 cpm		11 cpm	
AF	RE: 4.5 cpm		LE:5 cpm	RE:15 cpm		LE:17 cpm		11 cpm	
AA (Donders)	RE: +5.75 D I		LE: +8.25 D	RE: +16 D		LF: +16.25 D			
NRA/PRA	+2.00 D/-1.50 D			+2.25 D/>-3.00 D			+2.50 D/ -2.50 D		
MEM	+1.25 D BE			+0.75 D BE				+0.75 D	

TABLE 1. Pre-treatment and post-treatment subjective clinical measures and normal range. VA: visual acuity; NPC: near point of convergence; AA: amplitude of accommodation; RE: right eye; LE: left eye; PFV: positive fusional vergence; VF: vergences flexibility; AF: accommodative flexibility; NRA/PRA: negative relative accommodation/positive relative accommodation; MEM: monocular estimation method.

Discussion: Regarding the dysfunction of the fusional vergences, the efficacy of visual therapy as a treatment has scarcely been studied at present, with little scientific evidence to support the results obtained in this clinical case. However, we can find a study by Daum of 34 healthy asymptomatic young adults in which an increase in the range of fusional vergences was demonstrated, performing different visual therapy exercises [1]. Regarding accommodation problems, multiple studies assess the efficacy of TV as a treatment. A randomized clinical trial published in Optometry and Vision Science in November 2011 showed that after 12 weeks of visual therapy treatment, higher values of accommodation amplitudes were obtained, as well as improvement in accommodative flexibility. Finally, regarding oculomotor dysfunctions, we cannot find as many studies that demonstrate the effectiveness of vision therapy as a treatment. But there are clinical cases and trials in which improvement in these abilities is demonstrated after completing vision therapy treatment. Jafarlou et al. analyzed the effectiveness of this treatment as oculomotor rehabilitation in dyslexic children. They found greater control of oculomotor skills and eye movements after treatment. [3].

## References

[1] Daum KM. "A comparison of the results of tonic and phasic vergence training" in Am J Optom Physiol Opt. 1983; 60(9):769-75.

[2] Robb RM. "Practical Pediatric Refraction" in Gallin P. *Pediatric Ophthalmology: A Clinical Guide*, 1st edn, Georg Thieme Verlag, US; 2011. pp. 23-29.

[3] Jafarlou F, Jarollahi F, Ahadi M, Sadeghi-firoozabadi V. Oculomotor rehabilitation in children with dyslexia. 2017; 2017:1-9.

## NUTRARET: Effect of two-year nutraceutical supplementation on redox status and visual function of patients with retinitis pigmentosa: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial

#### LORENA OLIVARES GONZÁLEZ

Pathophysiology and Therapies for Vision Disorders, Principe Felipe Research Center (CIPF), Valencia, Spain

#### DAVID SALOM ALONSO

Department of Ophthalmology, Manises Hospital, Manises, Spain CIBERER, Madrid, Spain

#### EMILIO GONZÁLEZ GARCÍA Department of Neurosciences, Manises Hospital, Manises, Spain

#### DAVID HERVÁS MARÍN

Department of Applied Statistics and Operations Research, and Quality, Polytechnic University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

#### NATALIA MEJÍA CHIQUI

Pathophysiology and Therapies for Vision Disorders, Principe Felipe Research Center (CIPF), Valencia, Spain

#### MAR MELERO MORENO

Service of Endocrinology and Nutrition, University General Hospital, Valencia, Spain

#### SHEYLA VELASCO GOMARIZ

Pathophysiology and Therapies for Vision Disorders, Principe Felipe Research Center (CIPF), Valencia, Spain

#### **BIANCA TABITA MURESAN OLTEAN**

Molecular, Cellular and Genomic Biomedicine, IIS-La Fe, Valencia, Spain

#### ISABEL CAMPILLO NUEVO

Pathophysiology and Therapies for Vision Disorders, Principe Felipe Research Center (CIPF), Valencia, Spain

#### NIEVES VILA CLÉRIGUES EDUARDO LÓPEZ BRIZ

Service of Pharmacy, La Fe University and Polytechnic Hospital, Valencia, Spain

JUAN FRANCISCO MERINO TORRES Service of Endocrinology and Nutrition, University General Hospital, Valencia, Spain

#### JOSÉ MARÍA MILLÁN SALVADOR

Department of Ophthalmology, Manises Hospital, Manises, Spain Molecular, Cellular and Genomic Biomedicine, IIS-La Fe, Valencia, Spain

#### JOSÉ MIGUEL SORIANO DEL CASTILLO

Food & Health Lab, Institute of Materials Science, University of Valencia (UV), Paterna, Valencia, Spain

#### REGINA RODRIGO NICOLÁS

Pathophysiology and Therapies for Vision Disorders, Principe Felipe Research Center (CIPF), Valencia, Spain Department of Ophthalmology, Manises Hospital, Manises, Spain Department of Physiology, University of Valencia (UV), Burjassot, Valencia, Spain

**Aim**: Oxidative stress plays a major role in the pathogenesis of retinitis pigmentosa (RP). The main goal of this study was to evaluate the effect of two-year nutritional intervention with antioxidant nutraceuticals on the visual function of RP patients.



FIGURE 1. Ophthalmological tests conducted with both groups.

**Experimental Methods**: We carried out a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Thirty-one patients with RP between the ages of 20 and 66 (mean:  $51 \pm 2$ , 16 males and 15 females) participated in the study. RP patients randomly received either a mixture of nutraceuticals (NUT) or a placebo daily for two years. At baseline and after two years of the nutritional supplementation, visual function, dietetic-nutritional evaluations, serum concentration of nutraceuticals, plasma and aqueous humour concentration of redox status and inflammation markers were assessed. Retinal function and structure were assessed by multifocal electroretinogram (mfERG), among others (Fig. 1). Nutritional status was estimated with validated questionnaires. Total antioxidant capacity, activity of antioxidant enzymes, protein carbonyl adducts (CAR) content, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) formation, nitrites and cytokine concentration were assessed in aqueous humour or/and blood. Bayesian inference was performed as a means of statistical analysis.

**Results**: At baseline, a high probability of an altered ocular redox status and to a lesser extent systemic redox status was observed in RP patients compared to controls. Twenty-five patients completed the nutritional intervention. After two years of supplementation, patients who received NUT presented better retinal responses (mfERG responses) than patients who received a placebo. Besides, patients who received NUT showed a better ocular antioxidant response (SOD3 activity) and lower oxidative damage (CAR) than those who received a placebo.

**Discussion**: Nutraceuticals are natural compounds with health benefits that can be used to prevent or treat human ocular diseases [1]. We assessed the effect of NUT supplementation on the progression of RP, an inherited retinal degeneration that leads to photoreceptor loss and eventually to blindness [2]. Our findings suggest that NUT improved ocular redox status and slowed down retinal degeneration observed in RP patients [3].

## References

[1] Valero-Vello M, Peris-Martínez C. "Searching for the antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and neuroprotective potential of natural food and nutritional supplements for ocular health in the Mediterranean population" in Foods. (2021) 10:1231. doi: 10.3390/foods10061231.

[2] Portera-Cailliau C, Sung CH, et al. "Apoptotic photoreceptor cell death in mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa" in *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1994) 91:974-8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.3.974.

[3] Olivares-González L, Salom D, et al. "NUTRARET: Effect of 2-Year Nutraceutical Supplementation on Redox Status and Visual Function of Patients with Retinitis Pigmentosa: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial" in Front Nutr. 2022 Mar 21; 9:847910.

# **1.7. SPECIAL POPULATIONS**

# Assessment of saccadic movements in Parkinson's disease patients using the King-Devick test

ALBA HERRERO GRACIA M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA ROSA M.ª HERNÁNDEZ ANDRÉS Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences Department. University of Valencia. C/ Doctor Moliner, 50. 46100 Burjassot, Spain FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, E-46015 Valencia, Spain

**Aim:** To analyse horizontal saccadic movements in Parkinson's disease patients (PD) with the King-Devick (KD) test, comparing with the results of a control group (CS), to determine whether this test is useful in the early diagnosis of these patients.

**Experimental method:** 25 PD (70 $\pm$ 9 years, 14 men, 11 women) and 21 CS (59 $\pm$ 16 years, 8 men, 13 women) were included in a descriptive, observational, prospective, cross-sectional study. Subjects with binocular visual acuity (bVA) with an offset of less than or equal to 0.4 decimal at 3 metres, ocular problems, both binocular and oculomotor, diseases or other variables affecting vision or test performance, such as reading problems, were excluded.

All subjects were subjected to anamnesis, cover test, ocular motility in all gaze positions, bVA with compensation and the KD test at the Parkinson's centre to which they belong.

The data analysed were bVA with compensation, execution times and errors (partial and total) in the KD test and whether the subjects associated head movement during the test. It was tested whether age and gender influence the results.

Mean, standard deviations and normality of the samples were performed with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Statistical comparison between groups was performed with Student's t-test if the data followed a normal distribution or with the Mann-Whitney U test otherwise. The statistical test used for qualitative variables was Pearson's chi-squared test.



FIGURE 1. Comparison of times and errors made in the K-D test between CS (plain) and PD (striped) younger (blue) and older (green) than 60 years of age. The sign '\*' means that p-value <0.05.

**Results**: One EP subject over 60 years of age was excluded because he was unable to perform the K-D test.

In both populations, PD and CS, a dependence of the KD test performance time on age was found (p=0.003 and p=0.004); the older the age, the longer the KD test running time. Test performance was not gender-dependent (p=0.354 and p=0.405) [1].

VA was 23% lower on average in PD, but the difference was only significant at older ages (p=0.004 for those over 60 (19PD, 10CS; under 60: 5PD, 11CS) [2].

Performance time was 52% longer in PD vs. CS ( $81\pm64$  seconds vs.  $53\pm14$  seconds, p=0.005), though from the age of 60 years onwards the differences were not significant due to age-related slowing (Fig. 1) [3].

Although there was a tendency for PD to make more errors than CS (3% vs. 0%), the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.194). Furthermore, they tend to associate greater head movement (25% vs. 10%), but no significant differences were found (p=0.176).

**Discussion:** PD under 60 have longer KD test run times. Assuming that the older the patient, the greater the progression of the disease and the greater the degree of involvement, we can assume that patients under 60 had early stages of the disease. Therefore, the test could be a simple and quick tool to quantify ocular motility in early diagnosis of the disease. However, it would be necessary to carry out studies that separate by level of involvement to confirm this, as well as studies with a larger sample size in each group (under and over 60).

## References

[1] Heick JD, Bay C, Dompier TP, Valovich McLeod TC. "The psychometric properties of the King-Devick test and the influence of age and sex in healthy individuals aged 14 to 24 years" in Athl Train Sports Health Care [Internet]. 2016; 8(5):222-9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3928/19425864-20160509-01.

[2] Jones RD, Donaldson IM, Timmings PL. "Impairment of high-contrast visual acuity in Parkinson's disease" in Mov Disord [Internet]. 1992; 7(3):232-8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1620141/.

[3] Jehangir N, Yu CY, Song J, Shariati MA, Binder S, Beyer J, et al. "Slower saccadic reading in Parkinson's disease" in PLoS One [Internet]. 2018; 13(1): e0191005. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29364897/.

# Retinal vascular tortuosity in glaucoma and diabetic retinopathy: correlation with vessel diameters

## ASMAE IGALLA EL YOUSSFI

JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO

Department of Optics, Faculty of Optics and Optometry UCM, C/ Arcos del Jalón, 118, 28037 Madrid Send correspondence to: asmaeiga@ucm.es

Aim: Examination of the retinal vasculature provides us with much information about the relationship between vascular morphological changes and various systemic diseases that affect the eye and other systems and organs of the human body [1]. Several parameters are included in the changes suffered by the retinal vessels, such as the change in vascular caliber and the tortuosity of the vessels, among others [2]. Our objective is to study the diameters of the retinal blood vessels and their tortuosity, normally not measured, and to establish relationships between the findings in pathological retinas.

**Experimental method:** In this study, 45 retinas classified as healthy retinas, diabetic retinopathy (DR) and glaucoma (15 images in each group) were analyzed. Using the ARIA algorithm described in [3], the diameters of the retinal vessels were calculated. A MATLAB software program was developed to process these da-

ta and obtain the diameters of each detected vessel and calculate its tortuosity [4]. The joint probability distribution of the diameters and tortuosity were then calculated and their correlations between the different groups were analyzed (Pearson correlation R). All the images come from the same database captured with the same retinograph using a Canon CF-60 UVi mydriatic fundus camera [5]. The degree of pathology for each retina was quantified from previous authors' studies on the same images, based on vasculature complexity [6].



FIGURE 1. Mean probability distributions of the diameters and tortuosity.

**Results:** The joint probability density of diameters and tortuosity changes appreciably between healthy and glaucoma retinas, showing a decrease in both mean diameter and tortuosity for glaucoma. The changes are less appreciable for DR (see Figure 1), except in advanced stages. The control group only shows a significant (p<0.05) positive correlation for 13% of the cases (R = 0.20; p =0.0235), increasing to 26% in DR (R = 0.32; p = 0.0012) and 40% in the case of glaucoma (R = 0.22; p = 0.0183).

**Discussion:** It has been shown that there is no great correlation between the diameters of the vessels and tortuosity in healthy retinas, while in the case of pathological retinas such as retinas with DR, it has been observed that as the pathology progresses (moderate-severe NPDR: non-proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy), a positive correlation appears between diameters and tortuosity. In the case of glaucoma, the diameters of the vessels decrease and become less tortuous, thereby establishing a positive correlation between both, more clearly visible. Tortuosity thus appears as an indicator of worsening pathology, appearing more commonly in the case of glaucoma. A possible factor that could affect the conclu-

sions is the duration of the disease when comparing the previous correlations between groups.

### References

[1] Witt N, Wong TY, Hughes AD, Chaturvedi N, Klein BE, Evans R, McNamara M, Thom SAM, & Klein R. "Abnormalities of Retinal Microvascular Structure and Risk of Mortality from Ischemic Heart Disease and Stroke 7" in Hypertension, 2006; 47(5):975-81.

[2] Koh V, Cheung CY, Zheng Y, Wong TY, Wong W, & Aung T. "Relationship of Retinal Vascular Tortuosity with the Neuroretinal Rim: the Singapore Malay Eye Study" in Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2010; 51(7):3736-41.

[3] Bankhead P, Scholfield CN, McGeown JG, & Curtis TM. "Fast retinal vessel detection and measurement using wavelets and edge location. Refinement" in PLoS One, 2012; 7(3):e32435.

[4] Zaki WM, Zulkifley MA, Hussain A, Halim WH, Mustafa NB, & Ting LS. "Diabetic retinopathy assessment: towards an automated system" in Biomed. Signal Process. Control, 2016; 24:72-82.

[5] Budai A, Bock R, Maier A, Hornegger J, & Michelson G. "Robust vessel segmentation in fundus images" in Int J Biomed Imaging, 2013; 2013:154860.

[6] Igalla A, López Alonso JM. "Kull-back leibler distance between fractal dimension distributions: quantification of the pathological relevance of retinal images" in XII Reunion Española de Optoelectrónica, OPTOEL'21, 2021.

# **1.8. VISUAL PERCEPTION AND PROCESSING**

# Analysis of the relationship between subjective measures of the visual function and ocular optical quality parameters in healthy patients

PAULA DAUDÉN OLIVER DAVID P. PIÑERO LLORENS CELIA GARCÍA LLOPIS Department of Optics, Pharmacology and Anatomy, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain

**Aim:** The relationship between subjective measures of the visual function and objective parameters for characterizing the performance of the ocular optical system has been investigated for many years, confirming the variability and complexity of this issue [1]. The aim of this work was to study the correlation of objective aberrometric parameters with distance and near visual acuity and contrast sensitivity function.

**Experimental method:** A prospective cross-sectional non-comparative study was carried out at the Optometric Clinic of the University of Alicante. A total of 68 healthy subjects between the ages of 18 and 60 with no previous ocular pathologies or surgeries were included. All subjects underwent a complete optometric exam, including measurement of uncorrected and corrected distance and near visual acuities, subjective refraction, measurement of distance (CSV1000) and near (Optopad) contrast sensitivity function, as well as the measurement of various ocular variables, including pupillometry and ocular aberrometry, with the VX120 multidiagnostic system (Visionix, Chartres, France). The normality of all the data distributions obtained were first investigated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The correlation between objective and subjective variables was analysed using Pearson's correlation coefficient if the samples were normally distributed, and Spearman's coefficient otherwise. A value of p<0.05 was considered representative of statistical significance.



FIGURE 1. Correlation between CDVA and pupil size in photopic and scotopic conditions. On the left for the right eye and on the right for the left eye.

Results: In the sample analysed, the mean value of the refractive sphere for right and left eyes was -0.77±2.48 D (-7.75 to 5.25 D) and -0.55±2.43 D (-6.00 to 5.25 D), respectively. For the refractive cylinder, the mean values were -0.61±0.82 D (-4.25 to 0.00 D) and -0.62±0.73 D (-3.00 to 0.00 D), respectively. Statistically significant correlations of corrected distance visual acuity (CDVÅ) with the following variables were found, though limited in magnitude: distance contrast sensitivity (DCS) for 12 cycles/° (r=-0.345, p=0.004) and 18 cycles/° (r=-0.393, p<0.001), and scotopic (r=-0.368, p=0.002), mesopic (r=-0.374, p=0.002) and photopic pupil sizes (r=-0.391, p<0.001) for the right eye sample and CDVA with: DCS for 18cycles/° (r=-0.409, p=0.001), scotopic (r=-0.518, p<0.001), mesopic (r=-0.422, p<0.001) and photopic pupil diameters (r=-0.358, p=0.003) for the left eye sample. No significant correlations were detected between higher order aberrometric parameters and measures of visual function for the right eye sample (p>0.05), except for the correlation between ocular trefoil root mean square (RMS) (5 mm) and DCS for 18 cycles/ $^{\circ}$  (r=-0.296, p=0.015) for the right eye sample and the correlation between trefoil RMS (5 mm) and near contrast sensitivity (NCS) for 1.5 cycles/° (r=-0.296, p=0.015) for the left eye sample.

**Discussion:** According to the results obtained, there is no obvious relationship between the subjective parameters for measuring visual function and higher order aberrometric parameters in patients with healthy eyes and without surgery [2]. On the other hand, there is some level of correlation between subjective measures of visual function and pupil size. It should be considered that the system used for measuring pupil size performs the measurement first in the left eye,
inducing a miosis, prior to the measurement of the right eye. This condition may have affected the results obtained (Figure 1).

**Acknowledgements:** This work was supported by the "Generalitat Valenciana" of Spain (project AICO/2021/130).

#### References

[1] Wang, L., & Koch, D. D. (2003). "Ocular higher-order aberrations in individuals screened for refractive surgery" in *Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery*, 29(10), 1896-1903.

[2] Zhao, P. F., Li, S. M., Lu, J., Song, H. M., Zhang, J., Zhou, Y. H., Wang, N. L. (2017). "Effects of higher-order aberrations on contrast sensitivity in normal eyes of a large myopic population" in *International Journal of Ophthalmology*, 10(9), 1407-1411.

### Perceptual scores of image quality at far distance through simulated bifocal corrections: addition and energy balance implications

#### EDUARDO ESTEBAN-IBAÑEZ

Institute of Optics, Spanish National Research Council (IO-CSIC); Madrid, Spain 2EyesVision SL; Tres Cantos, Madrid

#### ENRIQUE GAMBRA YASSINE MARRAKCHI LUCIE SAWIDES 2EyesVision SL; Tres Cantos, Madrid

#### CARLOS DORRONSORO

Institute of Optics, Spanish National Research Council (IO-CSIC); Madrid, Spain 2EyesVision SL; Tres Cantos, Madrid

**Aim:** The main aim of this article is to study the effect of different amounts of addition and the energy balance between far and near vision of simulated bifocal corrections on perceived image quality at far vision reported by non-presbyopic observers with their refraction corrected.

**Experimental method:** Using a scaling psychophysical procedure, seven non-presbyopic subjects judged the perceived image quality through 15 bifocal corrections: five different amounts of addition (0.25, 0.50, 0.75, 1.50 and 3.00D), each with three energy balance distributions between far (F) and near (N) vision (70F/30N, 50F/50N and 30F/70N). Six monofocal corrections (0.00, 0.25, 0.50, 0.75, 1.50 and 3.00D) were also evaluated. All the corrections were simulated monocularly using SimVis Gekko (2EyesVision SL) [1], a programmable seethrough visual simulator, while the subject viewed a 4K-60Hz natural color video sequence of walking people displayed on a TV screen four metres away, with an angular subtense of 13.09° x 7.45°. At the beginning of the measurement session, observers were shown the Sharp (0.00D) and fully Blur (3.00D) conditions, corresponding to the 10 and 0 extremes, respectively, on a Perceptual Score (PS) scale. Each trial started with an initial adaptation state of 3.00D Blur lasting 10 seconds followed by the abrupt introduction of a correction (bifocal/monofocal). Observers adapted for six seconds to the simulated correction and had a further two seconds to score the perceived image quality using the PS scale. Each condition (adaptation + bifocal/monofocal correction transition) was repeated three times in a randomized order. The average score was used to obtain the near bifocal perceptual benefit and the far bifocal perceptual cost for each correction. The near bifocal perceptual benefit was calculated as the difference between the near PS for each correction and the corresponding monofocal correction for the same addition, while the far bifocal perceptual cost was obtained by subtracting the far PS for each correction from 10.



FIGURE 1. A) Perceptual Scores through simulated corrections with different amount of addition and energy balance: average across subjects and standard deviation. B) Perceptual compromise for each correction evaluated: near bifocal perceptual benefit vs far bifocal perceptual cost.

**Results:** Perceptual judgements revealed that PS decreases as the percentage of energy at near vision and the amount of addition increases (Fig.1A). PS drops linearly from 10 to 0.48 for pure defocus monofocal corrections ( $\rho$ =-0.99; p-val-ue<0.01). Similarly, corrections with 3.00D of addition also showed a linear behavior for different energy distributions between far and near vision ( $\rho$ =0.98; p-value<0.01). However, for bifocal corrections with equal energy balance between far and near vision, the PS are sustained as the addition increases, ending up, for 3.00D of addition, at 8.10 (SD: ± 0.66) Perceptual Points (PP) for 70F/30N ( $\rho$ =-0.91; p-value<0.05), 5.81 ± 1.05 PP for 50F/50N ( $\rho$ =-0.92; p-value<0.05) and 2.62 ± 1.66 PP for 30F/70N ( $\rho$ =-0.98; p-value<0.01). Finally, the perceptual compromise (Fig.1B) showed a linear dependence between the bifocal perceptual benefit and cost for most of the corrections evaluated ( $\rho$ =0.96; p-value<0.01).

**Discussion:** Perceived image quality through different simulated corrections exhibited a linear degradation for pure defocus produced by monofocal lenses. In contrast, bifocal corrections showed stronger perceptual degradation for small addition values up to 0.75D and increased resistance to such degradation for higher addition values, according to their far/near energy distribution. This can be explained by the interactions between the focused peak (far vision) and the background (near vision) of the PSF, already reported by Radhakrishnan et al [2], generating a greater degradation when the defocus between them is smaller, corresponding to low additions.

#### References

[1] Dorronsoro C, Radhakrishnan A, Alonso-Sanz JR, Pascual D, Velasco-Ocana M, Perez-Merino P et al. "Portable simultaneous vision device to simulate multi-focal correction" in Optica. 2016; 3(8): 918-924.

[2] Radhakrishnan A, Dorronsoro C, Sawides L, Marcos S. "Short-term neural adaptation to simultaneous bifocal images" in PLoS One. 2014; 9(3).

### Visual system and visuomotor skills: review and study proposal

PILAR GRANADOS DELGADO JOSÉ JUAN CASTRO TORRES MIRIAM CASARES LÓPEZ

Laboratory of Vision Sciences and Applications. Department of Optics. University of Granada. Granada, Spain

**Aim:** To study the relationship between contrast sensitivity function (monocular and binocular) and the performance of fine motor skills through a manual dexterity test.

**Experimental method:** First, a review of the literature was carried out through the "Web of Science" (WOS) database using the keywords: "visuomotor skills", "binocular vision" and "fine motor skills". The aim was to determine the visual parameters that have been analyzed in previous studies in terms of the relationship between binocular visual function (stereopsis, binocular summation, optical or visual quality, vergences and accommodation) and the execution of tasks involving fine motor skills (execution time, precision and dexterity in the performance of certain manual dexterity tests). Then, an experiment was carried out including nine participants with normal binocular vision and binocular visual acuity (VA) greater than or equal to one. Directional ocular dominance was determined. Contrast sensitivity (CS) was measured using an OptoTab® test (SmarThings4Vision), which comprises sinusoidal grids for which the observers had to recognize and indicate whether the grid inclination was to the right, the left or vertical. Different contrast sensitivity levels were assessed in this test, at five different spatial frequencies: 1.5, 3, 6, 12 and 18 cycles per degree (cpd) of visual angle. To assess fine motor skills, a Purdue Pegboard test was performed, using both hands simultaneously under three viewing conditions: dominant eye, non-dominant eye and binocular.

**Results:** Regarding the 17 selected articles, the experiments had been carried out with children and, to a lesser extent, with adults. Generally, it was reported that the absence of binocular vision had a negative effect on reaching and picking up objects, since, under monocular conditions, times increase, and a greater number of errors appear in executing the task [1-3]. One of the most recent studies found that a higher maximum reach speed was associated with better

vergence function. Lower stereoacuity thresholds were associated with shorter grasp duration and better accommodative function was associated with shorter placement duration [2]. The visual function parameters measured in these experimental studies were analyzed. However, in this analysis, no studies were found that looked at contrast sensitivity function and at performing tasks requiring fine motor skills. We have found little consensus related to the tasks performed. Therefore, we carried out our experimental study and obtained a significantly positive correlation between the near CSF and the number of pegs inserted in the Purdue Pegboard test in the three observation conditions [r= 0.778 p= 0.001] (Figure 1).



FIGURE 1. Correlation between CSF and Purdue Pegboard task.

**Discussion:** According to the studies analyzed, we concluded that visual functions (stereopsis, vergences and accommodation) are related to fine motor skills, though the relationship between them is still under investigation. By proposing an analysis of the relationship and involvement of other visual function characteristics (specifically CSF) in a standardized task that involves fine motor skills (Purdue Pegboard test), a statistically significant positive relationship has been obtained. In other words, better CS values have been related to improved task performance.

#### References

[1] Rafique SA, Northway N. "Relationship of ocular accommodation and motor skills performance in developmental coordination disorder" in *Human Movement Science*. 2015; 42:1-14.

[2] Niechwiej-Szwedo E, Thai G, Christian L. "Contribution of stereopsis, vergence, and accommodative function to the performance of a precision grasping and placement task in typically developing children age 8-14 years" in *Human Movement Science*. 2020; 72:10.

[3] Alramis F, Roy E, Christian L, Niechwiej-Szwedo E. "Contribution of binocular vision to the performance of complex manipulation tasks in 5-13 years old visually-normal children" in *Human Movement Science*. 2016; 46:52-62.

### **1.9. OTHER OPTOMETRY-RELATED TOPICS**

# Assessment of reading speed and visual fatigue with different types of controlled lighting

JORGE BERGES CARDENAL ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza,50009 Zaragoza, Spain

**Aim:** To assess reading speed and objective visual discomfort through the use of the eye-tracker and the aberrometer in distinct ambient lighting conditions and luminances of two different types of electronic screens.

Experimental method: This study was carried out on 24 young subjects, with a mean age of 22.9±2.3 years (18-33) and a mean spherical equivalent refractive error of -0.75±1.50 D, who read for 5 minutes on an e-book and on an iPad in maximum and minimum lighting conditions, while being monitored with an eye-tracker. The evaluated conditions included high ambient illuminance level (945.65 lx) with maximum luminance on the iPad (Imax) and e-book reader (Emax) [484.01 cd/m2 and 79.60 cd/m2]; and low ambient illuminance level (4.38 lux) with minimum luminance on the iPad (Imin) and the e-book reader (Emin) [1.56 cd/m2 and 0.14 cd/m2]. Aberrometry was performed before and after each reading; after performing the task, subjects were asked to answer a question about visual comfort. Aberrometry was used to find the evaluated situations in which there was greater discomfort and see if the five minutes of reading were enough for that fatigue to appear visual. Measurements of pupil diameter, fixations, saccades and blinks were taken by the eye-tracker, as well as values of total, high order and low order aberrations by the aberrometer. A statistical analysis was performed of the data obtained. The measurements were entered in a Microsoft Office Excel spreadsheet and were analyzed with the Statistical Package for Social Sciences.

**Results:** Eye-tracker data revealed a higher number of saccadic eye movements with statistically significant differences (p<0.05) under minimum and maximum luminances; for the iPad under minimum luminance 841.30±799.61 movements and under maximum luminance 999.18±282.54 movements (p=0.016), and for the e-book reader under minimum luminance 610.85±320.72 movements and under maximum luminance 940.26±218.18 movements (p=0.002). In addition, the length of saccades was also higher for the lower luminance level; these values were 6.2±2.8 mm (Emax), 8.2±4.2 mm (Emin), 6.8±2.9 mm (Imax) and 7.6±3.6 mm (Imin). The pupil diameter and the blinking rate increased significantly for lower lighting conditions for both devices. The pupil diameter for the iPad under minimum luminance was 5.52±0.79 mm and under maximum luminance was 2.74±0.35 mm, and for the e-book reader under minimum luminance was 5.46±0.74 mm and under maximum luminance was 2.86±0.43 mm. Additionally, aberrometric analysis indicated differences in high-order aberrations between post-reading situations, although the differences were not statistically significant compared to the initial state, showing visual recovery of the ocular system. The two devices presented greater visual discomfort when reading in conditions of both low luminance and ambient illuminance. This was measured through a questionnaire completed by the participants.

**Discussion:** Reading speed and visual discomfort caused by using electronic screens can be objectively evaluated with an eye-tracker and aberrometer. Lighting control is essential to minimizing those aspects and promoting subjective visual comfort while reading. [1-9].

#### References

[1] Benedetto S, Drai-Zerbib V, Pedrotti M, Tissier G, Baccino T. "E-readers and visual fatigue" in PLoS One 2013; 8(12):e83676.

[2] Yu H, Akita T. "Influence of ambient-tablet PC luminance ratio on legibility and visual fatigue during long-term reading in low lighting environment" in Displays. 2020; 62(101943):101943.

[3] Ripoll Salceda JC, Tapia Montesinos MM, Aguado Alonso G. "Velocidad lectora en alumnado hispanohablante: un metaanálisis" in Rev psicodidáct. 2020; 25(2):158-65.

[4] Shieh K-K, Lin C-C. "Effects of screen type, ambient illumination, and color combination on VDT visual performance and subjective preference" in Int J Ind Ergon. 2000; 26(5):527-36.

[5] Lee D-S, Ko Y-H, Shen I-H, Chao C-Y. "Effect of light source, ambient illumination, character size and interline spacing on visual performance and visual fatigue with electronic paper displays" in Displays. 2011; 32(1):1-7.

[6] Huang H-P, Wei M, Li H-C, Ou L-C. "Visual comfort of tablet devices under a wide range of ambient light levels" in Appl Sci (Basel). 2021; 11(18):8679.

[7] Najmee A, Chen A-H, Rosli SA, Azni N. "Comparison of accommodation microfluctuations before and after 5 minutes near digital reading in the dark with Night Shift Mode" in Environ Behav Proc J. 2020; 5(SI3):251-4.

[8] Fukuda K, Stern JA, Brown TB, Russo MB. "Cognition, blinks, eye movements, and pupillary movements during performance of a running memory task" in Aviation, Space and Environmental Medicine. 2005; 76: 75-85.

[9] Rosenfield M. "Computer vision syndrome: a review of ocular causes and potential treatments" in Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics. 2011; 31: 502-515.

## Influence of author's gender on peer-review timing in vision science publications

#### MARTA JIMÉNEZ-GARCÍA

Aragon Institute for Health Research, Zaragoza, Spain Dpt. Ophthalmology, Antwerp University Hospital (UZA), Belgium Dpt. Medicine and Health Science, University of Antwerp, Belgium

#### ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA

Ophthalmology Mediterranean Foundation (FOM). Valencia. Spain Dpt. Optics, Optometry and Vision Science, University of Valencia, Spain

#### JOS ROZEMA

Dpt. Ophthalmology, Antwerp University Hospital (UZA), Belgium Dpt. Medicine and Health Science, University of Antwerp, Belgium

**Aim:** When analysing the causes of female underrepresentation in science, it has been suggested that "society is trying to solve problems of the past that are no longer currently valid".[1] However, recent evidence seems to prove otherwise. Thus, our purpose was to investigate if a gender gap exists in first/last authorships in vision science publications and whether author's gender plays a role in manuscript review times. In the end, whilst female ophthalmologists and first author female (FAF) publications grew in parallel from 1960 to 2009, last author

female (LAF) publications increased more slowly and, a decade later, articles with female key authors are less cited than their male counterparts [2, 3]. Moreover, men win a greater proportion of awards [4] and women are given fewer opportunities to gain surgical competence during ophthalmological training. [5].



Women Contribution as first/last authors by Country (TOP 35)

FIGURE 1. Female contributions as first/last author per country.

**Experimental method:** We conducted an observational retrospective database study. The data were derived from Q1-Q2 'Ophthalmology' journals for 2016-2020. First/last author's gender and country were assigned to PubMed records (N=30438). Using mixed models that considered the publication origin as a confounding factor, the influence of FAF and LAF were evaluated on the manuscripts' review timeline. This analysis was performed globally and in predefined subgroups (English names, Asian names, specific topics). Additionally, the gender gap was explored by country, journal and research topic. **Results:** The percentages of FAF/LAF were unevenly distributed by country, with only four countries having reached parity in both first and last authorships (Figure 1). In the top 30 ophthalmology journals, FAF accounted for  $40.0\pm6.7\%$  of the publications while LAF accounted for  $27.1\pm4.9\%$ .

Overall, FAF/LAF papers took significantly longer to get reviewed (up to +10 days) and accepted (+5 days). These differences persisted when only publications from authors with English names – easily recognizable worldwide – were considered, but not for Asian names. Delays >1 month to get a manuscript published were found for FAF in three of four topics analyzed (e.g., amblyopia or refractive surgery).

**Discussion:** Significant differences were found in both review and acceptance times for FAF or LAF papers. The causes for this are likely multifactorial and could be explained by a combination of gender bias and by women's concerns with being held to higher standards, as previously documented, thereby perhaps delaying reviewers' rebuttals. Increased awareness of this source of potential bias may assist in the implementation of preventive and corrective measures.

#### References

[1] Ceci SJ, Williams WM. "Understanding current causes of women's underrepresentation in science" in Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2011; 108(8):3157-62.

[2] Kramer PW, Kohnen T, Groneberg DA, Bendels MHK. "Sex Disparities in Ophthalmic Research" in JAMA Ophthalmol. 2019 Nov 1; 137(11):1223.

[3] Bendels MHK, Müller R, Brueggmann D, Groneberg DA. "Gender disparities in high-quality research revealed by nature index journals" in PLoS One. 2018; 13(1):1-21.

[4] Lincoln AE, Pincus S, Koster JB, Leboy PS. "The Matilda Effect in science: Awards and prizes in the US, 1990s and 2000s" in Soc Stud Sci. 2012; 42(2):307-20.

[5] Gong D, Winn BJ, Beal CJ, Blomquist PH, Chen RW, Culican SM, et al. "Gender Differences in Case Volume among Ophthalmology Residents" in JA-MA Ophthalmol. 2019; 137(9):1015-20.

## POSTER COMMUNICATIONS

## 2.1. ANTERIOR SEGMENT

# Effect on quality of life associated with the state of the ocular surface due to mask use

MARTA SANCHO LARRAZ ALEJANDRO BLASCO MARTÍNEZ JOSÉ MANUEL LARROSA POVÉS University of Zaragoza

**Aim:** The aim of this study was to evaluate the symptomatology compatible with dry eye in patients who wear a mask, Mask-Associated Dry Eye Syndrome (MADE syndrome), by comparing the subjective measured variables (questionnaires) and objective variables (ocular surface parameters) among patients without a mask, patients with a mask and patients with a mask and cataract surgery. It was also decided to study some psychological symptoms in patients who wear masks and compare them with patients who do not use masks.

**Experimental method:** All subjects were men and women over the age of 18. All subjects with pathologies with ophthalmic repercussion, with some alteration of the ocular surface or with topical eye treatment other than artificial tears were excluded. The population was divided into three groups:

- Healthy group without mask (64 subjects): patients in this group were removed from a previous study done in 2018. Patients associated with any kind of eye surgery were excluded.
- Group with mask without surgery (58 subjects): The patient must have worn the mask for at least three hours per day during the two weeks preceding the data collection and for one hour prior to the examination. Patients associated with any kind of eye surgery were excluded.
- Group with mask having had cataract surgery a month before (36 subjects): The patient must have worn the mask for at least three hours per

day for two weeks preceding the data collection and for one hour prior to the examination. Patients associated with eye surgery other than cataracts were excluded.

The tests performed can be divided into two parts depending on whether they study the symptoms perceived by each patient or the signs presented. To begin with, all patients were asked three demographic questions, followed by three questionnaires to carry out the symptomatic study (CLDEQ-8 test adapted to the use of a mask, OSDI and SANDE) and a questionnaire to evaluate the psychological state of the individuals (BSI test) (see Table 1).

Finally, to achieve a more objective study, typical signs of dry eye disease such as tear meniscus height or NIBUT were evaluated with a Keratograhp 5M.

-							
	Healthy			Mask			
Parameter	Min	Max	X ± SD	Min	Max	X ± SD	p-value
Sande [mm]	1	25,00	7,09 ± 6,42	0	88,50	22,04 ± 23,48	<0,01
Meniscus [mm]	0,14	0,57	0,27 ± 0,10	0,13	1,13	0,35 ± 0,17	<0,01
NIBUT [s]	3,31	24,92	17,05 ± 6,74	3,57	25,05	18,64 ± 7,50	<0,05
Redness	0,30	2,00	0,82 ± 0,38	0,10	1,60	0,83 ± 0,42	0,76
Depresion [%]	0	29,20	6,58 ± 7,91	0	91,70	21,68 ± 22,21	<0,01
	Mask			Mask + Surgery			
Parameter	Min	Max	X ± SD	Min	Max	X ± SD	p-value
Sande [mm]	0	88,50	17,54 ± 22,56	0	57,45	17,02 ± 16,25	0,60
Meniscus [mm]	0,13	1,13	0,39 ± 0,18	0,17	1,46	0,48 ± 0,28	0,28
NIBUT [s]	3,57	25,05	16,51 ± 8,23	1,15	25,02	16,51 ± 8,23	0,86
Redness	0,20	2,50	1,08 ± 0,46	0,50	2,50	1,27 ± 0,51	0,10
Depresion [%]	0	45,80	12,94 ± 12,87	0	45,80	12,50 ± 13,48	0,76
	Healthy			Mask + Surgery			
Parameter	Min	Max	X ± SD	Min	Max	X ± SD	p-value
Sande [mm]	1	25	$7,09 \pm 6,42$	0	57,45	17,58 ± 17,09	<0,05
Meniscus[mm]	0,14	0,57	0,27 ± 0,10	0,22	1,18	$0,46 \pm 0,24$	<0,01
NIBUT [s]	3,31	24,92	17,05 ± 6,74	2,55	25,02	18,08 ± 8,54	0,29
Redness	0,30	2,00	0,82 ± 0,38	0,50	2,50	1,20 ± 0,51	<0,01
Depresion [%]	0	29,20	6,58 ± 7,91	0	45,80	13,58 ± 14,54	0,10

TABLE 1. Study results. Min: minimum; Max: maximum; X SD: mean and standard deviation; P-value: results of p-value; Sande: results of SANDE test; Meniscus: meniscus height; NIBUT: Non-Invasive Break Up Time; Redness: ocular redness; Depression: rate of depression.

**Results:** Statistically significant differences were observed in the SANDE test (p-value<0.01), in the height of the lacrimal meniscus (p-value<0.01) and in the NIBUT (p-value<0.05) when comparing the group of healthy individuals with the group of mask-wearers without cataract surgery. An increase in the rate of depression (p-value<0.01) was also observed in the group of mask wearers compared to that of non-wearers.

When comparing the group of healthy individuals with the group of mask-wearers with cataract surgery, significant differences were obtained (p-value<0.01) in the SANDE test, in the tear meniscus height and in ocular redness.

No statistically significant results were observed when comparing both groups of mask-wearers.

**Discussion:** The symptomatological tests suggest that the use of masks has increased symptoms similar to those observed in dry eye disease respect to the non-use of masks, confirming MADE syndrome. The same was found in a study conducted through the software program Google Forms (Borcardo L, 2022).

On the other hand, objective tests show an increase in the height of the lacrimal meniscus and NIBUT in the group of mask-wearers, contrary to what is found in a study conducted in Madrid (Arriola-Villalobos P, 2021). However, this increase is not considered beneficial due to the presence of eye discomfort and ocular redness.

The increase in the rate of depression in the group of mask-wearers over that of non-wearers could be explained by the situation experienced throughout the confinement.

## Changes in the corneal endothelium after cataract surgery

NELA MARTINA MONEO COLL ANABEL MARTÍNEZ-ESPERT WALTER D. FURLAN Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Burjassot 46100, Spain

**Aim:** This study analyzes changes in corneal thickness and the density and shape of endothelial cells in patients after undergoing cataract surgery.

**Experimental method:** Corneal central thickness, cell density and the percentage of cells with a different number of sides before and after surgery were analyzed with an endothelial microscope (Perseus, CSO, Florence, Italy) in 20 eyes belonging to 20 patients. Data was obtained from the Aiken Ophthamological Clinic database. Normality tests were performed with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Statically significant differences between pre-surgical and post-surgical values

			Mean ± SD	Median	Maximum	Minimum	Shapir o-Wilk	p-value	
Corneal Pre		Pre	550±40	558,50	469,00	628,00	0,819		
thickness (μm)		Post	550±40	548,50	464,00	631,00	0,996	0,335	
Numbers of cells		Pre	2400±300	2395,00	1994,00	2913,00	0,506		
		Post	2100±400	2055,00	1342,00	2731,00	0,773	<0,001*	
% of cells	4	Pre	1,1±0,8	1,00	0,00	3,00	0,007		
		Post	0,60±0,9	0,00	0,00	3,00	<0,001	0,150	
	5	Pre	25±4	26,00	18,00	34,00	0,735		
		Post	23±4	23,00	15,00	28,00	0,193	0,006*	
	6	Pre	54±7	54,50	40,00	65,00	0,512		
		Post	58±6	58,00	49,00	71,00	0,558	0,022*	
	7	Pre	18±3	17,00	12,00	23,00	0,394		
		Post	17±3	17,00	12,00	21,00	0,400	0,322	
	8	Pre	1,8±1,5	2,00	0,00	6,00	0,003		
		Post	2,0±1,5	2,00	0,00	6,00	0,016	0,524	
	>	Pre	0,2±0,5	0,00	0,00	2,00	<0,001		
	8	Post	0,2±0,4	0,00	0,00	1,00	<0,001	1,00	

were assessed with a T-test for related samples (parametric statistics) and the Wilcoxon signed-ranks test (non-parametric statistics).

\*The numbers 4,5,6,7 and 8 represent the number of sides of the cells

FIGURE 1. Corneal endothelium parameters before and after cataract surgery.

**Results:** Table 1 shows the results obtained. There were no changes in corneal thickness after the intervention. A significant decrease in endothelial cell density and variations in cell morphology have been observed.

**Discussion:** Results obtained from this analysis in terms of corneal thickness and cell density are consistent with the published literature, which indicates that in healthy adults the corneal thickness is 540 µm and normal values of the cell density is 2400 cells/mm [1-3]. However, data from pleomorphism are in disagreement with current scientific evidence, which shows that the percentage of hexagonal cells decreases (pleomorphism) and increases the coefficient of variation of cell size [4]. This discrepancy may be due to the small number of patients in the sample.

#### References

[1] Almaguer M, et al. "Morfología y morfometría del endotelio corneal" in Revista Cubana de Oftalmología, 2015; 28 (4):366-373.

[2] Dzhaber D, Mustafa O, et al. "Comparison of changes in corneal endothelial cell density and central corneal thickness between conventional and femtosecond laser platforms and assisted cataract surgery: a randomised, controlled clinical trial" in British Journal of Ophthalmology, 2020; 104(2):225-229.

[3] Eghrari, Allen O.; Riazuddin, S. Amer; Gottsch, John D. "Overview of the cornea structure, function, and development" in Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science, 2015; 134:7-23.

[4] Krarup T, Therese R, et al. "Comparison of refractive predictability and endothelial cell loss in femtosecond laser-assisted cataract surgery and conventional phaco surgery: prospective randomised trial with 6 months of follow-up" in BMJ Open Ophthalmology, 2019; 4(1).

## **Corneal manifestations in systemic diseases:** a case report

#### SALVADOR CORS FERRANDO

FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, 46015 Valencia, Spain

#### ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA

Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences. University of Valencia. C/ Doctor Moliner, 50. 46100 Burjassot-Valencia, Spain FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, 46015 Valencia, Spain

MARÍA JOSÉ ROIG REVERT ELSA GÓMEZ DOMINGO FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, 46015 Valencia, Spain

#### CRISTINA PERIS MARTÍNEZ

FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, 46015 Valencia, Spain Surgery Department, Ophthalmology, School of Medicine, University of Valencia, Av. Blasco Ibáñez, 15, 46010 Valencia, Spain

**Aim:** To spotlight the importance of gaining a careful anamnesis and performing an eye examination because ocular manifestations could be the first sign in systemic collagen vascular diseases [1].

**Experimental method:** A 26-year-old man came to the ophthalmology clinic with painless superior corneal melting in his left eye. He referred to a foreign body associated with eye watering that had started eight days before. In the emergency room, he was diagnosed with corneal perforation, which was treated with contact lens. When the patient arrived at our service, he did not present corneal perforation, though he did present severe stromal melting [2].

He had no previous systemic or ocular diseases but a positive family history of rheumatoid arthritis.

The optometric evaluation indicated spontaneous visual acuity (VA) of 20/50 and best corrected VA of 20/25 with  $125^{\circ}$  –5.0 cyl; +1.0 sph. and an intraocular pressure (IOP) of 11mmHg in the damaged eye.

We also did an eye exam with slit lamp and an anterior segment optical coherence tomography (AS-OCT) (Figures 1 and 2).



FIGURE 1. Corneal picture of the left eye gets with slit lamp (Topcon).



FIGURE 2. Corneal section of the left eye gets with AS (Casia).

**Results:** The AS-OCT highlighted corneal melting compatible with some clinical entities, such as Terrien's marginal degeneration, Mooren's ulcer or peripheral ulcerative keratitis (PUK). PUK is a rare but serious inflammatory condition that affects the juxtalimbal cornea and is characterized by sectorial thinning of the affected area. The treatment usually consists of a combination of topical steroids, antibiotics and surgical therapy with conjunctival flap to promote healing [3].

**Discussion:** Systemic diseases affecting the cornea have a wide range of manifestations. In some cases, it may be the first sign of the disease. PUK presents with epithelial defect and stromal lysis. The underlying cause could be local or systemic, infectious or noninfectious.

The most serious ocular complication is a corneal perforation that results in a poor visual outcome despite treatment. It is also associated with a 50% risk of mortality over a 10-year period in untreated patients. [4] The etiology of PUK must undergo a detailed personal and family history to reveal underlying collagen vascular disease and other autoimmune diseases. Symptoms, signs, biomarkers and other examinations are an important part of the differential diagnosis, which is crucial to reducing mortality and systemic and ocular morbidities.

#### References

[1] Cao, Y, Zhang, W, Wu, J, Zhang, H, Zhou, H. "Peripheral ulcerative keratitis associated with autoimmune disease: pathogenesis and treatment" in Journal of Ophthalmology 2017; vol. 2017.

[2] Fu L, Jones S. Peripheral Ulcerative Keratitis. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL) 2021.

[3] Timlin HM, Hall HN, Foot B, Koay P. "Corneal perforation from peripheral ulcerative keratopathy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: epidemiological findings of the British Ophthalmological Surveillance Unit" in Br J Ophthalmol. 2018 Sep; 102(9):1298-1302.

[4] FFoster, C. S, Forstot, S. L, & Wilson, L. A. "Mortality rate in rheumatoid arthritis patients developing necrotizing scleritis or peripheral ulcerative keratitis: effects of systemic immunosuppression" in Ophthalmology 1984;91(10):1253-1263.

### **Effects of computer use on blinking kinematics**

CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES JOSÉ JUAN ESTEVE TABOADA VICENT SANCHIS JURADO ÁLVARO M. PONS SANTIAGO GARCÍA-LÁZARO University of Valencia. Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Science. C/ Doctor Moliner 50, 46100 Burjassot, Valencia

**Aim:** This study aims to assess and compare the differences in blinking kinematics while reading on a computer with and without artificial tear instillation and a non-device control condition.

**Experimental method:** Thirty-two healthy subjects (12 men and 20 women) between 20 and 26 years old ( $22.5 \pm 1.6$  years old) participated in this prospective clinical study. Participants' blinking was recorded while reading on a com-



FIGURE 1. Diagram representing the configuration of the high-speed visual eye-tracker.

puter placed 60 cm in front of them, under normal conditions and after initial instillation of artificial tears (Aquamax<sup>®</sup>, Tiedra SL, Alcorcón-Madrid) and during a non-device control condition in which participants directed their gaze at a fixed target located three meters in front of them at eye level. The computer used in the study was a MacBook Pro laptop (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA) with a 13-inch screen, a resolution of 227 pixels per inch, a refresh rate of 60 Hz and a contrast ratio of 1350:1. The text displayed was Georgia font with black letters on a white background (left-justified) with an angular size for 0.15 logMAR visual acuity and an angular page width of 25°. Blinks were recorded during the last 150 seconds of the task (minutes 12.5 to 15), without the subjects being aware of it, using an eye tracking device (Cambridge Research Systems Ltd) based on a high-speed infrared camera (250 fps). Due to the configuration of the device, the image of the eye was reflected on an infrared mirror without interfering with the observer's line of sight, simulating natural viewing conditions (Figure 1). Image files were automatically analyzed using a set of self-developed tools for Matlab R2018a (Mathworks, Natick MA, USA) to obtain a detailed and non-invasive description of the blinking pattern. The results were evaluated using SPSS software v.26 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The normality of data was assessed by using the Shapiro-Wilk test. When normality could be assumed, a repeated measures ANOVA was used to examine the statistical significance of the blink kinematic variables for the three task conditions. Mauchly's test was used to evaluate the assumption of sphericity. If sphericity could not be assumed, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. Whenever the repeated

measures ANOVA pointed to a statistical significance, post-hoc pairwise comparisons were carried out using the Bonferroni correction. The non-parametric Friedman test for repeated measures with Dunn-Bonferroni post-hoc analysis was used when parametric test assumptions were not fulfilled. P-values of < 0.05were considered statistically significant.

Results: Blink frequency (total number of blinks in one minute) significantly decreased during computer reading with (mean = 10.7 blinks/min) and without the instillation of artificial tears (mean = 9.8 blinks/min) compared to the control condition (mean = 20.4 blinks/min) (p < 0.01). Conversely, the percentage of incomplete blinks increased significantly during computer use (mean = 53.9%), compared to the control condition (mean = 38.9%) (p = 0.02), but not when using the device after the instillation of artificial tears (mean = 47.4%) (p = 0.08). Blink opening and closing amplitudes were significantly lower during computer use (mean = 4.3 mm) regardless of artificial tear instillation (mean = 4.3 mm) compared to the control measure (mean = 5.4 mm) (p < 0.01 for both). On the contrary, the closing time was significantly longer when reading on the computer after the instillation of artificial tears (mean = 50.3 ms) compared to conventional reading (mean = 38.9 ms) and the control condition (mean = 41.6 ms) (p < 0.01 and p = 0.01, respectively), while the opening time did not vary significantly between conditions (mean = 185.0 ms for control, mean = 158.8 ms for computer and mean = 162.0 ms for computer and artificial tears) (p = 0.07). Finally, a lower closing speed was obtained when reading on the computer after artificial tear instillation (mean = 103.6 mm/s) compared to the remaining conditions (mean = 141.2 mm/s for the control and mean = 118.6 mm/s for the computer) (p < 0.01 for the control and p = 0.02 for the computer without artificial tears), while opening speed remained unvaried (mean = 39.8 mm/s for control, mean = 37.5 mm/s for computer and mean = 34.8 mm/s for computer and artificial tears) (p = 0.82).

**Discussion:** Blinking kinematics varied considerably when using the computer, these differences being likely attributable to the way the device was positioned and the cognitive demand of the task. Artificial tear instillation prevented an increase in the percentage of incomplete blinks when using the computer, while leading to slower blink closure.

# Face mask-associated ocular manifestations during the Covid-19 pandemic: a systematic review

#### SARA MARQUINA MARTÍN, MSC

Faculty of Physics, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain Health Service of Aragon, Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

#### JORGE ANDRÉS NAVARRO, MsC

Health Service of Aragon, Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain Faculty of Optics and Optometry, University of Murcia, Murcia, Spain

#### CRISTINA PERIS MARTÍNEZ, MD, PhD

FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Valencia, Spain Surgery Department, Ophthalmology, School of Medicine, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain Aviñó-Peris Ophthalmological Clinic, Valencia, Spain

#### LETICIA ORTEGA-EVANGELIO, MD, PhD, FEBO FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Valencia, Spain Baviera Clinic, Valencia, Spain

Aim: During the COVID-19 global pandemic, prolonged face mask use was one of the mains recommendations to prevent the infection. Thus, it would be interesting to systematically evaluate if there is a strong association between face mask use and ocular pathologies related to the eyelids and ocular surface.

**Experimental method:** The systematic review was designed and realized following the guidelines of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA). In March 2022, we performed a systematic literature search among the electronic databases PubMed, Scopus and Web of Science. We included studies that 1) used the face mask as a measure to prevent the spread of COVID-19, 2) were conducted in humans, 3) were carried out during the COV-ID-19 pandemic (from January 2020 to March 2022) and 4) assessed ocular conditions. However, studies were excluded if 1) they included people under 18 years old, 2) assessed ocular manifestations not related to the eyelids or ocular surface, 3) were abstracts of books and conferences, or commentaries, letters to the editor and round table discussions, as well as duplicate publications or articles without full text, and 4) were not published in English, Spanish or French.

**Results:** The search identified a total of 15 studies according to the eligibility criteria of our systematic review. The studies included were three cross-sectional design studies, two cohort design studies, three case-control design studies, four case reports, two case series and one review article (Table 1).

First author	Year	Study design	Sample size	Sample characteristics	Results
Chadwick <i>et al.</i>	2020	Case report	1	66 years, female	Face mask increases the risk of dry eye in the post-operative.
Azzam et al.	2022	Cross- sectional	60	Group 1: n=30, 7 males, 23 females, 18-61 years Group 2: n=30, 17 males, 13 females, 18-64 years	N95 face masks produce more dry eye signs, although there aren't significative differences on the symptoms.
Ramani <i>et al.</i>	2021	Case series	3	<ul><li>(1): 28 years, female</li><li>(2): 35 years, female</li><li>(3): 30 years, female</li></ul>	Face masks should be used carefully to avoid ocular traumatisms.
Au et al.	2020	Case report	1	51 years, male	Face masks should be used carefully to avoid ocular traumatisms.
Mastropasqua et al.	2021	Cohort	128	Group 1 (dry eye): n=66, 40 males, 26 females, 40-58 years Group 2 (healthy): n=62, 35 males, 27 females, 37-53 years	The daily use of face masks damages the ocular surface, which is aggravated when dry eye is already present.
Silkiss <i>et al.</i>	2021	Case- control			Face masks increase the incidence of chalazion.
Martínez-Pérez <i>et al.</i>	2021	Case- control	177	49 males, 128 females, 27-49 years	The use of face masks increases the ocular symptoms in contact lenses users.
Nair et al.	2022	Case report	1	26 years, male	A bad fitting of face mask can produce ocular traumatisms and increase post- operative complications.
Krolo et al.	2021	Cohort	203	59 males, 144 females, 47.4 years	Having precedents of dry eye, being female and wearing face mask for more than 3 hours per day can worsen dry eye symptoms.
Marinova et al.	2020	Case- control	144	80 females, 64 males, 22-79 years	The use of face masks causes ocular discomfort even in healthy patients, and this depends on type of face mask and hours of use.
Scalinci <i>et al.</i>	2021	Cross- sectional	67	27 males, 40 females, 35-55 years	Prolonged face mask use is associated with increased OSDI scores.
Shubhanshu et al.	2021	Cross- sectional	423	320 males, 103 females, 21-47 years	Prolonged face mask use causes different symptoms as ocular dryness.
Koh et al.	2021	Review			The COVID-19 pandemic has led to a significant increase in DED and the need for developments and advances in screening.
Zhou et al.	2021	Case series	8	6 males, 2 females, 18-67 years	Face masks should be used carefully to avoid ocular traumatisms, and it should be reviewed their production specifications.
Tang et al.	2021	Case report	1	52 years, male	Face masks should be used carefully to avoid ocular traumatisms.

TABLE 1. Table with the characteristics of the included studies.

**Discussion:** Overall, face mask use was associated with an increased incidence of chalazion and ocular discomfort, even in healthy patients, related to mask type and hours of use. It was also associated with an increase in dry eye symptoms and signs and Ocular Surface Disease Index (OSDI) scores, worsening in patients already diagnosed with dry eye disease (DED) and in contact lenses (CL) users, as well as postoperatively. In addition, several cases of ocular trauma due to poor fit and incorrect use of the facemask were found [1, 2].

Even though the findings showed a higher incidence of ocular manifestations associated with prolonged use of the face mask, its use is a primary and effective measure to prevent the spread and infection of COVID-19. With the research that has been done to date, we believe that it would be advisable to be more cautious in the use of face masks and to increase the frequency of instillation of preservative-free ocular lubricants in order to reduce ocular symptoms and avoid possible complications.

#### References

[1] Azzam SH, Nama A, Badarni H, Asael H, Dahoud WA, Mimouni M, et al. "Assessment of dry eye disease in N95 versus surgical face mask wearers during COVID-19" in Indian J Ophthalmol. 2022 Mar 1; 70(3):995-9.

[2] Martínez-Perez C, Monteiro B, Soares M, Portugues F, Matos S, Ferreira A, et al. "Influence of Face Masks on the Use of Contact Lenses" in Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Jul 2; 18(14).

### Influence of the use of digital screens on the tear film in frequent computer users

LAURA XIMENA SIERRA BUITRAGO ANGIE JULIETH SÁNCHEZ PIRACOCA Department of Optometry and Vision, UCM. Avda. Arcos de Jalón s/n C.P. 28037 (Madrid - Spain)

**Aim:** The main purpose of this article is to know the effects that the use of digital computer screens can produce on the volume, quality and stability of the tear film for four hours.

**Experimental method:** An observational study was carried out on 29 healthy subjects who usually stayed between two to 10 hours a day in front of a VDT device to be included in the study. The study included people of both sexes between 18 and 55 years old. Those who presented symptomatic and/or diagnosed dry eye, who were contact lens users or who were under topical or systemic treatment with drugs that alter the production and stability of the tear film were excluded.

The patients were scheduled in the morning for the first measurement, in which the visual fatigue questionnaire was filled out, the OSDI test was performed and finally the measurement was made with the Keratograph. The patients then proceeded to perform their usual tasks on the computer for four hours in a work room. At the end of this period, the measurements were once again taken from the subjects; the OSDI questionnaire was not applied in the second measurement. The visual fatigue questionnaire consisted of questions about ocular symptoms such as burning, dryness, redness, asthenopia, stinging, headache and sensitivity to light. The subject was to rate their manifestation on a scale of 0 to 5.

**Results:** Nine of the participants were men and 20 women. When analyzing the symptomatology related to the visual fatigue questionnaire, the symptoms that increased in greater proportion in the second measurement were dryness of the eye and visual asthenopia. The objective measurements of tear film lipid properties of each eye had a statistically significant variation with respect to the four hours of use, as did the measure of ocular redness.

Variable	Baseline (0 hours)	4 hours	<i>p-</i> value
DTF_OD	1.66±0.48	2.10±0.61	0.005
DTF_OS	1.59±0.50	2.21±0.62	0.001
INT_OD	1.69±0.76	2.03±0.62	0.008
INT_OS	1.66±0.72	2.10±0.61	0.001
BUR_OD	0.21±0.08	0.23±0.08	0.017
BUR_OS	0.19±0.13	0.25±0.14	0.002

The values are presented as  $\bar{x}$  mean ± standard deviation.

FIGURE 1. Mean values, standard deviation and p-value of some variables evaluated with Keratograph 5M at the beginning and after four hours in front of a screen. DTF (Tear film dynamics), INT (Tear film interferometry), BUR (Burning eye).

**Discussion:** The most significant results of this study were found in the visual fatigue questionnaire, showing an increase in the symptoms evaluated. Kim et al indicates in their research that these questionnaires are purely subjective and that the answers indicated by the subject may be conditioned by daily physical or mental contexts. There is currently no test that yields objective data related to visual asthenopia [1, 2]. Furthermore, in the evaluation with the Keratograph 5M,

a significant increase in the lipid layer of the tear film was evident both in the composition and dynamics concerning the measurements taken four hours after using the computer. Additionally, ocular redness was higher in the users of digital devices. There are studies that agree with our findings [3], such as that conducted by Chia-Chen Lin, which found that the thickness of the lipid layer showed a slight decrease related to short-term exposure to LED lighting (15 min) [4]. However, there is also research that contradicts our results [5], such as that by Golebiowsky that shows that there are no changes in the lipid properties of tears after one hour in front of a digital screen [6].

**Conclusions:** Frequent VDT users may have conjunctival redness and changes in tear lipid layer composition after four hours of backlit screen use. These alterations are related to the patients' symptomatology, evidenced by visual fatigue questionnaires.

#### References

[1] Kim DJ, Lim C-Y, Gu N, Park CY. "Visual fatigue induced by viewing a tablet computer with a high-resolution display" in Korean J Ophthalmol 2017; 31:388. https://doi.org/10.3341/kjo.2016.0095.

[2] Nakamura S, Kinoshita S, Yokoi N, et al. "Lacrimal hypofunction as a new mechanism of dry eye in visual display terminal users" in PLoS One. 2010; 5(6).

[3] Mehra D, Galor A. "Digital screen use and dry eye: a review" in Asia-Pacific J Ophthalmol. 2020; 9(6):491-497. doi:10.1097/APO.00000000000328.

[4] Lin C-C, Hung J-H, Huang Y-H. "Immediate ocular changes after light-emitting diode displays exposure-A preliminary study" in Front Med 2022; 9:848794. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2022.848794.

[5] Sun CC, Lee CY, Hwang YS, Michihito I, Tagami K, Hsiao CH. "Effect of warming eyelids on tear film stability and quality of life in visual display terminal users: a randomized controlled trial" in *Sci Rep.* 2020; 10(1):1-8.

[6] Golebiowski B, Long J, Harrison K, Lee A, Chidi-Egboka N, Asper L. "Smartphone use and effects on tear film, blinking and binocular vision" in Curr Eye Res 2020; 45:428-34. https://doi.org/10.1080/02713683.2019.1663542.

## The role of scleral stiffness on corneal biomechanics using finite element analysis

ANA RAMOS ARIZCUREN AMAYA PÉREZ DEL PALOMAR ALEJANDRA CONSEJO University of Zaragoza, School of Engineering and Architecture, Zaragoza, Spain

Aim: Corneal biomechanics provides information about the corneal tissue, which is of help to clinicians in the early diagnosis of different eye diseases, such as keratoconus [1]. These days, investigating corneal biomechanics is gaining attention as a disease biomarker. However, little is known about how the boundary structure, i.e., the sclera, might alter corneal biomechanical readings [2]. A recent study performed on donor eyes in which scleral rigidity was pharmaceutically modified proved that scleral stiffness directly affected corneal mechanical behavior [3]. Consequently, this article aims to investigate the role of scleral stiffness on corneal maximum displacement during mechanical stimulation using a finite element model (FEM).

**Experimental method:** A three-dimensional finite element model including the cornea, the anterior sclera and the vitreous was implemented (Figure 1a). These materials were defined as hyperelastic, following the parameters accessible from the literature [4] and applying a Holzapfel and Yeoh model for the cornea and the sclera, respectively. To achieve a realistic model, corneal fibers were taken into consideration. To mimic the mechanical stimulation of the cornea, an airpuff was simulated following the characteristics of commercially available to-nometers. Intraocular pressure was fixed to 18 mmHg.

Once the model was completed, scleral stiffness (parameter C10) was modified from 0.4MPa (soft sclera) to 1.6 MPa (hard sclera) and the corresponding maximum corneal deformation amplitude was evaluated.

**Results:** Scleral stiffness greatly influenced maximum corneal deformation amplitude, as shown in Figure 1b. The relationship between scleral stiffness (SS) and maximum corneal deformation amplitude (MCDA) calculated in this work can be defined as  $MCDA = 0.1995 \text{ x} \ln (SS) - 2.7$ , MCDA expressed in mm and SS in MPa.



FIGURE 1. The implemented FEM model (a) and the variation of corneal maximum deformation amplitude as a function of scleral stiffness (b).

**Discussion:** For a given cornea, the harder the sclera, the smaller the maximum deformation amplitude, and vice-versa. Biomechanical investigation of corneal tissue properties should take scleral stiffness into consideration because it modifies biomechanical corneal results.

#### References

[3] Eliasy A, Chen KJ, Vinciguerra R, Lopes BT, Abass A, Vinciguerra P, Ambrósio Jr R, Roberts CJ, Elsheikh A. "Determination of corneal biomechanical behavior in-vivo for healthy eyes using CorVis ST tonometry: stress-strain index" in Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2019 May 16; 7:105.

[4] Nguyen BA, Roberts CJ, Reilly MA. "Biomechanical impact of the sclera on corneal deformation response to an air-puff: a finite-element study" in Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2019 Jan 10; 6:210.

[5] Nguyen BA, Reilly MA, Roberts CJ. "Biomechanical contribution of the sclera to dynamic corneal response in air-puff induced deformation in human donor eyes" in Experimental Eye Research. 2020 Feb 1; 191:107904.

[6] Issarti I, Koppen C, Rozema JJ. "Influence of the eye globe design on biomechanical analysis" in Computers in Biology and Medicine. 2021 Aug 1; 135:104612.

## 2.2. CONTACT LENSES

### Comparison of soft toric contact lenses with and without prism ballast stabilization system

ELENA DURÁN-PRIETO Faculty of Optics and Optometry, UCM

M. MAR GONZÁLEZ PASCUAL MERCEDES BURGOS-MARTÍNEZ Mark'ennovy Personalized Care S.L., Majadahonda, Madrid

JESÚS CARBALLO ÁLVAREZ JOSE MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO Faculty of Optics and Optometry, UCM

**Aim**: To evaluate the effect of the prismatic effect induced by a soft toric contact lens stabilization system on lens power and lens image quality, not only from a paraxial point of view, but also from a wavefront perspective.

**Experimental method**: The sample included 56 soft toric contact lenses, 27 prism ballast designed contact lenses and 27 with a dynamic stabilization system. The contact lenses were manufactured from silicone hydrogel material made to order with different prescriptions, meaning that they had different spherical and cylindrical combinations. Both groups included the same prescriptions and were measured with NIMO (Lambda-X, Belgium), an instrument based on the Schlieren phase-shifting method, which measures soft contact lenses immersed in saline solution. Power (sphere and cylinder), spherical aberration (primary and second), coma and RMS (root mean square of Zernike coefficient) measured in a 4.5 mm diameter were analyzed. Primary spherical aberration and the two astigmatism terms were removed for the RMS calculation defocus, while the rest of the Zernike coefficients (up to heptafoil x (Z35)) were considered. Sta-

tistical analysis was performed with Statgraphics Centurion v19, using a one-way ANOVA test with a 95% confidence level.



Paraxial analysis

FIGURE 1. Sphere and cylinder results for prism and no prism ballast stabilization system. Bars show the standard deviation.

**Results**: The power difference between a stabilization system with and without prism ballast was  $(0.04\pm0.22)$  D and  $(0.06\pm0.10)$  D for both sphere and cylinder, respectively (Figure 1). This difference was not statistically significant. Using wavefront analysis, the RMS difference between wavefronts was  $(0.03\pm0.05)$  microns, which was not statistically significant (Figure 2). Differences found in some the most relevant Zernike coefficients affecting visual performance, such as coma and spherical aberration, did not show statistically significant differences (p-values>0.05).

**Discussion**: Both stabilization systems for soft toric contact lenses demonstrated similar performance, considering both paraxial and wavefront perspectives. Previous published papers showed a similar amount of prism induced into the optical zone [1] and concluded that the amount of the prism induced could produce binocular issues in patients with decompensated binocular vision. However, the wavefront analysis performed shows that the amount of prism is close to the limit considered significant for vision (considering that according to Marechal's criteria, the RMS difference is lower than  $\lambda/14$ ; being  $\lambda=546$ nm) [2]. This result justifies further research in this direction to clarify the influence of prism ballast in the quality of vision, even if is manufactured out of the optical zone.



FIGURE 2. RMS (root mean square) results for prism and no prism ballast stabilization system. Bars show the standard deviation.

#### References

[1] Anna Sulley, Ryan Hawke, Kathrine Osborn Lorenz, Youssef Toubouti, Giovanna Olivares, "Resultant vertical prism in toric soft contact lenses" in *Contact Lens and Anterior Eye*, Volume 38, Issue 4, 2015, Pages 253-257.

[2] Dainty, C. (2008). *Adaptive Optics for Industry and Medicine: Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop*, National University of Ireland, Ireland, 12-15 June 2007. Imperial College Press.

## Effects of contact lens wear and computer use on the ocular surface

CRISTIAN TALENS ESTARELLES JOSÉ VICENTE GARCÍA MARQUÉS ALEJANDRO CERVIÑO EXPÓSITO SANTIAGO GARCÍA-LÁZARO

University of Valencia. Departament of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sience. C/ Doctor Moliner 50, 46100 Burjassot, Valencia

**Aim:** This study aims to assess the potential additive effects of contact lens wear and digital display use on the ocular surface and tear film along with the therapeutic benefits of artificial tear instillation.

Experimental method: Thirty healthy volunteers (10 men and 20 women) aged between 18 and 25 (21.7  $\pm$  2.5 years old) participated in this prospective and controlled clinical study. The ocular surface and tear film of the participants were evaluated before and after executing a 20-minute reading task on a computer. Participants completed a total of three study visits: with and without contact lens (CL) wear and with CL and artificial tear instillation (Systane® Ultra, Alcon SL, Geneva, Switzerland). The order of the sessions was randomized. Participants were fitted in both eyes with a daily disposable silicone hydrogel CL (Dailies Total One®, Alcon Laboratories Inc. Fort Worth TX, USA). Each condition was evaluated on separate days. To reduce the variability of the tear film between visits, each session was carried out on the same day of the week, at the same time of day and under controlled environmental conditions (temperature and humidity). Measurements included the Ocular Surface Disease Index (OSDI) and 5-item Dry Eve Questionnaire (DEQ-5), as well as the measurement of tear meniscus height (TMH), noninvasive keratograph break-up time (NIKBUT) and bulbar conjunctival redness (BR) obtained using the Keratograpgh 5M device (Oculus Optikgerate, Wetzlar, Germany).

**Results:** Significantly higher dry eye symptoms (OSDI and DEQ-5) were obtained after reading on the computer with and without CL wear compared to before ( $p \le 0.001$ ). Similarly, BR was significantly higher and NIKBUT significantly shorter after reading on the computer, regardless of whether CLs were worn ( $p \le 0.02$ ). Regarding tear volume, TMH increased significantly after reading without CLs (p < 0.0005), although it remained unvaried with CL wear (p = 0.23). On the other hand, no significant changes were observed in any pa-

rameter after the use of the computer and CL wear with artificial tear instillation ( $p \ge 0.55$ ), except for a significant increase in TMH (p = 0.001). Finally, CL wear during computer reading did not lead to greater dry eye signs (NIKBUT and BR) compared to naked eye reading (p > 0.05). In contrast, artificial tear instillation led to a smaller increase in dry eye symptoms compared to naked eye reading ( $p \le 0.02$ ) and CL reading without artificial tears (p < 0.0005), as well as to a lower increase in BR compared to the computer naked eye scenario (p = 0.04).

**Discussion:** Modern CL materials and disposable wearing modalities can prevent an additive effect between CL wear and short-term digital display use. The instillation of artificial tears is an effective strategy for preventing the impact of display use on the eye surface in CL wearers. Further studies are required to evaluate the impact of digital display use and CL wear for longer periods.
# 2.3. INTRAOCULAR LENSES AND REFRACTIVE SURGERY

## Advanced biometric calculation: a case series

SARA MARQUINA MARTÍN, MsC Faculty of Physics, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain ARCCA HUMS Unit, Zaragoza, Spain

#### RUBÉN HERNÁNDEZ VIÁN, MsC

Faculty of Physics, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain Health Service of Aragon, Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

#### FRANCISCO JAVIER CASTRO ALONSO, MD, PhD

ARCCA HUMS Unit, Zaragoza, Spain Alcañiz Hospital, Alcañiz, Teruel, Spain GIMSO Research Group (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain

Aim: Due to the high level of importance that correct calculation of intraocular lens (IOL) power has on final surgery outcome, for many years, different mathematical models have been developed that look to optimize this calculation. Even so, despite all these improvements, the refractive outcomes remain variable, especially in cases where the ocular anatomy, or particular eye parameters, differ from the normal, as occurs in eyes with high corneal astigmatism and in those with previous corneal refractive surgery. Our aim is to describe different methods of calculation that we can use according to the pre-operative refractive error and the ocular surgical history of the patient and to assess their predictive efficacy.

**Experimental method:** A case series of patients diagnosed with cataract, with different visual needs, and scheduled for surgery at the Nuestra Señora de Gracia Provincial Hospital in Zaragoza were analyzed: 1) Patient with previous myopic LASIK surgery, for whom specific formulas were used such as Pearl-DGS, EVO, Barrett True K post-refractive or the ASCRS's calculator, for the IOL power calculation; 2) Patient with corneal astigmatism of -1.90 D who was proposed to make paired corneal arcuate incisions with a femtosecond laser, according to the

Castrop nomogram; 3) Patient with corneal astigmatism of -3.50 D and IOL toric power calculated with the Kane Toric, Barrett Toric and ZCT calculator (Johnson&Johnson calculator). The biometer used in all cases was the IOL Master 700 and the residual refraction was done on the last visit, one month after the surgery in case 1 and 3 and three months later in case 2.

**Results:** 1) The four formulas used to calculate IOL power, keeping mind the pre-LASIK ocular parameters, predicted an IOL power of +18.00 D, looking for the first negative Spherical Equivalent (SE). After implanting this IOL, a residual error of -0.25 cylinder (cyl) with -0.12 D SE was obtained and the Snellen visual acuity (VA) without correction was 1.0. 2) According to the Castrop nomogram, at 79 years old and with a corneal astigmatism of -1.90 D, two corneal arcuate incisions were made, with 51° of arc length in the meridian of 86° in the optic zone of 8.5 mm. On the last review, the patient was -0.75 sphere (sph) with -0.75 D SE, and AV ETDRS without correction 0.28 and corrected 0.08. 3) On the IOL toric calculation, the formulas used estimated a similar power of +22.00 D with 6.00 D of cylinder. After surgery, the residual refraction was +0.25 sph -0.75 cyl 127° with -0.12 D SE. The Snellen VA without correction was 0.7, while when corrected it was 1.0.

**Discussion:** The refractive outcomes obtained at cases 1 and 2 were very good, and they reflect the good predictive performance of the calculation formulas used, as shown in the outcomes, getting a high improvement in patients' VA. However, in case 3 the residual refraction obtained did not coincide with what the formulas had estimated. After analyzing possible causes of the calculation error, it was confirmed that it was due to a rotation of the implanted toric IOL, which produced the loss of the correct efficacy of the cylinder [1, 2].

Thanks to the new mathematical models developed in recent years, which have included important parameters like posterior corneal power, refraction and keratometry before refractive surgery, lens thickness and anterior chamber depth, as well as artificial intelligence in some methods, less and less refractive surprises are obtained. Even so, there are still unknown variables and others that are difficult to estimate or that influence these results, like effective lens position (considered the main source of error) or alterations caused by surgery or possible surgical complications, as occurs in the rotation of the toric IOL, with a notable refractive effect [3, 4].

## References

[1] Hernandez R, Almenara C, Soriano D, Idoipe M, Larrosa JM, Pablo LE, et al. "Toric intraocular lens implantation vs. femtosecond laser-assisted arcuate

keratotomy for correction of moderate astigmatism in cataract surgery" in J Cataract Refract Surg. 2021 Dec 21.

[2] Szalai E, Toth N, Kolkedi Z, Varga C, Csutak A. "Comparison of various intraocular lens formulas using a new high-resolution swept-source optical coherence tomographer" in J Cataract Refract Surg. 2020 Aug 1; 46(8):1138-41.

[3] Castro Alonso FJ. "Fórmulas y estimación de la posición de la lente intraocular" in J. Aramberri, F. Ribeiro, editors. Cálculo de la lente intraocular, 1st ed Madrid: SECOIR. 2022. p. 305-37.

[4] Yeo TK, Heng WJ, Pek D, Wong J, Fam HB. "Accuracy of intraocular lens formulas using total keratometry in eyes with previous myopic laser refractive surgery" in Eye (Lond). 2021 Jun 1; 35(6):1705-11.

## Analysis of the effects of visual quality under different light conditions with monocular implantation of different intraocular lenses: a pilot study

INAS BAOUD OULD HADDI DAYAN FLORES CERVANTES CRISTINA BONNIN ARIAS VANESA BLÁZQUEZ SÁNCHEZ CELIA SÁNCHEZ RAMOS Vision and Ophthalmology Research Group, Complutense University of Madrid - Spain Correspondence to: ibaoud@ucm.es

**Aim:** Cataracts are the leading cause of reversible blindness and low vision worldwide. In recent years, different types of IOLs have been developed to improve vision while decreasing dependence on glasses. [1] The aim of this study is to compare the effects on visual function and quality of life under different photopic and mesopic light conditions in patients undergoing cataract or refractive lensectomy with monocular implantation with different models of lenses.

**Experimental method:** Observational, prospective, cross-sectional pilot study of 14 eyes belonging to 14 patients between 59 and 82 years old ( $70.5 \pm 8.6$  years old) who underwent cataract surgery by phacoemulsification with different types

of intraocular lenses: Tecnis® Eyhance<sup>™</sup> (Johnson&Johnson Surgical Vision, Inc., Santa Ana, CA) with Monofocal plus, Diffractive design, the PhysiOL® IsoPure 123<sup>™</sup> (BVI Medical/PhysIOL, Liége, Belgium) which is an EDOF, Isofocal Aspherical lens and finally AcrySof ® IQ Vivity<sup>TM</sup>(Alcon Laboratories, Inc., Fort Worth TX.) with EDOF, Non-Refractive design, all operated by the same experienced surgeon (E.D.R). The study was approved by the Ethics Committee at San Carlos Clinical Hospital in Madrid and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The patients involved met the inclusion and exclusion criteria for participation in the study and signed an informed consent form. All patients were evaluated the day after the intervention, one week and one month after intraocular lens implantation in one eye. During these time periods, measurement of the patients' manifest refraction and monocularly corrected visual acuity was obtained at a far distance of four metres (m), an intermediate distance of 66 centimetres (cm) and near distance at 40 cm. The test used was the EDTRS test, under photopic illumination conditions of 84 cd/m2 and mesopic illumination of 3 cd/m2 maximum with correction, after 15 min with dark adaptation. A complete ophthalmological examination was also performed. The statistical software SPPS version 28 was used for analyzing the data obtained in this study. The normality of the data samples was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. When a non-parametric analysis was obtained, the Wilcoxon test was used. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered a criterion for statistical significance.

**Results:** Statistically significant values were only obtained when comparing near visual acuity in photopic illumination conditions between Eyhance and Vivity lenses with a value of 0.013, since no statistically significant values were obtained between the lenses at the different distances and between photopic and mesopic conditions.

**Discussion:** Patients at younger ages have greater visual demands and therefore require good vision at all distances, especially at intermediate distances due to the emergence of new technologies. For this reason, there is a continuous evolution of IOL designs. In the study by Auffarth et al [2], in the study by Bova, et al [3] and in the study by Arrigo, et al [4] it is observed that the three lenses studied obtain good visual acuities. This is not comparable with our study, however, as there is no research in which subjects with a monocular implantation and the analyzed IOLs have been studied, in addition to the different illumination conditions.

**Conclusion**: All three IOLs provided good visual results at far, intermediate and near distances under both photopic and mesopic conditions. Overall, there were no statistically significant differences, except for the photopic illumination conditions of the Eyhance and Vivity lenses. However, since this was a pilot study, future research is required to determine the results with longer follow-up times and larger sample sizes with these types of IOLs.

## References

[1] Thompson J. et al. Cataracts. Prim Care-Clin Off Pract. 2015; 42(3):409-423.

[2] Auffarth et al. "Clinical evaluation of a new monofocal IOL with enhanced intermediate function in patients with cataract" in Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery, 2021; 47(2), 184-191.

[3] Bova, A et al. "Clinical and Aberrometric Evaluation of a New monofocal IOL with Intermediate Vision Improvement" in Journal of Ophthalmology, 2022; 4119698.

[4] Arrigo, A. et al. "Extended depth-of-focus (EDOF) Acrysof IQ Vivity intraocular lens implant: a real-life experience" in Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology, 2021; 259(9), 2717-2722.

## Calculation formula prediction of intraocular lens in cataract surgery depending on the axial length

ALBA CARRERA BLANCO IRENE ALTEMIR GÓMEZ DIANA SORIANO PINA University of Zaragoza. C/ de Menéndez Pelayo, 24

Aim: The main objective of this study is to find the best formula to obtain maximum accuracy in post-surgery results depending on the size of the eye: small eye (AL < 22 mm), normal eye (22 mm < AL < 26 mm) and large eye (AL > 26 mm).

**Experimental method:** The sample taken for the study is formed by a total of 447 subjects which underwent cataract surgery by different surgeons at Nuestra Señora de Gracia Hospital in Zaragoza. An eye was selected from each patient, totaling 224 right eyes (OD) and 223 left eyes (OI). Of all the patients, 178 were men and 269 were women. The utilized LIOS were calculated by using the SRK-T formula. LIO AMO Tecnis 1 ZCBOO (Abbot Medical Optics) ® was implanted in 330 patients, EyeCee ONe (Bausch & Lomb) ® to 57 and 60 had Physiol Micro+A 123(Medical Mix) ® implanted. Once all the data was collected, without taking AL into account, a study was conducted on forecasting the

different formulas for the total of the sample. SRK-T postoperatory results were compared to the preoperatory forecast using the Hoffer, Haigis Hill, Kane, Barret, Ladas and EVO formulae. The sample was then divided into subgroups of short eyes (AL < 22 mm), normal eyes (22mm < AL < 26mm) and large eyes (AL>26mm). Finally, the results were compared to see which formulas adjusted better, checking if the differences were statistically significant.

**Results:** In general, the best results were achieved using Kane and Hoffer Q formulas, followed by Ladas, EVO and SRK-T.

In short eyes, the formula with the lowest refractive error was SRK-T, reaching values near emmetropia, followed by Kane, EVO, Hill, Haigis, Ladas and Barret. The poor adjustment of Hoffer-Q stands out. The forecast was around values near null refractive error  $(\pm 0.25D)$ , more myopic in Hoffer, Kane, Ladas, and more hypermetropic for the rest of the formulas. For the normal eye cohort, the most accurate formulas were Hoffer-Q and Kane, followed by Haigis, SRK-T, Ladas and Evo. Barret and Hill presented the highest degree of error. The formulae for these subgroups had a better adjustment (less than +0.25D), as the errors were more positive. Values for large eyes were farther away from emmetropy, resulting in mixed results between the formulae and were clinically more significant. Hill was the most accurate one, followed by EVO, Kane and Ladas, Barret and Haigis, all with values of around +0.25D. In this case, SRK-T and Hoffer were the least accurate ones, reaching an approximate spheric equivalent difference (DIFEE) of +0.50D (Figure 1).



FIGURE 1. Bar graph with the prediction results for each of the studies formulas, divided into the different subgroups, short eyes (blue bar), normal eyes (red bar) and large eyes (green eyes). Dif: difference. D: diopter, EE: spheric equivalent.

**Discussion:** The extraction of cataracts is a surgical intervention that is very frequent around the world. For a long time, the end goal of cataract surgery has been to accomplish transparency of the means. Later, the focus shifted to restoration of the dioptric power of the eye after replacing the crystalline with a LIO to correct the refractive defects. Identifying the best LIO formula that predicts the post-surgery refractive result is one of the most important factors in successful cataract surgery. (1) The refractive results obtained in the calculus made with the utilized formulas in this study are very accurate, with a deviation of less than 0.25D. On the other hand, in the case of normal eyes and large eyes, the subjective post-operatory values have been found to be more positive than the aforementioned ones, causing the need to find more myopic spheric equivalents. The Kane formula is the most accurate when AL is not taken into account. On the other hand, when AL is considered, the formulae shown to best fit each kind of eye are SRK-T and Kane for short eyes, Hoffer Q and Kane for normal eyes and Hill for large eyes. Haigis, Hill, Kane, Barret, and EVO show similar results along the different subgroups, which suggests that using one or the other makes little difference. Without taking AL into account, the best formulas are SRK-T and Kane for short eyes, and Hoffer Q and Kane for normal eyes and Hill for large eyes. Haigis, Hill, Kane, Barret, on the best formulas are SRK-T and Kane for short eyes, and Hoffer Q and Kane for normal eyes and Hill for large eyes. Haigis, Hill, Kane, Barret, and EVO worked on all the subgroups in the same way, which suggests that choosing one type or the other makes little difference.

## References

[1] Serrano P, Prado-Serrano A, Nayat D, Nava-Hernández G. Cálculo del poder dióptrico de lentes intraoculares ¿Cómo evitar la sorpresa refractiva? 2009;83(5):272-280.

## Comparison of biometric measurements obtained by two swept source technology based biometers and a corneal tomographer

JORGE DONÍS DE LA TORRE VANESA BLÁZQUEZ SÁNCHEZ JUAN GROS-OTERO INES CONTRERAS-MARTÍN MONTSERRAT GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ JORGE GARCÍA PÉREZ LAUREANO A. REMENTERÍA-CAPELO Clínica Rementería. C/ Almagro, 36, Madrid, Spain

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to compare the anterior keratometry (K), axial length (AL), anterior chamber depth (AC) and lens thickness (CT) parameters obtained with two swept-source technology biometers: Argos (Alcon Labs) and

IOL Master 700 (Zeiss) and to compare the keratometry (K) obtained with Pentacam (Oculus) with that obtained with both swept-source biometers. The accuracy of the calculation of intraocular lens power based on the above measurements was also determined.

**Experimental method**: This is a retrospective study, including 194 eyes (110 subjects), 55% of whom were women, 70.85 +/- 8.97 years old, diagnosed with cataracts and with no previous ocular pathology. Three measurements were performed with Pentacam and five with the IOL Master and Argos. All subjects were examined under mesopic conditions (1.20 lux). All subjects underwent cataract surgery at Clínica Rementería (Madrid). SPSS statistical software was used to determine the normality of the variables (Wilcoxon test) and the correlation between measurements (intraclass coefficient).

**Results:** Regarding keratometry (K), axial length (AL), anterior chamber depth (AC) and lens thickness (CT), no statistically significant differences were found between any of the three devices. High agreement rates (high ICC) were obtained when analyzing every device separately. Clinical differences were irrelevant (Tables 1-3).

	Argos	IOL master 700	Р
AC	3,27±0,41	3,13±0,38	<0,001
AL	23,52±1,32	23,53±1,37	<0,001
СТ	4,60±0,38	4,58±0,40	<0,001

TABLE 1. Comparison AC, AL, CT obtained with the Argos biometer and the IOL Master 700.

	K flat	K steep	K media	JO	J45
Argos	43,69±1,44	44,62±1,53	44,16±1,45	$-0,06\pm0,40$	0,01±0,40
IOL Master700	43,59±1,44	44,54±1,54	44,06±1,46	$-0,03\pm0,37$	-0,01±0,43
Pentacam	43,46±1,43	44,36±1,54	43,91±1,44	0,01±0,41	0,00±0,39

TABLE 2. Comparison of keratometry obtained with Argos, IOL Master and Pentacam equipment.

	K flat	K steep	K media	JO	J45
Argos vs Pentacam	p<0,001	p<0,001	p<0,001	p=0,012	p>0,05
Argos vs Iol700	p<0,001	p<0,001	p<0,001	p>0,05	p>0,05
Pentacam vs Iol700	p<0,001	p<0,001	p<0,001	p>0,05	p>0,05

TABLE 3. Comparison of the CCI of the keratometry obtained with Argos, IOL Master and Pentacam equipment.

When comparing IOL calculations and refractive outcomes of 63 patients, the absolute error decreased from 0.29 to 0.22 in 43.6% of the cases, increased in 3.2% of the cases and remained stable in 53.2% of the cases, according to Argos calculations. According to IOL master, absolute error decreased from 0.25 to 0.22 in 51.1% of the subjects, remained stable in 6.7% and increased in 42.2%.

**Discussion:** Our data agree with those obtained by Románek et al [1], with high agreement rates between IOL Master and Argos. Hussaindeen [2] found high AL correlation rates among children. We did not find differences according to age, like the aforementioned studies. Montés-Micó [3] compared six different devices, including those used in our study, and found very similar but not necessarily interchangeable measurements. Higashiyama [4] found differences between IOL Master 500 and Argos, but concluded that they were clinically irrelevant.

**Conclusion:** No relevant differences were found between Argos, IOl Master and Pentacam measurements.

## References

[1] Románek J, Sluková K. "Comparison of Optical Biometers Argos and Iol Master 700" in Cesk Slov Oftalmol. 2021 Winter; 77(6):295-299. English. Doi: 10.31348/2021/35. PMID: 35081719.

[2] Hussaindeen JR, Mariam EG, Arunachalam S, Bhavatharini R, Gopalakrishnan A, Narayanan A, Agarkar S, Sivaraman V. "Comparison of Axial Length Using a New Swept-Source Optical Coherence Tomography-Based Biometer – ARGOS With Partial Coherence Interferometry – Based Biometer – Iolmaster Among School Children" in Plos One. 2018 Dec 27; 13(12):E0209356. Doi: 10.1371/Journal.Pone.0209356. PMID: 30589874; PMCID: PMC6307737.

[3] Montés-Micó R. "Evaluation of 6 Biometers Based on Different Optical Technologies" in J Cataract Refract Surg. 2022 Jan 1; 48(1):16-25. Doi: 10.1097/J.Jcrs.00000000000000690. PMID: 34091551; PMCID: PMC8700306.

[4] Higashiyama T, Mori H, Nakajima F, Ohji M. "Comparison of a New Biometer Using Swept-Source Optical Coherence Tomography and a Conventional Biometer Using Partial Coherence Interferometry" in *Plos One*. 2018 Apr 24; 13(4):E0196401. Doi: 10.1371/Journal.Pone.0196401. PMID: 29689110; PM-CID: PMC5918161.

# Corneal epithelial growth after LASIK: a case report

IRENE SIMÓ AMPARO ORTIZ ANTONIO HERNÁNDEZ Marina Salud Denia Hospital, 03700 Denia, Spain Irene.simo@hotmail.com

**Introduction**: Epithelial growth (EG) is the presence of corneal epithelial cells at the flap interface following laser-assisted subepithelial keratomileusis (LASIK). It is infrequent after primary procedures, but the incidence may increase if the flap is raised during re-interventions [1]. The etiology may arise from the introduction of epithelial cells in the interface during the creation of the flap or due to the migration of epithelial cells from the edges of a poorly adhered flap. EG is usually a casual finding and remains non-progressive and asymptomatic in a high percentage of cases. However, it can affect vision or produce ocular surface symptoms on some occasions. Herein we report a case of EG with a striking anterior segment image.

**Methodology**: A 46-year-old woman presented with ocular discomfort in her left eye (OS) for 3 weeks. She reported a past history of corneal refractive surgery with LASIK technique in both eyes six years earlier.

Visual acuity without correction measured in LoGMAR scale for the right eye (OD) was 0.05 and 0.1 for the OS. Best corrected visual acuity was 0.1 in LogMAR scale in both eyes. The objective refraction was +0.25 ( $-1.25 \times 76^{\circ}$ ) in OD and +0.25 ( $-1.00 \times 33^{\circ}$ ) in OS. Slit-lamp biomicroscopy revealed an 8x1 mm ephitelial corneal irregularity in the LE, compatible with post-LASIK grade 2 epithelial growth. Moreover, fluorescein staining was negative and no anterior segment alterations were revealed. Intraocular pressure and fundus examination were normal in both eyes.

Corneal topography, corneal optical coherence tomography and anterior pole photographs were performed in both eyes to monitor this anterior segment disorder.

**Results**: A post-LASIK epithelial growth diagnosis was established. A conservative approach was chosen as a treatment by using artificial tears. In the following visits, no progression of the lesion or changes in vision were demonstrated.

The treatment of EG consists of lifting the flap to perform a mechanical cleaning of the epithelial cells of the interface. It is indicated in case of vision de-

crease due to the affect on the visual axis and/or irregular astigmatism or after flap melting [2]. The observed incidence of EG after LASIK varies from 0-3.9% in primary procedures to 10-20% in cases of flap lift for retreatments. However, treatment itself constitutes a risk factor for recurrence, so it is not recommended to treat asymptomatic and stable EG.

**Conclusions**: Post-LASIK epithelial growth is an uncommon complication. In most cases, it is asymptomatic and without visual repercussions, for which observation and follow-up is indicated.

## References

[1] Walker MB, Wilson SE. "Incidence and prevention of epithelial growth within the interface after laser in situ keratomileusis" in Cornea, 2000, 19(2):170-3.

[2] Gonzalvez M, Ho Wang Yin G, Granget E, Hoffart L, Matonti F. "Epithelial in growth following trauma 13-years after Laser-Assisted In-Situ Keratomileusis (LASIK)" in J Fr Ophtalmol 2018 Jun 1; 41(6):e281-3.

# Preoperative refraction prediction after photorefractive keratectomy (PRK)

JORGE DONÍS DE LA TORRE VANESA BLÁZQUEZ SÁNCHEZ CRISTINA BONNIN ARIAS JUAN GROS OTERO ROCÍO RODRÍGUEZ VILLA Clínica Rementería, C/Almagro 36 (Madrid), Complutense University of Madrid

**Aim:** This article aims to find a tool to predict preoperative ametropia in a patient operated for photorefractive keractectomy (PRK).

**Experimental method:** This retrospective study includes data on 34 eyes belonging 17 patients reviewed at Clínica Rementería (Madrid). The selected patients had undergone PRK-type corneal refractive surgery and did not present any ocular pathology. These patients underwent a corneal tomography with Pentacam (Oculus) equipment in a preoperative evaluation and three months after the surgical intervention. In this last examination, the parameter "refractive change" was analyzed on the Holladay Report map and compared to the preoperative subjective refraction. The Holladay report compares anterior and posterior corneal curvature to estimate the corneal ablation measured in diopters [1]. The anterior surface of postoperative corneas flattens, while the posterior surface is unchanged. This report is frequently used for cataract IOL calculation in patients with prior laser surgery. The Holladay report provides the reference spherical value and was compared with the spherical equivalent obtained by subjective refraction [2]. The data were analyzed with the statistical program SPSS, in which the Wilcoxon test was used for related samples.



FIGURE 1. Comparison of preoperative and postoperative spherical refraction.

**Results:** The patient sample included in the study had a mean age of  $30.9\pm5.1$ , with a preoperative refraction of  $-3.96\pm1.13$  D. The postoperative spherical prediction with Pentacam was  $-3.13\pm1.19$ D. The mean difference was  $-0.83\pm0.52$ D. Statistical analysis showed a statistically significant relationship between both values (P < 0.05), which was also clinically significant. In patients with astigmatism, the difference between the preoperative subjective spherical equivalent and that obtained in the Holladay report three months after surgery was greater than in patients with only spherical ametropia.

**Discussion:** The Holladay report could be a useful resource to predict preoperative ametropia and should be taken into account when preoperative refraction is unknown, especially for IOL calculation before cataract surgery. Differences between media are non-clinically relevant (less than 1D). Both parameters may be interchangeable, but this should be assessed in further studies including more subjects. No related studies to compare have been found.

**Conclusions**: The Holladay report map is a useful tool for predicting preoperative refraction in patients who underwent PRK surgery when we do not know their preoperative subjective refraction.

## References

[1] Elyashiv S, Shabtai E, & Belkin M. "Correlation between visual acuity and visual functions" in Br J Ophthalmol, 2014; 98(1):129-132.

[2] Robb RM. "Practical Subjective Refraction" in Gallin P. Pediatric Ophthalmology: A Clinical Guide, 1st edn, Georg Thieme Verlag, US; 2011. pp. 23-29.

# Visual performance and defocus curve after implantation of a new trifocal intraocular lens

ESTELA LÓPEZ REDONDO Clínica Oftalmos. Calle Santa Engracia, 6 (28010) Madrid

RUBÉN SÁNCHEZ JEAN Clínica Oftalmos. Calle Santa Engracia, 6 (28010) Madrid

ANA DÍAZ HURTADO Clínica Oftalmos. Calle Santa Engracia, 6 (28010) Madrid

JUAN CARLOS PALOMINO BAUTISTA QuirónSalud University Hospital. C. Diego Velázquez, (28223) Pozuelo de Alarcón

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to evaluate the visual performance and to obtain the defocus curve after implantation of a new trifocal intraocular lens (IOL).

**Experimental method:** A total of 44 eyes belonging to 22 patients (12 female and 10 male) were enrolled in this observational prospective study after implantation of the Liberty trifocal IOL (Medicontur). The age of the patients was 59

 $\pm$  9. Defocus curves (the step size in diopters was 0.50 D, ranging from +3.00 to -5.00 D) were obtained monocularly under photopic conditions three months after surgery and the optotype used was ETDRS. Patient satisfaction was evaluated by a scale from 0 to 10 with different sections (general, distance, intermediate and near vision and presence of halos), with 10 meaning complete satisfaction in the vision section and 0 meaning not perceiving/bothered by halos and 10 very concerned about halos in the halo section. The questionnaire used was an adaptation of the National Eye Institute Visual Functioning Questionnaire 25 (NEI VFQ-25) scale, using only the sections that we considered most relevant. Furthermore, postoperative refraction and visual acuity at far, intermediate and near distances were measured both after one month and three months. Percentages were used to represent the results of the general satisfaction of the patients. Statistical analysis of the results was carried out using SPSS for Mac v.26.0.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL).



FIGURE 1. Average defocus curve three months after intraocular lens implantation. VA: Visual Acuity.

**Results:** One month and three months after surgery, the spherical equivalent was  $-0.09 \pm 0.26$  D and  $-0.06 \pm 0.21$  D, respectively. Visual acuities at three months of follow-up were  $0.02 \pm 0.09$ ,  $-0.06 \pm 0.07$ ,  $0.09 \pm 0.20$  and  $0.28 \pm 0.17$  logMAR for uncorrected and best-corrected for distance, and best-corrected for intermediate and near distances. The defocus curve at three months (Figure 1) showed excellent far and near vision and good intermediate vision. The average response to visual satisfaction queries was 7.85/10 at general vision, 7.79/10 at far (distance), 7.57/10 at intermediate, 8.71/10 at near and 5.69/10 at the presence of halos.

**Discussion**: Trifocal IOLs lens implantation has increased in recent years, given the large number of middle-aged people who require good intermediate vision. Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown the benefit of using these lenses in terms of visual performance [1-4].

**Conclusions:** Patients implanted with the Liberty trifocal IOL have shown a significant improvement in visual acuity in different distances showing high overall satisfaction. The results obtained show that this lens is predictable.

### References

[1] Guo Y, Wang Y, Hao R, Jiang X, Liu Z, Li X. "Comparison of Patient Outcomes following Implantation of Trifocal and Extended Depth of Focus Intraocular Lenses: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis" in J Ophthalmol. 2021; 2021.

[2] Paik DW, Park JS, Yang CM, Lim DH, Chung TY. "Comparing the visual outcome, visual quality, and satisfaction among three types of multi-focal in-traocular lenses" in Sci Rep. 2020; 10(1):1-10.

[3] Zhong Y, Wang K, Yu X, Liu X, Yao K. "Comparison of trifocal or hybrid multifocal-extended depth of focus intraocular lenses: a systematic review and meta-analysis" in Sci Rep. 2021; 11(1):1-11.

[4] Jin S, Friedman DS, Cao K, Yusufu M, Zhang J, Wang J, et al. "Comparison of postoperative visual performance between bifocal and trifocal intraocular lens based on randomized controlled trails: a meta-analysis" in BMC Ophthalmol. 2019; 19(1):1-12.

## **2.4. OPTICS AND INSTRUMENTATION**

## Anatomical changes in the retinal capillary plexuses assessed by Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography in type 2 diabetic patients with moderate diabetic retinopathy: descriptive study of a series of cases

GUISELA FERNÁNDEZ ESPINOSA ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL University of Zaragoza Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza

ANA BONED MURILLO MARÍA DOLORES DÍAZ BARREDA Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza

SOFÍA BIELSA ALONSO University of Zaragoza

MARÍA SOPEÑA PINILLA Miguel Servet University Hospital, Zaragoza

ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO

University of Zaragoza Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza

ISABEL PINILLA LOZANO Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to assess anatomical changes in the retinal superficial capillary (SCP) and deep capillary (DCP) plexuses, as well as choriocapillary (CC) in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2) with moderate diabetic retinopathy (DR) and without diabetic macular edema (DME) using optical coherence tomography angiography (OCTA) through a descriptive study of a series of cases. **Experimental method:** Fifty-four patients with DM2 with moderate DR but without DME were included. All participants underwent a complete visual examination, including best corrected visual acuity (BCVA), IOP measured by Goldmann tonometry, axial length (AL) and OCTA examination using deep-range imaging with the DRI-Triton SS-OCT. A complete history with clinical variables was also performed. The anatomical alterations studied in this work have been peripheral disruption of the foveal avascular zone (FAZ), vessel dilation, microaneurysms (MAs), intraretinal microvascular abnormalities (IRMAs), flow changes and lack of perfusion in CC. In DM2 patients, OCTA anatomical changes were described as a percentage of the total, considering 0% as the absence of the anatomical alteration and 100% as the maximum presence of it.

**Results:** The mean age of the 54 DM2 patients was  $64.1 \pm 12.0$  (42-86). Peripheral disruption of the FAZ was observed in SCP and DCP (83.3% and 64.2% of the patients, respectively), while MAs were observed in SCP and DCP (79.6% and 81.1% of the patients, respectively). Dilatations and IRMAs were detected in both plexuses. The dilatations were 48.1% in SCP and 22.6% in DCP and the IRMAs were 46.3% in SCP and 20.8% in DCP. Due to flow changes, they were detected in SCP and in DCP (66.7% and 81.1%, respectively). In case of CC, a lack of perfusion was found in 18.0%.

**Discussion:** The incorporation of OCTA has been a great advance for the diagnosis, treatment and monitoring of some retinal diseases. In addition, it is a fast and non-invasive structural technique that can provide a lot of information about the anatomical alterations and retinal vascularization in the different plexuses and the FAZ.

Our results show that retinal vascularization is affected in DM2 patients with moderate DR without DME. We can find anatomical alterations in both plexuses (SCP and DCP), such as peripheral disruption, dilatations, MAs, IRMAs, flow changes and a lack of perfusion in CC. Other authors such us Lupidi et al. (1) also found anatomical alterations similar to ours. They described abnormalities in both SCP and DCP. They found a higher number of linear vascular dilatations and a smaller number of MAs. Hwang et al. (2) also found a lack of capillary perfusion in the SCP and in the DCP, in addition to vascular dilatations in the DCP.

## References

[1] Lupidi M, Coscas G, Coscas F, Fiore T, Spaccini E, Fruttini D, et al. "Retinal Microvasculature in Nonproliferative Diabetic Retinopathy: Automated Quantitative Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography Assessment" in Ophthalmic Res. 2017; 58(3):131-41. [2] Hwang T, Zhang M, Bhavsar K, Zhang X, P C, Lin P, et al. Visualization of 3 "Distinct Retinal Plexusses by Projection-Resolved Optical Coherence Tomogaphy Angiography in Diabetic Retinopathy" in JAMA Ophthalmol. 2018; 134(12): 1411-9.

## Choroidal thickness difference with or without the use of the built-in software segmentation modifying tool in swept-source OCT

NEUS BURGUERA-GIMÉNEZ CELESTE BRICEÑO-LÓPEZ M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO M.ª JOSÉ LUQUE-COBIJA M.ª CARMEN GARCÍA-DOMENE

Department of Optics and Vision Sciences, Faculty of Physics, University of Valencia, Burjassot, Valencia, Spain Cathedra Alcon-Fisabio-UVEG, FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Valencia, Spain

#### NOEMÍ BURGUERA

Q vision, Vithas Virgen del Mar Hospital, Almería, Spain

#### **CRISTINA PERIS-MARTÍNEZ**

Cathedra Alcon-Fisabio-UVEG, FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Valencia, Spain Surgery Department, Faculty of Medicine, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to compare choroidal thickness (CT) automatically calculated by the built-in mapping software and those obtained using the built-in segmentation modifying tool.

**Experimental method:** Cross-sectional and prospective study in which 45 eyes belonging to 45 healthy patients aged between 18 and 50 were included. All patients underwent a comprehensive ocular examination. Only eyes with axial length (AL) between 22-26 mm and spherical equivalent (SE)>-5.00D were included. CT measurements were performed using the 12 mm radial scan pattern with swept-source OCT (DRI-1 Atlantis, Topcon Medical System, Japan). CT was defined as the distance between the posterior edge of the hyper-reflective retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and the choroidal junction. CT was automatically calculated by the software and defined by the Early Treatment Diabetes Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) style grid in nine subfields. The built-in segmentation modifying tool was used to inspect each line and to manually correct the inner and outer bounda-

ries to obtain the CT after manual adjustment. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to analyze the normal distribution. Bland-Altman plotting was used to compare CT before and after manual line modification in each ETDRS subfield.

**Results:** Mean age was  $32 \pm 9.10$  years, mean SE was  $-0.55 \pm 1.31$  D, mean AL was  $23.42 \pm 0.92$  mm and mean index quality score of choroidal images was  $60 \pm 23$ . The Bland - Altman plotting showed that CT after line adjustment generally yielded thicker choroid over the range of 5-6 µm in the subfoveal area and inner ring compared to CT without using the segmentation modifying tool. The greater difference was observed in the subfoveal area (7.2 µm) and the smaller difference in the inner (2.2 µm) and outer (0.9 µm) ring of superior subfield.

**Discussion:** The evaluation of the choroidal layer using OCT has exponentially increased and has become an important examination tool in clinical practice [1]. Since Spaide et al. [2] developed an EDI-OCT to improve choroidal visualization, several studies analyzed the choroid of healthy [3] and pathological eyes [4] with more detailed images. The introduction of swept-source OCT, which uses a longer wavelength and enables greater penetration, enhances the junction visualization between the choroid and scleral layer [1, 3, 4]. This device incorporates a built-in mapping software that reports automatically CT, which can be adjusted by the built-in software segmentation tool. The choroid has an important function supplying the outer retina with oxygen and nutrients and plays an important role in the mechanism regulating eye growth [5]. For that reason, there cannot be a misinterpretation of its thickness in clinical practice that could mask inexistent anomalies. Our results demonstrated that there is a significant difference between CT using a segmentation tool according to the results reported by Moussa et al. [6] in an Egyptian population.

**Conclusions:** CT was higher using the built-in segmentation tool than those automatically calculated by the built-in mapping software. These outcomes must be considered in clinical practice to avoid biased results.

## References

[1] Read, S. A., Fuss, J. A., Vincent, S. J., Collins, M. J., & Alonso-Caneiro, D. (2019). "Choroidal changes in human myopia: insights from optical coherence tomography imaging" in Clinical and Experimental Optometry, 102(3), 270-285.

[2] Spaide, R. F., Koizumi, H., & Pozonni, M. C. (2008). "Enhanced Depth Imaging Spectral-Domain Optical Coherence Tomography" in American Journal of Ophthalmology, 146(4), 496-500.

[3] Margolis, R., & Spaide, R. F. (2009). "A pilot study of enhanced depth imaging optical coherence tomography of the choroid in normal eyes" in American Journal of Ophthalmology, 147(5), 811-815.

[4] Ishikawa, S., Taguchi, M., Muraoka, T., Sakurai, Y., Kanda, T., & Takeuchi, M. (2014). Changes in subfoveal choroidal thickness associated with uveitis activity in patients with Behçet's disease. British Journal of Ophthalmology, 98(11), 1508-1513.

[5] Jin, P., Zou, H., Zhu, J., Xu, X., Jin, J., Chang, T. C., Lu, L., Yuan, H., Sun, S., Yan, B., He, J., Wang, M., & He, X. (2016). "Choroidal and Retinal Thickness in Children with Different Refractive Status Measured by Swept-Source Optical Coherence Tomography" in American Journal of Ophthalmology, 168, 164-176.

[6] Moussa, M., Sabry, D., & Soliman, W. (2016). "Macular choroidal thickness in normal Egyptians measured by swept source optical coherence tomography" in BMC Ophthalmology, 16(1).

## Comparison of corneal radius and corneal conic constant of both meridians measured with a new eye surface profiler and a Placido-ring videokeratograph

NEREA TOLÓN ZARDOYA DIANA GARGALLO YEBRA LAURA REMÓN MARTÍN JORGE ARES GARCÍA University of Zaragoza

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to evaluate and compare the measurements of a Steep corneal radius (Rs), Flat corneal radius (Rf), Steep Corneal conic constant (Qs) and Flat Corneal conic constant (Qf) using anterior eye profilometry (Eye Surface Profiler, ESP, Eaglet-eye) and a conventional Placido-ring topographer (Keratron Scout, Opticon 2000).

**Experimental method:** This retrospective study enrolled 40 right eyes belonging to 40 patients. Exclusion criteria were corneal or scleral pathology and the

use of orthokeratological contact lenses. All parameters were obtained by the same experienced examiner and under the same conditions.

The Eye Surface Profiler is a Fourier domain profilometer that consists of two blue-light projectors with a yellow filter. Sodium fluorescein is needed to capture the images (1). With this instrument, radii were measured in a diameter of 3 mm but the eccentricity was measured in a diameter of 6 mm. Keratron is a Placido topographer which measures the corneal radius in a diameter of 3 mm and the diameter for the eccentricity was set at 6 mm.

For data processing, measurements of radii and conic constants obtained with both videokeratoscopes were compared. Firstly, the normality of the data was check using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The paired Student t-test with Bonferroni correction was used to compare the mean of each parameter (p<0.05). Bland-Altman plots were performed after checking the normality of the differences. All statistical analysis was performed with Microsoft Office Excel (Microsoft Corp.) and R commander.



FIGURE 1. Bland-Altman plots for all the parameters. LoA = Limits of agreement (95%). Where the x-axis is the means of the values and the y-axis the difference between both instruments. The mean difference is the solid line. The 95% limits of agreement are the dotted lines.

**Results:** The mean age of the participants was  $19.0\pm1.7$  years. The mean Rs was  $7.7\pm0.2$  mm with the ESP and  $7.7\pm0.2$  mm with the Keratron, the mean Rf was  $7.9\pm0.2$  mm with the ESP and  $7.9\pm0.2$  mm, the mean Qs was  $-0.3\pm0.2$  with the ESP and  $-0.2\pm0.2$  with the Keratron, the mean Qf was  $-0.2\pm0.3$  with the ESP

and  $-0.3 \pm 0.1$  with the Keratron. All parameters analyzed with the Saphiro-Wilk test have a normality distribution. In all the measures of the parameters, the p-value was higher than 0.0125 (with the Bonferroni correction) so there were no statistically significant differences between the measurements of both instruments.

In the Bland-Altman plots (Figure 1), it can be observed that the Rf is the parameter with the lower value (0.4 mm) for the 95% limits of agreement (LoA) compared with the other parameters that have similar values, except the Rs that has the highest value (1.3 mm) which is the parameter with more difference between the measurements of both instruments.

**Discussion:** In conclusion, the parameter with the most difference between the measurements from both instruments was Rs, whereas the others have lower values of LoA. There were no statistically significant differences between both instruments (p-value 0.0125). The agreement between the measurements of both instruments is strong, but more studies are needed for validating the reliability of the ESP.

### References

[1] D.A. Jesus et al. "Precise measurement of scleral radius using anterior eye profilometry" in Contact Lens and Anterior Eye (2016).

# Corneal characterization in diabetes mellitus patients: pilot study

CELESTE BRICEÑO-LÓPEZ M.ª CARMEN GARCÍA-DOMENE NEUS BURGUERA-GIMÉNEZ M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO M.ª JOSÉ LUQUE-COBIJA CRISTINA PERIS-MARTÍNEZ Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences. University of Valencia. Burjassot. Spain FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology. Valencia. Spain

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to determine whether there are corneal changes between diabetic patients that underwent cataract surgery.

**Experimental method:** All the subjects were patients from FISABIO Medical Ophthalmology in Valencia (Spain) and underwent a complete optometric evaluation before cataract surgery. Patients with previous eye surgery or retinal damage were excluded. The sample was compounded by 127 eyes split into two groups in this prospective study. The control group included 87 healthy patients with no systemic previous pathologies. The experimental group was formed by 40 patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). Exclusion criteria were previous eye surgery, glaucoma or any corneal damage. Pachymetric data were median anterior and posterior radii (Rmant and Rmpost, respectively), horizontal and vertical densitometry (DH and DV, respectively) and apex pachymetry (AP), which were measured using Pentacam®. Endothelial cell density was measured with Nidek CEM-530. Corneal edema was determined 24 hours after surgery by biomicroscope.



FIGURE 1. Receptor Operative Curve of DM patients to determine the predictive power of horizontal (green) and vertical (blue) densitometry.

**Results:** Both samples followed non-parametric distributions (Kolmogorov Smirnov p<0.05). The mean age for the control group was 76±8 years and 79±6 years for the experimental group. U Mann-Whitney was statistically

significant for age (U= 3001, p= 0.035), DH (U= 1298, p=0.018) and DV (U=1149.5, p=0,002). Correlations were found using Spearman's Rho. Gender showed correlations to DM ( $\rho$ =0.176, p= 0.016), AP ( $\rho$ =-0.212, p= 0.008) and Rmpost ( $\rho$ =-0.283, p< 0.001). Age correlated to edema ( $\rho$ =-0.181, p= 0.026), DM ( $\rho$ =-0.156, p= 0.034), DH ( $\rho$ =0.302, p< 0.001) and DV ( $\rho$ =0.314, p< 0.001). Edema correlated to age ( $\rho$ =-0.181, p=0.026). Finally, DM showed correlations to DH ( $\rho$ =0.211, p=0.017) and DV ( $\rho$ =-0.279, p=0.001). Main components analysis showed C1=-0.148\*Gender+0.529\*Age+0.916\*DH+0.932\*DV and C2=0.848\*Age+(-0.321)\*DH+(-0.204)\*DV. Receiver Operating Characteristic curves (ROC) plotted to measure the predictive capacity of DH (AUC=0.631, p=0.018) and DV (AUC=0.673, p=0.002) in the DM diagnosis, however, showed poor results, slightly better for DV.

**Discussion:** The effects of DM in the retina have drawn most of the research interest so far.[1] Nevertheless, the ocular surface can provide very valuable information in the DM visual characterization. In this study, we found significant correlation between DM and gender, age, DH and DV.[2] Additionally, analysis of the main components revealed that these variables were important to build a predictive model for DM. Besides, DH and DV values were higher in DM patients as seen on previous studies.[2] However, other studies suggest different results may be due to the size of the sample.[3] Finally, the ROC curve was plotted to test the predictive power of DH and DV on DM visual impairment with acceptable results. Further research needs to be carried out to achieve deeper understanding of the effects of DM on the cornea using the duration and type of the disease as variables.

## References

[1] Bu Y, Shih KC, Tong L. "The ocular surface and diabetes, the other 21st century epidemic" in Exp Eye Res [Internet]. 2022; 220:109099. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0014483522001798.

[2] Luling Y, Xuemin L. "Evaluation of Corneal Transparency in Diabetic Patients Aged 60 Years and Over" in Int J Diabetes Clin Res. 2020; 7[2].

[3] Ramm L, Spoerl E, Pillunat LE, Terai N. "Corneal Densitometry in Diabetes Mellitus" in Cornea. 2020; 39[8]:968-74.

# Development of an algorithm to track blinks from a face video

YOUSSEF MARRAKCHI Alain Afflelou Portugal Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid

JOSÉ MANUEL LÓPEZ-ALONSO NURIA GARZÓN JIMÉNEZ Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid

MARIANO GONZÁLEZ PÉREZ Alain Afflelou Portugal Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid Correspondence to: youssmar@ucm.es

**Aim:** Blink characteristics are affected in the short term while patients wear contact lenses [1]. This paper develops an algorithm to study the comfort of patients using contact lenses.

Experimental method: The study was conducted in Matlab. First, the eye was detected using the Viola-Jones Algorithm [2]. Once the picture of the eye was cropped (Figure 1A), an averaging filter was applied to reduce the amount of intensity variation between adjacent pixels. The filter size selected was 1/10 the size of the cropped eye image to remove the noise of the image. In each frame of the video, the mean intensity value in each row of the eye picture was stored (Intensity Vertical Projection Analysis [3]). The darkest rows were, in an open eye frame, at the upper lid located in the upper side of the frame (between 0%-50% of the total vertical image size), but in the closed eye the darkest rows were located in the bottom side of the frame (between 50%-100% of the total vertical image size) (Figure 1B). Frames with the darkest row position higher than 50% were considered part of a complete blink. The threshold for partial blinks was calculated using the cumulative density function of the darkest row of each eye frame in the video, with most of them considered noise (Figure 1C). Partial blink frames were considered to have less than a 5% probability (95% of confidence interval, Figure 1F). Once the blinks were located, the duration was calculated finding the time positions at both sides with values higher than the mean value of the significant darkest row of the video graph plus the standard deviation (Figure 1D).

**Results:** The number of blinks and the video time when the complete and incomplete blinks were happening are shown in Figure 1C and can be seen in the



FIGURE 1. A) Viola-Jones Algorithm; B) Darkest row position; C) Darkest row position vs Time;D) Zoom in plot C; E) PDF of plot C; F) CDF of plot C.

position of the significant dark row. The peaks show a partial or complete blink depending on if it is higher than 50%. Figure 1D shows a complete blink, a zoom

of the plot in figure 1C. Figure 1E is the density of the first function. The primary valley shows the most probable position that includes all the frames where the eye is open. The secondary valley peak is due to the partial blinks in the video. In Figure 1F, the cumulative function illustrates the probability of obtaining a certain position on the frame. The result of the example tested for the complete blinks are that the duration of the blink was 0.57 s and its standard deviation was 0.23 s. The interval of the blink was 17.47 s±11.67 s (mean±standard deviation). For the incomplete blinks, the blink duration was 0.29 s±0.10s and the blink interval was 4.3 s±2.75 s. All the results shown were tested on other videos with different lengths and illuminations.

**Discussion:** The results obtained are a correct tracking of the complete blink, the mean duration and the mean blink interval and standard deviation. The blink interval result is a little bit higher than a normal blink interval due to the activity monitored during the video recording in all cases and the patient's awareness of the characteristics being studied [4]. The algorithm is robust and easy to use. The memory needed to run the program is minimal because only the mean light value of each row of the eye frame is stored (27.8 minutes are needed for a one-minute video). Other applications and programs that tracks the blink are more complex and need more time and more resources to achieve the same goal.

## References

[1] Navascues-Cornago M, Sun T, Read ML, Morgan PB. "The short-term effect of contact lens wear on blink characteristics" in Contact Lens and Anterior Eye. 2022; 101596.

[2] Wang YQ. "An Analysis of the Viola-Jones Face Detection Algorithm" in Image Processing On Line. 2014; 4:128-48.

[3] Dinh H, Jovanov E, Adhami R. Eye blink detection using intensity vertical projection. 2012.

[4] Lenskiy A, Paprocki R. "Blink rate variability during resting and reading sessions" in 2016 IEEE Conference on Norbert Wiener in the 21st Century (21CW) [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: IEEE; 2016 [cited 2022 Oct 20]. p. 1-6. Available from: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7547466.

# Evaluation of a blue blocker filter using eye-tracking technology

PAULINA DOTOR PABLO CONCEPCIÓN CLARA BENEDÍ-GARCÍA EVA CHAMORRO Indizen Optical Technologies. C. Suero de Quiñones, 34

#### JOSÉ ALONSO FERNÁNDEZ

Indizen Optical Technologies. C. Suero de Quiñones, 34 Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Complutense University of Madrid. C. de Arcos de Jalón 118

#### JOSÉ MIGUEL CLEVA

Indizen Optical Technologies. C. Suero de Quiñones, 34

**Aim:** With the increasing use of electronic devices and the possible effects of the blue light emitted by these devices on visual health, the main purpose of this article is to use an eye-tracking system to evaluate the differences in visual performance during reading with two ophthalmic lenses, each with its own absorption/ reflection characteristics. We also seek to determine the differences, if any, in the pupil size and reading pattern associated with these filters and the spectral characteristics of the optotypes.

**Experimental method:** Twenty-five emmetropic or contact lens compensated subjects completed reading tests while using a standard coating and a filter which partially blocks wavelengths between 450-550 nm. Reading tests with different contrast and spectral characteristics were designed: 1) A high contrast optotype using black letters (RGB: 0-0-0) on a white background (RGB: 255-255-255) and 2) a low contrast optotype using blue letters (RGB: 45-144-198) on an orange background (RGB: 224-176-131)), combining colors affected by the blue blocker filter. Changes in the pupil size and reading pattern (reading time, number, and duration of fixations) were evaluated by an eye-tracker (TobiiPro Glasses 3) in three reading blocks (start-middle-end). For the statistical analysis, a multifactorial ANOVA test was used and a p value<0.05 was considered significant.

**Results:** Lens type significantly affected pupilar diameter, with larger pupilar diameter during reading with the blue blocker lens (p=0.002). The reading pattern did not show statistically significant differences between lenses (p>0.05). Spectral characteristics of the texts and reading blocks produced statistically significant differences on the pupil diameter and reading pattern. The optotype

with the blue/orange combination provided a higher pupil diameter, less fixations and higher fixation duration. Regarding reading blocks, at the end of the reading pupil diameter decreases, reading time and total fixations were higher and fixation duration was lower. Figure 1 shows the means and standard deviation for each variable.



FIGURE 1. A) Pupil diameter, B) Reading time, C) Fixation number, D) Fixation duration.

**Discussion:** As in the study by Wentz&Winter [1], our study did not show statistically significant differences in eye movements when reading with the blue-blocker filter. An associated increase in pupil diameter with this filter was observed, probably due to transmittance reduction. The study published by Ostrin [2] concluded that a decrease in pupil diameter is produced after an adaptation period to these types of filters. Hence, in future studies it would be interesting to evaluate if the increment observed in our study regarding pupil diameter varies after an adaptation period.

**Conclusions:** The evaluation by an eye-tracking system of pupil diameter and reading pattern helps to evaluate changes in visual performance during reading between different types of ophthalmic lenses. It was verified that a lens with a multilayer coating consisting of a filter that partially blocks blue light increases the average pupilar diameter during reading due to an overall reduction of the lens transmittance. However, it does not produce variations on reading time, number or the duration of fixations.

### References

[1] Wentz C, Winters J. "The Effect of Ophthalmic Blue Blocker Lenses and Anti-reflective Coats on Digital Reading Efficiency and Comfort" in ARVO Annual Meeting. 2022 Jun; 63(7).

[2] Ostrin LA, Abbott KS, Queener HM. "Attenuation of short wavelengths alters sleep and the ipRGC pupil response" in Ophthalmic Physiol. 2017; 440-50.

# **2.5. BINOCULAR VISION**

# Comparison of horizontal heterophoria values in reading and computer tasks in an adult population

IRENE EZKURRA LEÓN, OD, MSc JUAN CARLOS MONTALT RODRIGO, OD, PhD ESTEBAN PORCAR IZQUIERDO, OD, PhD University of Valencia

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to determine the differences between the normal values of horizontal heterophoria at reading distance (40 cm) and the distance of computer use (60 cm) in a non-presbyopic population.

**Experimental method:** Forty-one asymptomatic subjects (22 females and 19 males; age range 18 to 30 years) initially participated in this study. They were emmetropic or ametropic, not exceeding  $\pm$  2D sphere or  $\pm$  1D cylinder. This study excluded contact lens wearers and subjects who had undergone refractive surgery or had any systemic or ocular disease. They also should not have had binocular and accommodative anomalies [1, 3]. The Von Graefe method was used for the assessment of horizontal heterophoria at 40 and 60 cm distance. Non-parametric tests (the Wilcoxon signed-rank test) were used to compare the results. P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

**Results:** 48.7% was excluded from the study because they presented 40-cm horizontal deviations outside the criteria norms (0 to 6  $\Delta$  exo). In the remaining participants (20 subjects), the mean of the horizontal phoria at a distance of 40 cm was 2.8 ± 2  $\Delta$  Exo and at a distance of 60 cm, it was 1 ± 2,3  $\Delta$  Exo. A statistically significant difference was found between horizontal heterophoria measured at 40 cm and 60 cm (p= 0.004).

**Discussion:** This study shows that the normal criteria values of horizontal deviation at 40 cm should not be used to evaluate a subject with greater distances using a video display unit (VDU). Therefore, it is important to consider these as-

pects in the binocular vision examination of these patients. More studies are needed to determine normal values of binocular tests in VDU users.

### References

[1] Scheiman, Mitchell, and Bruce Wick. Clinical management of binocular vision: heterophoric, accommodative, and eye movement disorders. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008.

[2] Porcar E, Martinez-Palomera A. "Prevalence of general binocular dysfunctions in a population of university students" in Optometry and Vision Science 1997; 74(2):111-3.

[3] Porcar E, Montalt JC, Pons AM, España-Gregori E. "Symptomatic accommodative and binocular dysfunctions from the use of flat-panel displays" in Int J Ophthalmol 2018; 11(3):501-5.

# Influence of mobile phone distance on accommodative state

#### MARIA DOLZ TORMO

Degree in Optics and Optometry, Faculty of Physics, University of Valencia, Dr. Moliner 50, 46930 Burjassot (Spain)

Aim: The purpose of this article is to determine the relationship between working distance and accommodative LAG (accommodative delay) [1], taking into account the possible relationship between LAG and myopia. It also aims to evaluate the working distance in the office with respect to the usual distance in conditions of cell phone use.

**Experimental method:** Twenty-three subjects were recruited, 20 of whom undertook the study. The LAG was assessed using a dynamic NOTT retinoscopy at the distance indicated by the subject with their mobile device, three measurements of the working distance (Dt) and a dynamic NOTT retinoscopy were taken to later calculate the mean and standard deviation. Subsequently, an application was installed on their mobile device to evaluate the subject's usual distance under everyday conditions for 15 days.



FIGURE 1. Fitted by lineal function.

**Results:** A correlation was observed between Dt (the mean and standard deviation was Dt 0.269m  $\pm$  0.041m) and LAG (1.278D  $\pm$  0.546 D), with a Pearson's correlation p=-0.795. There was no difference between Dt measured in the office (the aforementioned mean and standard deviation) and Dt measured by the app (Dt 0.249m  $\pm$  0.041m). In addition, there was no difference between myopes (1.26D $\pm$ 0.56D) and hyperopes (1.24D $\pm$  0.37) in LAG measurement. The p-value was greater than 0.05, so the null hypothesis was accepted, where it was shown that there were no differences in accommodative LAG between the two groups.

**Discussion:** It was observed that less working distance increases accommodative LAG [2, 3], as reported by other investigators. The distances measured in the office and with the application were not different. Finally, it should be noted that this study did not find a higher accommodative LAG in myopes than in hyperopes [4].

## References

[1] Cacho-Martínez, P., García-Muñoz, Á., García Bernabeu, J. R., López Navarro, A. "Comparison between MEM and Nott dynamic retinoscopy" in Optom Vis Sci. 1999 Sep; 76(9):650-5.

[2] Moulakaki AI, Recchiqni A, Águila AJDC, Esteye-Taboada JJ, Montés-Micó R. "Assessing the accommodation response after near visual tasks using different handheld electronic devices" in Arquivos Brasileiros de Oftalmologia; 80(1):9-13. 2017 Jan 1.

[3] Ciuffreda K. "Accommodation, the pupil, and presbyopia" in Borish's Clinical Refraction. Elsevier; 2006. p. 93-144.

[4] Harb E, Thorn F, Troilo D. "Characteristics of Accommodative Behavior During Sustained Reading in Emmetropes and Myopes" in Vision Res. 2006 Aug.

## Interexaminer repeatability and agreement in the measurement of ocular heterophoria in children

**JOSÉ LUIS CEBRIÁN LAFUENTE** La Paz University Hospital. P.º de la Castellana, 261 (28046) Madrid

ESTELA LÓPEZ REDONDO Clínica Oftalmos. Calle Santa Engracia, 6 (28010) Madrid

ISABEL SÁNCHEZ PÉREZ ARTURO CORROTO CUADRADO Complutense University of Madrid. C. de Arcos de Jalón, 118 (28037) Madrid

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to assess and characterize the evaluation of heterophoria with different tests in a sample of children in terms of repeatability in clinical practice.

**Experimental method:** Heterophoria in distance vision (at six meters) and near vision (40 cm) with test glasses was quantified in two sessions (1 week apart) in 96 subjects (men = 46, women = 50) with a mean age of 5.41 years and SD of 0.49 years. The ametropia range was from -0.25 to -2.00 D for myopia, from +0.25 to +5.75 D for hyperopia and up to -4.50 D for astigmatism. The three tests used were the Von Graefe, the Cover test for distance vision and the modified Von Graefe and Thorington cover test for near vision. The repeatability of the tests and the agreement between them was estimated using the Bland-Altman method, where the mean difference and the 95% limits of agreement were determined as the repeatability coefficient (RC).

**Results:** The RC in all the tests studied was better when performing the tests in far vision, compared to near vision. CR ranges were from  $\pm 2.03 \Delta$  to  $\pm 3.33 \Delta$  at distance and from  $\pm 3.34 \Delta$  to  $\pm 3.86 \Delta$  at near. The Cover test showed the best repeatability in far vision (RC =  $\pm 2.03 \Delta$ ) and in near vision (RC =  $\pm 3.34 \Delta$ ) with a significant mean difference of  $-0.39 \Delta$  (p=0.03).

**Discussion:** There are previous studies of inter-examiner repeatability of heterophoria, but not in children, so it is of interest to study how the tests that measure this variable behave in this group of subjects. [1-3].

**Conclusions:** Different repeatability coefficients were observed for each test, being worse when performing the tests in near vision. The Cover test was the most
reproducible test at both distance and near. The different tests studied showed different repeatability, so it is not recommended to use the tests interchangeably.

#### References

[1] Johns H, Manny R, Fern K, Hu Y. "The intraexaminer and interexaminer repeatability of the alternate cover test using different prism neutralization endpoints" in Optom Vis Sci. 2004; 81(12):939-46.

[2] Rouse M, Borsting E, Deland P. "Reliability of binocular vision measurements used in the classification of convergence insufficiency" in Optom Vis Sci. 2002; 79(4):254-64.

[3] Casillas E, Rosenfield M. "Comparison of subjective heterophoria testing with a phoropter and trial frame" in Optom Vis Sci. 2006; 83(4):237-41.

## The DEM test objectively monitored with eye-tracker in young people without binocular dysfunctions

AITANA NAVARRO MARQUÉS, OD ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL, OD, PhD CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE, OD, PhD ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO, OD, PhD Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza, 50009 Zaragoza, Spain

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to use an eye-tracker to objectively measure the ocular motility parameters that intervene when performing the DEM test and to evaluate the coordination between both eyes in a sample of young subjects without visual dysfunctions.

**Experimental method:** An optometric evaluation was carried out on each of 52 participants, with a mean age of  $21.00 \pm 3.22$  to verify that they would not have any binocular dysfunction. Then they completed a computerized version of the DEM test, while their eye movements were recorded by an eye-tracker (Tobii Pro Fusion, Tobii AB, Sweden). A new software program was developed to analyse some specific parameters of ocular motility while doing each sub-test (Test A, Test B and Test C) of the complete DEM test.

**Results:** The mean duration of saccades was longer in Test C ( $22.90 \pm 2.70$  s) than in Test A ( $15.94 \pm 2.22$  s) and Test B ( $16.10 \pm 1.90$  s), but it was the opposite in the mean duration of the fixations, with shorter duration in Test C ( $243.56 \pm 46.18$  s) than in Test A ( $493.52 \pm 171.41$  s) and Test B ( $484.20 \pm 156.59$  s). In terms of subtest duration, we can observe that the time to perform the first two tests was similar (Test A:  $16.51 \pm 2.83$  s vs. Test B:  $17.11 \pm 2.85$  s). The mean adjusted horizontal (AdjHT:  $35.24 \pm 6.68$  s) and vertical (VT:  $33.58 \pm 5.56$  s) time and the mean ratio ( $1.05 \pm 0.09$ ) were calculated, considering the values of all the participants. The mean VT was in the 40th percentile and the AdjHT was in the 45th percentile. In Test C, there was a high positive significant correlation between the saccadic speed (cc: 0.77; p <0.001) and the saccadic length (cc: 0.74; p <0.001) of the right eye (RE) and the left eye (LE). There was also a statistically significant positive correlation (cc: 0.91; p <0.001) between the RE and LE pupillary size.

**Discussion:** Comparing the specific data obtained thanks to the eye-tracker, both the speed and the amplitude of the horizontal saccadic movements of Test C are faster than the vertical ones of Test A and Test B. In addition, we performed more than twice as many saccades in Test C (186.66  $\pm$  96.87) than in Test A or Test B (49.96  $\pm$  41.95 and 53.20  $\pm$  44.46). This may be due to the greater number of numbers and their arrangement in Test C.

#### References

[1] Powell JM, Fan M-Y, Kiltz PJ, Bergman AT, Richman J. "A Comparison of the Developmental Eye Movement Test (DEM) and a Modified Version of the Adult Developmental Eye Movement Test (A-DEM) with Older Adults" in J Behav Optom. 2006; 17(3):59-64.

[2] Garzia RP, Richman JE, Nicholson SB, Gaines CS. "A new visual-verbal saccade test: The Developmental Eye Movement test (DEM)" in J Am Optom Assoc. 1990,61(2):124-35.

## 2.6. REHABILITATION, PERCEPTUAL TRAINING AND VISUAL THERAPY

# Analysis of two methods of evaluating ocular motility using an eye-tracker

ELENA SAZ ONRUBIA ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL ANA SÁNCHEZ CANO CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza

Aim: The general objective of this study is to assess the ocular motility of young subjects using an eye-tracker through the King-Devick (KD) test and the Visual Tracing Test (VTT) and analyze the results obtained. The KD test is used to assess saccadic movements and the VTT is used to assess pursuits. Both are indirect psychometric measures of oculomotor performance used for the clinical assessment of eye movements. For this reason, the number, duration, amplitude and speed of fixations and saccades will be explored. The relationship between both ocular motility tests will also be studied.

**Experimental method:** Fifty-nine young volunteers who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were selected. An optometric examination and a symptom questionnaire were performed to diagnose possible binocular and accommodative dysfunctions. Using an eye-tracker, ocular motility was assessed with the digital version of cards A, B and C of the KD test and five cards of the VTT. The experiment was performed under controlled photopic lighting conditions and with the patient positioned on a chin rest at a distance of 60 cm. The eye-tracker used in this study was the Tobii Pro Fusion (Tobii Technology AB, Danderyd, Sweden).

**Results:** After analyzing the data obtained, as the KD test progressed, the number of fixations, their duration, the duration of the saccades and the total duration of

the test increased. As the patients advanced in the performance of the VTT test, the number of fixations, saccades, the duration of the fixations and the total duration of the test increased while the amplitude of the saccades decreased. In both cases, this is because each card increased the difficulty of the test. There were relationships between various parameters of the two tests used. The relationship between the duration of the saccades of both tests and the average velocity of the saccades was direct. However, the relationship between the mean speed of the saccades in the VTT and the duration of the fixations in the KD test was inverse (Table 1).

<u>Spearman's</u> Rho	N=51	KD duration of fixations	KD duration of saccades	KD average amplitude	KD average speed
VTT duration of fixations	Correlation coefficient	0,473	0,206	-0,129	-0,191
	p-valor	0,000	0,147	0,368	0,180
VTT duration of saccades	Correlation coefficient	0,190	0,625	0,157	0,022
	p-valor	0,182	0,000	0,270	0,878
VTT average amplitude	Correlation coefficient	-0,297	-0,268	0,560	0,146
	p-valor	0,035	0,057	0,000	0,306
VTT average speed	Correlation coefficient	-0,467	-0,357	0,381	0,725
	p-valor	0,001	0,010	0,006	0,000

TABLE 1. The table shows the most remarkable correlations between the King-Devick (KD) and the Visual Tracing Test (VTT).

**Discussion:** The KD test is a visuo-verbal test commonly used in optometric consultations to assess ocular motility in children. In another study with an eye-tracker, a series of measurements were carried out in 61 volunteers between 19 and 25 years old to test the reliability of the KD test for the evaluation and monitoring of concussions. An eye-tracker was used to measure the time taken to complete each test, total saccadic movements, average saccadic velocity, total fixations, intersaccadic interval and average fixation polyarea. [1].

These results do not entirely agree with those obtained in our study, as the mean total saccadic movements in the second test did increase over the first. However, in the third test, they decreased again, while the number of fixations did increase as the test duration increased. The results for saccadic velocity also did not coincide with higher velocities in our study as the test duration increased. This may be because the studies by this author were carried out with professional athletes. Research has shown that standard training in a sport can increase visual skills [2]. Therefore, when performing an exercise that requires eye movements, they can perform it faster than non-athletes, such as the subjects included in this study, which were generally used in our research.

When comparing the results of this study with previous studies using the same tests, whether performed by an eye-tracker or manually, some discrepancies can be observed that may be due to the method used to measure the duration of each test or to the difference in age of the subjects analyzed. After carrying out this study, it can be said that the eye-tracker technique is an effective method for evaluating oculomotor movements.

#### References

[1] Deveau J, Ozer DJ, Seitz AR. "Improved vision and on-field performance in baseball through perceptual learning" in Curr Biol. 2014 Feb 17; 24(4):R146-7.

[2] Rizzo J-R, Hudson TE, Dai W, Birkemeier J, Pasculli RM, Selesnick I, et al. "Rapid number naming in chronic concussion: eye movements in the King-Devick test" in Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2016; 3(10):801-11.

## Improvement in fusional vergence amplitudes after a vision therapy protocol for subjects with typical binocular vision

#### CRISTINA ROVIRA-GAY

MARC ARGILES

Centre for Sensors, Instruments and Systems Development (CD6). Polytechnic University of Catalonia, Terrassa, Spain

#### CLARA MESTRE

School of Optometry, Indiana University, Bloomington, USA

#### JAUME PUJOL

Centre for Sensors, Instruments and Systems Development (CD6). Polytechnic University of Catalonia, Terrassa, Spain

**Aim:** The goal of the study was to objectively evaluate the change in fusional vergence amplitudes at near distance in a group of adults with typical binocular and accommodative systems after performing 12 weeks of a conventional vision therapy protocol.

**Methodology:** A total of 32 adults (24±4 years) were randomly classified into an experimental group (EG) (N=16, 14 females) and a control group (CG) (N=16, 9 females). The office-based vision therapy protocol performed by the EG consisted of 12 weeks of 45 min/week of conventional vergence therapy. This vision therapy protocol was designed to train both positive and negative fusional vergence (PFV and NFV, respectively) amplitudes in the same proportion. The CG did 12 weeks of 15 min/week of office-based therapy based on eye movement exercises in the frontal plane. Participants' fusional vergence amplitudes were measured objectively before starting the vision therapy and at the end of the protocol. Both evaluations were done using an haploscopic set-up and eye movements were recorded with the Eyelink 1000 Plus (SR Research) eye-tracker at 500Hz. A column of 0.20 LogMAR letters presented at a viewing distance of 40 cm was used as a stimulus and its disparity changed smoothly at 1PD/s up to 45PD for both PFV and NFV. The break point was determined offline using a custom algorithm written in Matlab for analyzing the eye movements (Figure 1).



FIGURE 1. Example of vergence movements measured (in blue) during a NFV amplitude measure. The vergence demand driven by the stimuli is shown in black. The red vertical line represents the time of the objective break point.

**Results:** Before starting the vision therapy protocol, the two groups showed similar break points for PFV with a median (interquartile range) of 43.27 PD (15.51 PD) for the EG and 42.34 PD (19.02 PD) for the CG (Z= -0.93, p=0.353). After

the vision therapy protocol, the EG exhibited a statistically significant increase in PFV [break points of 45.00 PD (0.00 PD), Z=-2.52, p=0.012] and all participants reached maximum disparity, whereas it remained stable for the CG [44.33 PD (12.51 PD), Z=-0.94, p=0.347]. The NFV break points of the CG was 13.06 PD (3.62 PD) and 13.92 PD (6.37 PD) for the EG, so before starting the vision therapy protocol, they were not statistically significantly different (Z=-0.565, p=0.572). After the vision therapy protocol, there was no statistically significant change in the NFV break point for the CG (13.40 PD (6.26 PD) or the EG (14.62 PD (3.93 PD), Z=-1.34, p=0.178).

**Discussion:** Vision therapy is the most effective treatment option to increase the amplitude, speed, and accuracy of vergence responses and improve visual comfort [1]. It can also be used to prevent symptomatology related to the increased visual demands at near distance [2]. However, with conventional clinical methods, it is not possible to objectively quantify the effects of this treatment or to generate objective records to monitor the change in oculomotor performance over time. Eye-tracking systems can be used to objectively measure vergence responses and monitor the effects of vision therapy protocols objectively and accurately.

**Conclusion**: As expected, the CG showed no change in PFV and NFV amplitudes after a vision therapy protocol. After the conventional vision therapy protocol for the vergence system, the EG improved PFV amplitudes, but not NFV amplitudes. It may not be possible to further increase participants' NFV amplitudes with normal binocular vision if they already exhibited top performance at the physiological limit of divergence capabilities before the vision therapy protocol. More sessions might be needed to improve NFV amplitudes, as divergence is generally more difficult to train than convergence.

**Financial support:** This study is part of the project PID2020-112527RB-I00, funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033.

#### References

[4] American Optometric Association. Optometric Clinical Practice Guideline: Care of the Patient with Accommodative and Vergence Dysfunction. American Optometric Association. 2011; 107.

[5] Talasan H, Scheiman M, Li X, Alvarez TL. "Disparity vergence responses before versus after repetitive vergence therapy in binocularly normal controls" in Journal of Vision. 2016; 16(1):7.

## Insufficiency of convergence: a case report

DIANA SORIANO PINA Miguel Servet Ophthalmology Research Group

IRENE PALACIOS ORTEGO CARMEN LÓPEZ DE LA FUENTE Department of Applied Physics, University of Zaragoza

**Aim:** The objective of this study is to present the clinical case of a 23-year-old patient with symptomatic convergence insufficiency, treated through a visual therapy program.

**Experimental method:** The patient reported headaches after prolonged study periods, near vision blurring and visual fatigue throughout the day. The symptomatology increased during the period of confinement. The patient presented daily headaches and prolonged visual fatigue due to increased exposure to the computer screen and tasks in near vision. Before the visual examination, the patient answered the CISS V-15 questionnaire.

Convergence insufficiency associated with accommodative excess was diagnosed, more pronounced in the left eye (LE). The patient presented emmetropia in both eyes. In the evaluation, an exophoria was obtained in near vision that was not compensated by its positive fusional vergences according to Sheard's criteria. The values of the tests that evaluate convergence were also reduced: near point of convergence, positive fusional vergences, vergence flexibility, binocular accommodative flexibility with positive lenses and negative relative accommodation (NRA). Regarding accommodation, accommodative excess was observed. The patient had more difficulty in relaxing accommodation during the monocular accommodative facility with positive lenses with the LE.

A visual therapy treatment was prescribed for 17 sessions, aiming to normalise the values of the accommodative and binocular tests and reduce the patient's symptoms. (Table 1).

Phase 1	Phase 2	Phase 3		
- Accommodation	<ul> <li>Accommodation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Accommodation</li> </ul>		
- Motility	<ul> <li>Anti-suppression</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Anti-suppression</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Anti-suppression</li> </ul>	- Vergences	- Vergences		
- Vergences				

TABLE 1.	Vision	therapy	phases.
----------	--------	---------	---------

**Results:** The results of the optometric evaluations carried out before and after treatment with vision therapy and the normal ranges are shown in Table 2. After treatment, the values found in the different optometric tests were observably within normal limits.

	BEFORE			AFTER				NORMAL VALUES		
NPC	9/17 cm			< 3 cm			< 6 cm			
COVER TEST	12 $\Delta$ Exophoria			6 Δ Exophoria			1 $\Delta$ Exophoria			
MADDOX TEST	FV:		N١	/:	FV:		NV:		$1 \Delta$ Exophoria	
	12ΔΕχο		18∆Exo		1.5∆Exo €		6Δ	δΔΕχο		
PFV	FV:		N\	/:	FV: N		NV	:	FV:	NV:
	6/4		16/8		45/40 >		>4	5	11/7	19/14
VF (4/14 ∆)	FV:		NV:		FV:		NV:		11 cpm	
	0 cpm		12 cpm		13 cpm		16 cpm			
AF	RE: LE:			BE:	RE:	LE:		BE:	11 cpm	
	13 cpm	L3 cpm 🛛 9 cpr		12 cpm	16 cpm	14		14		
						cpm	۱	cpm		
NRA/PRA	+1.00 D/-2.50 D			+2.25 D/ >-3.00 D			+2.50 D/ -2.50 D			
MEM	+1.50 D BE			+0.75 D BE			+0.75 D			

 TABLE 2. Pre-treatment and post-treatment subjective clinical measures and normal range.

 NPC: near point of convergence; LE: left eye; RE: right eye; BE: both eyes; CPM; cycles per minute;

 cm: centimeters; FV: far vision; NV: near vision; PFV: Positive fusional vergence; VF: Vergence

 Facility; AF: accommodative facility; NRA/PRA: negative relative accommodation/positive relative

 accommodation; D= diopters; MEM: monocular estimation method.

**Discussion:** One of the treatment options for accommodative and binocular vision dysfunctions is vision therapy [1]. This dysfunction is the most common. Many studies analyze vision therapy's effectiveness in treating convergence insufficiency. In a randomized clinical trial, Scheiman et al. improved the near point of convergence and positive fusional vergences after treatment of convergence insufficiency by VT and decreased symptoms [2]. A recent meta-analysis compared different types of treatment for convergence insufficiency; it concluded that office-based therapy with home reinforcement increases the chance of a successful outcome. However, the positive effect of the treatment was not so evident in the case of adults. Nevertheless, this case supports the effectiveness of vision therapy in adult patients. [3-5].

However, more research is needed on the efficacy of this treatment in the different accommodative and binocular vision dysfunctions.

#### References

[1] García-Muñoz Á, Carbonell-Bonete S, Cacho-Martínez P. "Symptomatology associated with accommodative and binocular vision anomalies" in J Optom. 2014; 7(4):178-92.

[2] Kelsey C. Martin Mhatre V. Ho J-AL. "Vision therapy and orthoptic exercises for symptomatic CI". Schieman [Internet]. 2012; 23(1):1-7.

[3] Scheiman M, Kulp MT, Cotter SA, Lawrenson JG, Wang L LT. "Interventions for convergence insufficiency: a network meta-analysis" in Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020; 12(12):CD006768. Published 2020 Dec 2.

[4] Cooper J, Jamal N. "Convergence insufficiency – a major review" in Optometry. 2012; 83(4):137-58.

[5] Article O. "A Randomized Clinical Trial of Vision Therapy / Orthoptics versus Pencil Pushups for the Treatment of Convergence Insufficiency in Young Adults". Optom Vis Sci. 2005; 82(7).

# **2.7. SPECIAL POPULATIONS**

## Primary congenital glaucoma: a clinical case

NATALIA MARTÍNEZ VAÑÓ University of Alicante

Aim: To develop a clinical case of a patient with primary congenital glaucoma (PCG).

**Experimental method:** By means of a personal interview with the patient, the data referred to the anamnesis, the quality of life (QoL) and previous optometric/oph-thalmological data were obtained, in addition to the data provided by ONCE.

The methodology for taking measurements was as follows:

- Visual acuity (VA) and subjective refraction with the Feinbloom test at 6 m; VA in decimal unit.
- Estimation of near VA with different glasses with high addition (24D; 28D; 32D) using the Lighthouse test for near vision at 7 cm.
- Corneal topography and wavefront aberration analysis with the Visionix VX 120+ measuring instrument.
- Fundus imaging with the Visuscam pro nm retinograph.
- Computerized campimetry using the MonCV3 campimeter.
- Slit lamp with camera for imaging.

Concerning the patient's QoL, the VFQ-25 questionnaire was completed [1-2]. It was read to the patient to facilitate its implementation. Afterwards, by means of a personal interview, the patient described how his vision has been throughout his life and how it has affected his QoL.

#### **Results:**

A. Visual parameters of the patient

Personal data: A 46-year-old man whose first diagnosis provided by ONCE was at the age of 8 years, in which he was diagnosed with PCG in the right eye (RE). This had an uncorrected visual acuity (UCVA)=0.01, best corrected visual acuity (BCVA)=0.1 and reduction of the peripheral visual field by 60%,

whereas the left eye (LE) was diagnosed with PCG and corneal degeneration (UCVA=BCVA=0.01).



Medical history: The patient does not remember having vision with the LE and the timeline for the RE can be seen in Fig. 1. He is currently taking antiglaucomatous medication, immunosuppressants and corticosteroids to prevent rejection of the third corneal transplant and control IOP.

Measurements: He usually wears glasses with a prescription of (+8.00) (-4.00)100° and a near spectacle with high addition (+22D) for the RE. His UCVA (0.056) and BCVA (0.066) were taken. At near vision the patient had difficulty reading the near visual aquity (NVA)=1M(0.07 decimal); he wanted to read it to have autonomy as a father so he can read medicine leaflets. Retinoscopy of the RE was performed, obtaining (+6.00)(-4.00)70° and a topography where was observed a corneal cylinder of (-5.75)62°. In the subjective examination, (+6.50) (-6.00)65° was obtained, giving the patient a VA=0.1. It was decided to try three pairs of glasses with high additions for near vision. He performed best with the 28D glasses, reading NVA=1M. A slit lamp examination was performed (Fig. 2), as well as a fundus and a visual field examination, where we see superior visual field loss corresponding to the inferior eye fundus defect. Finally, a wavefront analysis was performed, highlighting its PSF (Fig. 3).

#### B. QoL of the patient

VFQ-25 test: A total score of 45.13 was obtained, where the general health and driving questions were omitted. The patient's general health score was 75.00 while the general vision score was 20.00 points. Notably, he scored high on mental health (81.25) and low on social function and peripheral vision (25.00).

Life experience: The patient reports how he can cope easily in all areas thanks to his experience, but he is also aware of his reduced vision. The only area

where the patient has encountered problems throughout his life has been in parenting and in socializing.

**Discussion:** During the clinical case, a slight improvement of VA was achieved despite the irregular astigmatism. The VFQ-25 scores were in accordance with his life experience and pathology.

#### References

[1] C. Alvarez-Peregrinaa, M.A. Sánchez-Tenaa, D. Caballé-Fontanet, I.J. Thuissard-Vasallo, M.B. Gacimartín-García, C. Orduna-Magán. "Crosscultural adaptation and validation into Spanish of the questionnaire National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire 25" in Arch Soc Esp Oftalmol (Engl Ed). Dec 2018; 93(12):586-591.

[2] RAND Corporation. RAND. Available on: https://www.rand.org/health-care/surveys\_tools/vfq.html. Access date: 17/05/2022.

# The effect of cataracts on individual biological rhythms

ISABEL FAMBUENA MUEDRA M.ª AMPARO DÍEZ-AJENJO SALVADOR CORS FERRANDO

Department of Optics and Optometry and Vision Sciences. University of Valencia. C/ Doctor Moliner, 50. 46100 Burjassot-Valencia, Spain

FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, 46015 Valencia, Spain

#### ELSA GÓMEZ DOMINGO

FISABIO-Medical Ophthalmology (FOM), Av. Pío Baroja, 12, 46015 Valencia, Spain

#### F. JAVIER PUERTAS CUESTA

Sleep Unit, La Ribera University Hospital. Carretera de Corbera Km 1. 46600 Alzira-Valencia, Spain Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences. Catholic University of Valencia. C/ Quevedo, 2. 46001 Valencia, Spain

**Aim:** Chronotypes are individual biological and behavioral rhythm characteristics that show preference as to a sleep-wake cycle. It is well established in many studies that morning types (M-type) show a marked preference for waking at an

early hour and going to bed early, while evening types (E-type) wake up late, stay out late and tend to be more exposed to artificial bright light [1].

This study aims to assess whether cataracts have an impact on the individual's chronotype (i.e., morningness versus eveningness).



FIGURE 1. Chronotype in a population with cataracts.

**Experimental method:** A Munich Chronotype Questionnaire (MCTQ) [2] was conducted for patients diagnosed with binocular cataracts (n=42) and monocular cataracts (n=42). A total of 84 patients (46 men and 38 women,  $74.6 \pm 6.7$  years of age), all residents of Valencia, Spain, were recruited for a descriptive, observational, prospective and cross-sectional study.

Chronotypes were given by mid-sleep on free days corrected for sleep deficit (MSFsc). MCTQ parameters were represented by hours. The range of scoring was from 1 to 7.5. The participants scoring between 1 to 3.5 were considered M-types, those scoring between 3.6 to 5.5 were seen as neither types and those scoring between 5.6 to 7.5 were classified as E-types.

The mean and standard deviations were computed and the normality of the samples checked with the Shapiro-Wilk test. A statistical comparison between groups was performed with Student's t-test. The statistical test used for qualitative variables was Pearson's chi-squared test ( $\chi$ 2) in both binocular ( $\chi$ 2b) and monocular cataracts ( $\chi$ 2m).

**Results:** Morningness was more frequent in men than women in both groups, but the difference was not statistically significant ( $\chi$ 2b=0.968, p=0.325 vs.  $\chi$ 2m=0.902, p= 0.342). There was no significant relationship between chronotype and age ( $\leq$  65 years group and >65 years group).

(χ2b =2.291, p=0.130 vs. χ2m=0.000, p= 1.0).

Using Student's t-test, we found that differences in chronotype were not significant due to binocular or monocular cataracts (t=-0.713(82), p=0.478), although in patients with monocular cataracts morningness was more frequent (27%) than in those who have binocular cataracts (19%). There were not eveningness patients in both groups (Figure 1).

**Discussion:** Although there was a tendency for morningness in patients with monocular cataracts against patients with binocular cataracts, especially men more than women, no significant differences were found. Overall, chronotype changes with advancing age towards a more M-type orientation [3] but not in our study, which was formed by a special population with advanced cataracts. According to the results reported by Lehnkering et al [4], sleep factors of the elderly may also depend on their lifestyle.

#### References

[1] Selvi Y, Gulec M, Agargun MY, Besiroglu L. "Mood changes after sleep deprivation in morningness-eveningness chronotypes in healthy individuals" in J Sleep Res 2007; 16(3):241-244.

[2] Roenneberg T, Wirz-Justice A, & Merrow M. "Life between clocks: daily temporal patterns of human chronotypes" in J. Biol. Rhythms, 2003; 18:80-90.

[3] Monk TH, & Buysse DJ. "Chronotype, bed timing and total sleep time in seniors" in Chronobiology International 2014; 31(5):655-659.

[4] Lehnkering H, Siegmund R. "Influence of chronotype, season, and sex of subject on sleep behavior of young adults" in Chronobiol Int 2007; 24:875-888.

# Unilateral adult-onset foveomacular vitelliform dystrophy: a case report

ESTELA LÓPEZ REDONDO Clínica Oftalmos. Calle Santa Engracia, 6 (28010) Madrid JOSÉ LUIS CEBRIÁN LAFUENTE

La Paz University Hospital. P.º de la Castellana, 261 (28046) Madrid

**Aim:** To report a case of unilateral adult-onset vitelliform macular dystrophy in a patient with years of follow-up.

**Experimental method:** Case report of a 75-year-old woman diagnosed with unilateral adult-onset vitelliform macular dystrophy seven years ago. A complete ophthalmological examination was performed, including visual acuity with the ETDRS optotype (Precision Vision, Illinois, USA), optical coherence tomography with Spectralis SD-OCT (Heidelberg Engineering software version 6.0.11.0, Heidelberg, Germany), ultra-widefield autofluorescence imaging with Optomap (Optos PLC, UK) and a biomicroscopy examination. Her prior ocular history includes three Bevacizumab injections in another center, the last in March 2015. The patient was treated in our center with one Bevacizumab injection in October and one Aflibercept injection in November 2015 due to retinal neovascularization. There has been no treatment since. In the follow-up on the patient, it was possible to observe the different stages of the pathology.

**Results:** The patient reported a slow and gradual loss of visual acuity and metamorphopsia for years in the right eye (table 1). Visual acuity in the right eye was 0.7 logMAR and in the left eye it was 0.1 logMAR. The OCT of the right eye showed a central area of retinal epithelial atrophy consistent with end-stage adult-onset vitelliform macular dystrophy. Autofluorescence showed the delimitation of the lesion in the right eye and an atrophic lesion without central autofluorescence was observed (approximately the size of half a disc diameter with a heterogeneous appearance). The left eye was normal.

**Discussion:** Adult vitelliform dystrophy is usually a bilateral pathology [1], although some unilateral cases have been described (such as ours). It is characterized by subfoveal rounded yellowish lesions and a loss of visual acuity and its clinical characteristics can be confused with other pathologies such as Best's dystrophy or macular degeneration [2, 3], so it is important to establish a correct differential diagnosis. OCT has proven to be a useful diagnostic tool for this pathology [3, 4] and furthermore, with the continuous evolution of technology,

other	tools	such	as ultr	a-widefield	autofl	uorescence	imaging	facilitate	the	diag-
nosis	of the	patho	ology a	nd improv	e its fol	low-up.				

Visual acuity far vision without correction (LogMAR)							
	Right eye	Left eye					
16/09/2015	0.7 PH 0.4	0					
01/10/2015	Bevacizumab	-					
18/11/2015	0.4 PH 0.2	0					
19/11/2015	Aflibercept	-					
15/01/2016	0.4 PH 0.2	0					
09/06/2016	0.4 PH 0.3	0					
28/09/2016	0.3 PH 0.2	0					
28/06/2017	0.4 PH 0.3	0					
09/10/2018	0.7 PH 0.6	0.1 PH 0.1					
16/04/2019	0.8 PH 0.6	0.1 PH 0.1					
28/10/2021	0.7 PH 0.7	0.1 PH 0.1					
28/04/2022	0.7 PH 0.7	0.1 PH 0.1					

TABLE 1. LogMAR visual acuity in the different visits. PH: pinhole.



FIGURE 1. A) Optical coherence tomography (OCT) at the last visit. OD: final stage of adult vitelliform dystrophy (atrophy stage). B) Small drusen in the outer layers of the retina. Preserved foveal profile. OD: right eye; OS: left eye.

**Conclusion**: It is important to know the signs and symptoms of adult vitelliform dystrophy and perform a complete examination to establish a correct diagnosis and follow-up because this pathology can cause low vision.

#### References

[1] Chowers I, Tiosano L, Audo I, Grunin M, Boon CJF. "Adult-onset foveomacular vitelliform dystrophy: A fresh perspective" in Prog Retin Eye Res. 2015; 47:64-85.

[2] Arrigo A, Bordato A, Aragona E, Amato A, Viganò C, Bandello F, et al. "Macular neovascularization in AMD, CSC and best vitelliform macular dystrophy: quantitative OCTA detects distinct clinical entities" in Eye. 2021; 35(12):3266-76.

[3] Furino C, Boscia F, Cardascia N, Sborgia L, Sborgia C. "Fundus autofluorescence, optical coherence tomography and visual acuity in adult-onset foveomacular dystrophy" in Ophthalmologica. 2008; 222(4):240-4.

[4] Joshi K, Nesper P, Fawzi A, Mirza R. "Optical coherence tomography angiography in adult-onset foveomacular vitelliform dystrophy" in Retina. 2018;36(3):600-5.

## **2.8. VISUAL PERCEPTION AND PROCESSING**

# Color vision in neurodegenerative diseases, bibliographic review

MARÍA LANZÁN LANZÁN ELVIRA ORDUNA HOSPITAL Department of Applied Physics. University of Zaragoza. Zaragoza, 50009, Spain

**Aim:** Neurodegenerative patients may suffer different visual alterations during the disease. Some studies have suggested chromatic dysfunction as a possible marker of neuropathology. The goal of this study was to compile a bibliographic review about recent studies that investigate the relationship between different neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Multiple Sclerosis, Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder and Epilepsy) and color vision alterations.

**Experimental method:** To carry out this bibliographic review, Goggle Scholar and Pubmed were consulted between September 2020 and March 2021.

The terms used in the search in the databases were: color vision, colour vision, neurodegenerative disease, Alzheimer, Parkinson, Multiple Sclerosis, Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder and Epilepsy. All diseases separately (Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Multiple Sclerosis, Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, Epilepsy) were combined with the terms "color vision" and "colour vision", joined by the Boolean operator "AND".

The studies had to be written between January 2000 and March 2021. Over 100,000 articles were obtained from this search between the two databases.

Once the previous search was done, the articles were filtered. Articles were chosen if they made with humans, if the documents included all search terms and if the studies used color tests such as the Ishihara Test or some type of Farnsworth-Munsell. Articles were discarded if the documents were published before the year 2000, the studies were not carried out in humans, the articles mentioned other neurodegenerative diseases than those chosen for the review, the articles dealt the diseases but not the chromatic alterations or they were studies with color tests created by the editors. Of these articles, after applying the inclusion criteria and the exclusion criteria mentioned, 29 were selected for the discussion in this article.

**Results:** The articles compared the results obtained in color tests (Farnsworth-Munsell 100-Hue, Farnsworth-Munsell D-15, Lanthony D-15, Ishihara, Trivector, Ellipse, PV-16) of control subjects with a group suffering from a specific neurode-generative disease.

The articles selected on color vision related to neurodegenerative diseases were: 6 on Alzheimer's disease, 6 on Parkinson's disease, 6 on Multiple Sclerosis, 4 on Schizophrenia, 2 on Bipolar Disorder and the remaining 5 on Epilepsy.

**Discussion:** There is a relationship between the progression of neurodegenerative diseases and color vision alterations, but it is not known what happens in each disease. In each of the neurodegenerative diseases, a specific color range is affected [1-6].

In Parkinson's and Alzheimer's patients, the blue-yellow and red-green axes were affected. In patients with Multiple Sclerosis, the red-green axis was altered and the blue-yellow axis could also be affected. Schizophrenia patients had all colors affected, but none was completely affected. Patients with Bipolar Disorder presented a slight protanomaly. And in the case of Epilepsy, only blue was affected because the medication disturbed the cones responsible for perceiving this color.

Moreover, there are few color tests that analyze all color range in detail and the tests that do are complicated for most of these patients.

With the research that exists to date, color alterations cannot be taken as early biomarkers of neurodegenerative disease. The color test can be useful to differentiate between patients and healthy subjects, but not to detect the disease earlier or to differentiate between neurodegenerative diseases.

#### References

[1] Salamone G, Di Lorenzo C, Mosti S, Lupo F, Cravello L, Palmer K, et al. "Color Discrimination Performance in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease" in Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2009; 27(6).

[2] Pieri V, Diederich NJ, Raman R, Goetz CG. "Decreased color iscrimination and contrast sensitivity in Parkinson's disease" in J Neurol Sci. 2000 Jan; 172(1).

[3] Piro A, Tagarelli A, Nicoletti G, Scannapieco S, Polidoro S, Valentino P, et al. "Impairment of acquired color vision in multiple sclerosis: an early diagnostic sign linked to the greatness of disease" in Int Ophthalmol. 2019 Mar 1; 39(3).

[4] Dahdouh O, Haddad C, Hany Z, Azar G, Lahoud C, Hallit S, et al. "Colour discrimination among patients with schizophrenia in Lebanon" in Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract. 2020 Jun 1; 24(2). [5] Fernandes TMP, Andrade SM, de Andrade MJO, Nogueira RMTBL, Santos NA. "Colour discrimination thresholds in type 1 Bipolar Disorder: a pilot study" in Sci Rep. 2017 Dec 27; 7(1):16405.

[6] Sorri I, Rissanen E, Mäntyjärvi M, Kälviäinen R. "Visual function in epilepsy patients treated with initial valproate monotherapy" in Seizure. 2005 Sep; 14(6):367-70.

# 2.9. OTHER OPTOMETRY-RELATED SUBJECTS

# Correlation between functional and structural assessments of the retinal macula in healthy young subjects

ALICIA ALGÁS SANZ SUSANA ORTÍ NAVARRO Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia, Burjassot 46100, Spain

**Aim:** To evaluate the correlation between functional eye examinations (Humphrey 10-2 computerized campimetry) and structural measurements of the macula (Optical Coherence Tomography: OCT) in healthy young patients.

**Experimental method:** This study includes data from 60 eyes belonging to 30 healthy subjects between 18 and 25 years old with a mean age of  $22.3 \pm 1.34$ . Seventy percent were women and the remaining 30% were men. The health of the subjects was assessed by means of a previous anamnesis and visual acuity measurement. Subjects with any type of refractive condition were accepted if their monocular visual acuity (VA) in distance vision (DV) was at least 1.0 on a decimal scale. A Topcon TRK-2P autorefractometer was used to obtain the objective measurement of refractive error. Total retinal, nerve fiber layer (RNFL) and ganglion cell layer (GCL) thickness in the macular area were assessed by Topcon 3D OCT-2000 with two evaluation protocols, Radial and 3D Macula V. Retinal macular sensitivity was measured by Humphrey 10-2 computerized campimetry of the Zeiss Humphrey 745, obtaining the mean deviation (MD). All data collected have normal distribution. Pearson's correlation coefficient and the probability value (p) were used to evaluate the degree of linear dependence between two quantitative variables.

**Results:** A statistically significant positive correlation was found between the thickness of the GCL and MD (p=0.014; r=0.317) (Figure 1) in addition to dif-

ferent correlations between the variables studied. The correlation was not statistically significant between the thickness of the RNFL and MD (p=0.594), nor between total retinal thickness and MD (p=0.342).

# GCL thickness

FIGURE 1. Graphical representation of the correlation between GCL thickness ( $\mu$ m) and MD (dB) in the macular area.

**Discussion:** The results confirm the hypothesis based on previous studies [1-2] of the existence of a statistically significant correlation between GCL thickness in the macular area and MD of Humphrey 10-2 automated campimetry in healthy young patients.

In this study, no statistically significant correlation is found between RNFL thickness and MD, which is supported by previous studies [3]; however, there are others that do find a correlation [1]. The correlation between the two parameters is controversial and future studies are required to better understand it.

The existing limitations of the study, such as the evaluation of both eyes in the statistical correlations, which does not obtain the same results as taking only one of them, are kept in mind for future research.

#### References

[1] Nieves-Moreno M, García-Caride S, Morales-Fernandez L, Martínez-de-la-Casa JM, Sáenz-Francés F, Sánchez-Jean R, et al. "Correlación entre el grosor de las capas internas de la retina y el defecto medio del campo visual en pacientes con glaucoma congénito primario" in Archivos de la Sociedad Española de Oftal-mología, 2019; 94(11):536-539.

[2] Prasad A, Tepelus TC, Nittala MG, Song S, Chopra V, & Sadda SR. "The relationship between microperimetric retinal sensitivity and ganglion cell com-

plex thickness in patients with low tension glaucoma" in Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science, 2018; 59(9):2120.

[3] Klamann MKJ, Grünert A, Maier A-KB, Gonnermann J, Joussen AM, Huber KK. "Comparison of functional and morphological diagnostics in glaucoma patients and healthy subjects" in Ophthalmic Research, 2013; 49(4):192-198.

# Effect of power and astigmatism axis on visual acuity

#### AIDA RAMÓN CAMPILLO

Student of the Master's programme in Advanced Optometry and Vision Sciences, University of Valencia

**Aim**: The purpose of this article is to investigate the change in visual acuity (VA) produced by simple myopic astigmatism of different magnitudes and orientations in young patients. [1.2].

**Experimental method:** An induced defocus method was used to simulate 24 defocus conditions in 21 patients with a mean age of  $21.7\pm2.4$ . Using positive cylindrical lenses (+1D, +2D. +3D) oriented at different axes (0°, 30°, 45°, 60°, 90°, 120°, 135°, 150°), simple myopic astigmatism was induced in 21 healthy emmetropic patients. In each case, VA was measured using an ETDRS device and the results were expressed in LogMAR units. The results obtained for each combination were compared to assess changes in VA as a function of orientation and power of the induced astigmatism. The results obtained were also used to calculate the mean degree of astigmatic defocus resulting from each of the combinations tested.

**Results**: No statistically significant differences in VA were found when changing the cylinder orientation. However, significant differences were found when changing the magnitude of the astigmatism, with lower VA values obtained at higher induced dioptric defocus [3, 4, 5]. The mean values of VALogMAR obtained for each orientation, keeping the cylinder, constant were: For 1D: (0°: 0.13, 30°:0.14, 45°:0.16, 60°:0.16, 90°:0.14, 120°:0.14, 135°:0.16, 150°:0.14). For 2D: (0°: 0.4, 30°:0.4, 45°:0.48, 60°:0.48, 90°:0.44, 120°:0.41, 135°:0.40, 150°:0.47). For 3D: (0°: 0.63, 30°:0.65, 45°:0.69, 60°:0.68, 90°:0.65, 120°:0.69, 135°:0.69, 150°:0.66).

It was also found that the mean astigmatic defocus calculated for the mean of VA obtained in each combination was lower at high powers and higher at low and medium powers, alternating according to the cylinder orientation [6].

**Discussion**: In the statistical analysis, no statistically significant differences were found between the results obtained for astigmatisms of equal magnitude but different orientation. This is rather curious, since the literature indicates that the tolerance to the axis decreases the higher the power [3, 5, 6]. It also confirms Raasch's hypothesis [5] that the axis of astigmatism has no influence on VA. It further confirms the results obtained in the study by Tan et al [3] that indicated that the image quality was significantly degraded for astigmatisms greater than -0.75D, but this was independent of the axis. These changes in the results may be due to methodological differences, regarding how the astigmatism is simulated or how the parameters were taken into account when measuring VA.

Moreover, statistically significant differences were found for different cylinder powers oriented on the same axis and the results obtained show that the higher the MSA, the worse the VA obtained. These results are in agreement with the literature [1, 2, 4, 6].

Therefore, the present study makes it possible to conclude that for the sample studied, no subjective differences can be seen when changing the orientation of the axis for the same power, but visual quality does decrease as power increases, decreasing VA. This indicates that VA is better the closer the foci are to the retina, but it is also independent of axis orientation. This expresses that the tolerance effects towards the astigmatism-compensating lens are more dependent on the power than on the orientation of the lens.

Even so, the results obtained belong to a limited sample, so the conclusions are not applicable to the whole population.

#### References

[1] Remón L, Monsoriu JA, Furlan WD. "Influence of different types of astigmatism on visual acuity" in J Optom. 2016; 10(3):141-148.

[2] Remon L, Tornel M, Furlan WD. "Visual Acuity in Simple Myopic Astigmatism: Influence of Cylinder Axis" in Optom Vis Sci. 2006; 83(5):311-315.

[3] Tan Q, Wen B, Liao X, Tian J, Lin J, Lan C. "Optical quality in low astigmatic eyes with or without cylindrical correction" in Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2019; 258(2):451. [4] Atchison DA, Mathur A. "Visual acuity with astigmatic blur" in Optom Vis Sci. 2011; 88(7):798-805.

[5] Raasch TW. "Spherocylindrical refractive errors and visual acuity" in Optom Vis Sci. 1995; 72(4):272-275.

[6] Sha J, Fedtke C, Tilia D, Yeotikar N, Jong M, Diec J, et al. "Effect of cylinder power and axis changes on vision in astigmatic participants" in Clin Optom. 2019; 11(1):27.

## Headache and ametropia

#### SILVIA HERNÁNDEZ SEGOVIA

CUNIMAD Centre for Higher Education. Parque Empresarial de José María Churruca. C\ de Almansa, 101, 28040 Madrid

**Aim:** In the third edition of the international classification of headache disorders, carried out in 2018, it was determined that there is a headache attributable to refractive errors [1]. The purpose of this study is to analyze the most current scientific evidence to understand the relationship between headache and uncorrected ametropia, so that it can serve as a guide for optometrists in their daily clinical practice when prescribing graduations with the intention of reducing or eliminating these headaches.

**Experimental method:** A bibliographic review of studies published since 2014 on the subject to be discussed has been carried out, discarding those that showed a clearly deficient methodology.

**Results:** Headaches associated with refractive errors would be daily [2], mainly frontal [3, 4, 5], and would be accentuated as the day goes by [4]. The refractive errors most associated with headaches would be astigmatism [4-6], hyperopia [7] and anisometropia [5].

**Discussion:** Headaches and refractive errors are frequently associated, since both conditions are relatively common in the general population. Visiting optometrists with the main complaint of headache but without a complaint of poor vision is very common. However, there is no clear scientific evidence that demonstrates without a doubt the absence or presence of a relationship between headache and uncorrected ametropia. Standardized protocols are needed to conduct studies on headaches associated with uncorrected ametropia. It is also necessary to carry out clinical trials to assess the efficacy of the correction of the refractive error on improving the headaches, which would ultimately demonstrate the presence or absence of a causal relationship between these two variables. The task of the optometrist would be to detect those cases of headache whose characteristics indicate that it could be associated with an uncorrected refractive error and carry out a thorough visual examination to detect and correct this ametropia.



FIGURE 1. Types of headaches attributable to eye disorders, according to the international classification of headache disorders. Author's creation.

#### References

[1] "Headache classification committee of the international headache society. The international classification of headache disorders, 3rd edition" in Cephalalgia: An International Journal of Headache. 2018; (1): pp.1-211. doi:10.1177/ 0333102417738202.

[2] Gunes A, Demirci S, Tok L, Tok O, Koyuncuoglu H, & Yurekli VA. "Refractive errors in patients with migraine headache" in Seminars in ophthalmology. 2016; (5), pp.492-494. doi:10.3109/08820538.2014.962177.

[3] Wajuihian SO. "Frequency of asthenopia and its association with refractive errors" in African Vision and Eye Health. 2015; (1), pp.1-7. doi:10.4102/aveh. v74i1.293.

[4] Lajmi H, Choura R, Achour BB, Doukh M, Amin Z, & Hmaied W. "Headache associated with refractive errors: characteristics and risk factors" in Revue neurologique. 2021; (8), pp.947-954. doi:10.1016/j.neurol.2020.10.008.

[5] Jain S, Chandravanshi SL, Dukariya L, Tirkey ER, & Jain SC. "Clinical study of headache with special reference to ophthalmic cause" in Int J Med Sci public

health. 2015; (2), pp.292-297. Obtained from https://web.archive.org/ web/20170921234044id\_/http://journalarticle.ukm.my/8785/1/P.292-297.pdf.

[6] Mehboob MA, Nisar H, & Khan M. "Ametropia in children with headache" in Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences. 2019; (3), pp.701-704. doi:10.12669/ pjms.35.3.268.

[7] Thorud HS, Aurjord R, & Falkenberg HK. "Headache and musculoskeletal pain in school children are associated with uncorrected vision problems and need for glasses: a case-control study" in Scientific Reports. 2021; (1): pp.1-12. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-81497-w.

## Relationship between the results of the ocular surface disease index and the objective values of the ocular protection index with and without the use of an FFP2 face mask

PAULA MARTÍNEZ MERCEDES BASULTO MARSET University of Valencia

**Aim:** The purpose of this study was to assess how the use of valveless FFP2 face masks affects tear film stability in subjects not previously diagnosed with dry eye syndrome (DED). The Ocular Protection Index (OPI) with and without a face mask and the OSDI (Ocular Surface Disease Index) score were evaluated.

**Experimental method:** A study was conducted that included 35 subjects between the ages of 20 and 34 who used a face mask for a minimum of 6 hours a day. The OSDI test was performed to assess the existence of DED symptoms. Tear stability was recorded using a Topcon model CA-800 topographer, which measures non-invasive tear break-up time (NIBUT) and inter-blink interval (IBI) and calculates OPI. Two measurements were made: one with a face mask and one without it. A first analysis of the tear film was carried out on the total sample, which was subsequently divided into two groups: group A (subjects in which abnormalities of the tear film are observed after blinking qualitatively by the topographer) and group B (subjects in which these abnormalities are not observed). **Results:** No significant difference was found neither for OPI nor for NIBUT with and without a face mask for the total sample. Regarding the results obtained from the OSDI test and the OPI, there is no linear association. For group A, both NIBUT and OPI were significantly higher with the use of a face mask than without it (NIBUT: p=0.026, OPI: p=0.019). And, for group B, NIBUT and OPI were significantly lower with the use of a face mask than without it (NI-BUT: p=0.001, OPI: p=0.001).

**Conclusion:** The relationship between the OPI and the OSDI scores is not linear, so signs and symptoms should always be evaluated to diagnose DED. On the other hand, the use of face masks affects tear stabilities differently in subjects with and without different tear anomalies. The nature of these abnormalities needs to be studied and taken into account in future research.

# **ReMedy:** a mobile application for a better use of medication and contact lenses

#### MARÍA JESÚS GARCÍA

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Biology Faculty University of Valencia, Dr. Moliner 50, 469300 Burjassot, Valencia

#### **BRUNO SONGEL**

Degree in Optics and Optometry, Physics Faculty University of Valencia, Dr. Moliner 50, 469300 Burjassot, Valencia

#### EMMA MARTÍN MARÍA SAEZ

Degree in Biotechnology, Biology Faculty University of Valencia, Dr. Moliner 50, 469300 Burjassot, Valencia

#### MIGUEL CUEVAS

Degree in multimedia engineering, School of Engineering University of Valencia, Dr. Moliner 50, 469300 Burjassot, Valencia

**Aim**: The purpose of this article is to develop a user-friendly app to improve the effectiveness of medical treatments and the correct use of antibiotics by making their posology more accurate, including an informative extension for the correct use and storage of contact lenses.

**Experimental method**: We have designed a mobile application with a straightforward and intuitive interface (Figure 1) so users of all ages could use it easily,

with useful gadgets such as daily dose reminders and information about diet components that should be avoided while taking their medications and interactions with other pills.

In the contact lens section, we decided to set up automatic reminders that tell the user when they should be taken off and provide instructions on how to keep them and their case clean and when they should be replaced.

These explanations are supported by informative videos. This data is based on information provided by the Spanish Agency of Medicines and Medical Devices [1]. A total of 15,315 medicines is included in the app and described in the database.



FIGURE 1. Preview of the app interface.

**Results**: While this application is still under construction, we rely on the database of all legally regulated pharmaceutical drugs in Spain along with different types of contact lenses that operate in the country. We extract use recommendations for each type of contracted contact lens directly from the manufacturer. [2] This project has currently encouraged teamwork and enhanced our problem-solving skills; each team member was able to learn and utilize knowledge of the rest, putting it to use in the function of the project. For instance, biotechnology students were able to apply their knowledge to design an information format for every pill. Our engineer designed the interface prototype according to our desired characteristics. Our optometry student was responsible of defining the needs of the population that uses contact lenses. **Discussion**: In further updates, we would like to add more features, namely the ability to add medicines or contact lenses to the interface by using its barcode, further differentiating it from the rest of the applications available to the public. This mobile application was a finalist in the MOTIVEM contest of 2022, organized by the University of Valencia, [3] making it a benchmark for students and faculty.

#### References

[1] Center of Drugs Information. Viewed 22-09-2022, https://cima.aemps.es/ cima/publico/home.html.

[2] Nuestros productos. CooperVision Spain. Viewed 22-09-2022, de https:// coopervision.es/nuestros-productos.

[3] La UV otorga sus premios MOTIVEM 2022 a las mejores ideas emprendedoras. (14 July 2022). Ruvid. https://ruvid.org/la-uv-otorga-sus-premiosmotivem-2022-a-las-mejores-ideas-emprendedoras/.

# 2.10. TEACHING INNOVATION

# Game-based learning as reinforcement tool in optic and optometry studies

KEVIN URBANO ANTELA Department of Analytical Chemistry, Research Building, University of Valencia

PAULA GARCÍA BALAGUER Optics, Optometry and Vision Science Department, University of Valencia

**ROBERTO SÁEZ HERNÁNDEZ** Department of Analytical Chemistry, Research Building, University of Valencia

INÉS ADAM CERVERA Institute of Materials Science (ICMUV), University of Valencia

AGUSTÍN PASTOR GARCÍA ADELA DE LOS REYES MAURI AUCEJO ÁNGEL MORALES RUBIO M.ª LUISA CERVERA SANZ Department of Analytical Chemistry, Research Building, University of Valencia

**M.ª JOSÉ LUQUE COBIJA** Optics, Optometry and Vision Science Department, University of Valencia

**Aim:** The purpose of this article is to develop a game-based learning tool to allow optometry students to understand the perception of patients with congenital color vision defects and contrast sensitivity losses and the design of psychophysical tests for detecting these visual problems.

**Experimental method:** Gamification is a learning technique based on the use of game mechanics in non-game contexts [1]. Its application as a teaching and learning tool has given rise to game-based learning (GBL) [2]. These methodologies aim to increase student motivation and to maintain the student's interest. Educators agree that they have positive effects on students [3].

Our GBL tool was designed with RPGMAKER MZ<sup>®</sup>, a program allowing not-advanced users to create games with an 8-bit aesthetic. The code simulates

two lab experiments from the practicum of the subject "Clinical Examination Methods" (CEM) in the Optics and Optometry degree program. The game's environment reproduces the Burjassot campus of the University of Valencia and students have to configure their avatar and navigate from the campus entrance to the first-floor lab in the Faculty of Physics where CEM is usually taught, select a free computer, choose the subject and select one of the two available experiments.

The first experiment focuses on the analysis of dichromatic color vision by means of a computerized color-ordering test based on the D15 color test [4]. The second experiment simulates the perception of patients with spatial and color vision defects. Both experiments can be carried out using Matlab-based software included in the CEM course's material. However, the difficulties of coping with the Matlab software interfere with the final goal, to understand the variant vision. The app aims to help users to overcome these problems by including activities that 1) help the student with the use of the Matlab software, 2) focus on the main results of the experiment and 3) train the student to analyze simulations of variant vision and vision tests results. Feedback to wrong answers explains errors in detail and elaborate images are included that allow the student to better understand the concepts. Questions about clinical diagnosis are included to show the student different visual pathologies from a simulated image.



FIGURE 1. Game screenshots. The first experiment (left) tests the student's knowledge of dichromatic perception. The second experiment (right) evaluates how losses in the spatial frequency domain affect stimulus perception.

**Results:** In a preliminary study, the game was played by 12 users who underwent a subsequent satisfaction survey to assess the app's usability by a scale of 0-10. Demographic data show that most users were female health science students between 22-24 years old. The users had knowledge about videogames and often

played games. Scores were high, with 8.6 for overall satisfaction. The items evaluating the controls, the realism of the game and its originality had mean scores of 8.2, 7.75 and 9.6, respectively. Although the duration scored only 4.6, the users stated that the time investment was good. The entertainment degree and the teaching experience scored 8 and 9, respectively. The users were willing to use the app again (score 8.75).

**Discussion:** The use of GBL provides students with tools for problem solving. The aim is not to perform the experiments. The app gives feedback to students about their errors to correct badly acquired knowledge. The results of the preliminary survey show that the software is usable and educational, although more exercises and lab simulations should be added in the future.

Acknowledgements: The authors thank the *Servei de Formació Permanent i Innovació Educativa* of the University of Valencia for the teaching innovation project UV-SFPIE\_PID-2079679.

#### References

[1] Kapp, K. M. The Gamification of Learning and Instruction: Game-Based Methods and Strategies for Training and Education; John Wiley & Sons San Francisco, CA, 2012.

[2] Hartt, M.; Hosseini, H.; Mostafapour, M. "Game On: Exploring the Effectiveness of Game-Based Learning" in Plan. Pract. Res. 2020, 35 (5), 589-604.

[3] Tu, C-H.; Sujo-Montes, L. E.; Yen, C. J. "Gamification for learning" in Media Rich Instruction: Connecting Curriculum to All Learners, Springer International Publishing, 2014; pp. 203-218.

[4] Farnsworth, D. "The Farnsworth-Munsell 100-hue and dichotomous tests for color vision" in J. Opt. Soc. Am. 33: 568-578 (1943).

### A study of the applicability of the MUC test for teaching purposes using not colorimetrically characterized devices

ALICIA BARBER JADICHA BENRAIS MERCEDES BONILLO AROCA ELENA CAPUZ ARCEGA HOUDA LATIFINE ANA LIN BEATRIZ RADU ANDRÉS RUIZ CARMONA M.ª JOSÉ LUQUE COBIJA Department of Optics, Optometry and Vision Sciences. University of Valencia. 46100 Burjassot (Spain)

Aim: The study of chromaticity thresholds in the Optics and Optometry curriculum is important as a tool to obtain information about the properties of the chromatic mechanisms of the normal visual system [1] and as a tool to detect, quantify and classify congenital and acquired color vision defects [1]. A Matlab-based software program has been designed for use in academic labs with low-cost colorimetrically characterized 8-bit graphic cards [2]. In this paper, we analyze whether the software can be used by students as tool for study in their own computers using generic colorimetric characterization data despite the inherent color reproduction errors.

**Experimental method:** Fifteen patients took part in the experiment using the CVSimulator app [3] in their own phone to simulate congenital color vision defects, with the brightness set at half the device's range. Three different computers were compared. The chromatic thresholds were measured with the MUC software for Matlab [2] in a scene of 128x128 pixels with a C of Landolt, randomly oriented, whose color differs from the background along 11 different directions. The patient must indicate the letter's orientation or signal that the aperture cannot be seen. Optotip dimensions are 0.5° and 0.75° for the internal and external radius, respectively, and a 15° aperture. The background is achromatic (CIE1931 chromaticity coordinates x=0.32, y=0.326 and luminance 35 cd/m2). The distance between patients with normal vision and the different gadgets was adapted to keep the background's angular size at 10°. When simulating pathologies, the relevant distance is between the computer and the phone, unlike before, when it was between the computer and the patient. Patients rested for five min-
utes between measurements to avoid fatigue effects. The thresholds were obtained with the modified binary search method (MOBS) [4] and adjusted by an ellipse. Friedman's test with a post-hoc Bonferroni correction was used to test for differences between devices and normal and anomalous subjects, given that the Lilliefors normality test shows that the data (ellipse area and orientation) are not normally distributed (p<0.05).

**Results:** An analysis of interquartile ranges and a 95% confidence interval of the medians shows that regardless of the monitor, normal patients have smaller ellipse areas compared to the patients with simulated defects. The ellipse's orientation of normal and tritan patients are similar and differ from protan and deutan patients. However, a large and unexpected overlap between the orientation of normals and protans is observed in some devices.

Friedman's test detected statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between monitors for ellipse area and orientation. The post-hoc Bonferroni analysis showed significantly small areas for normals in comparison with anomalous patients in monitors 2 and 3, but in Computer 1, normals did not differ from protans, despite the larger median for the protan group.

The post-hoc reveals significant differences in orientation between the red-green defectives and normal and tritans, and no differences between normals and tritans, and between protan and deutan, but they remain different at the same time.

**Discussion:** The study shows that students may reproduce the expected results regarding size and orientation of normal and anomalous ellipses with non-colorimetrically characterized screens. However, it has been noticed that simulated defects affect discrimination along both the red-green and blue-yellow directions. Particularly in simulated protans, the real thresholds along the red-green direction lie outside the range of generable colors and cannot be determined. In these cases, when thresholds along the blue-yellow direction are also large, it is not reliable to determine the ellipses axis and data may even be fitted by a circumference. Data obtained with the different screens used in the study show significant correlation, but not concordance, so in a variety of brands and models used, the differences in displayed colors affect the result.

# References

[1] Barbur JL, Cole VA and Plan GT. "Chromatic discrimination in subjects with both congenital and acquired colour vision deficiencies" in Color Vision Deficiencies XIII, ed. Cavonius CR (1997) 211-223. Kluver Academic Publishers, Dordrech, Netherlands.

[2] de Fez D, Luque MJ, García-Domene MC, Díez-Ajenjo MA, Viqueira V. "Prestaciones y limitaciones de Matlab para ilustrar fenómenos psicofísicos en laboratorios docentes: medidas de umbrales cromáticos" in Actas del XIII Congreso Nacional de Color, 126-129 (2022).

[3] Asada K, Chromatic Vision Simulator. https://asada.website/cvsimulator/e/index.html. Last access, 20/09/2022.

[4] R.A. Tyrell, & D.A. Owens, D. A. "A rapid technique to assess the resting states of the eyes and ther threshold phenomena: The modified binary search (MOBS)" in Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 20, 137-14 (1988).

# **AUTHOR INDEX**

#### A

Adam Cervera, Inés: 213 Algás Sanz, Alicia: 203 Altemir Gómez, Irene: 149 Andrés Navarro, Jorge: 132 Araújo, Rute: 76 Arcas-Carbonell, María: 81 Ares García, Jorge: 35, 63, 68, 165 Argiles, Marc: 185

#### B

Baoud Ould Haddi, Inas: 147 Barber, Alicia: 216 Barrett, Brendan T.: 9, 25, 27 Basulto Marset, Mercedes: 209 Benedí-García, Clara: 173 Benrais, Jadicha: 216 Berges Cardenal, Jorge: 115 Bielsa Alonso, Sofía: 74, 161 Blanco-Martínez, Iñaki: 76 Blasco Martínez, Alejandro: 123 Blázquez Sánchez, Vanesa: 147, 151, 155 Boned Murillo, Ana: 74, 161 Bonillo Aroca, Mercedes: 216 Bonnin Arias, Cristina: 9, 147, 155 Bravo, Diana: 37 Briceño-López, Celeste: 163, 167 Buckley, John G.: 25, 27 Burgos-Martínez, Mercedes: 85, 139 Burguera-Giménez, Neus: 163, 167 Burguera, Noemí: 163

#### С

Campillo Nuevo, Isabel: 98

Cano Ortiz, Antonio: 50, 52 Capuz Arcega, Elena: 216 Carballo Álvarez, Jesús: 139 Carrera Blanco, Alba: 149 Casares López, Miriam: 112 Castro Alonso, Francisco Javier: 63, 68, 145, 147 Castro Torres, José Juan: 112 Cebrián Lafuente, José Luís: 180, 196 Cervera Sanz, M. Luisa: 213 Cerviño Expósito, Alejandro: 28, 57, 59, 83, 142 Chamorro, Eva: 173 Cleva, José Miguel: 173 Concepción Grande, Pablo: 173 Consejo Vaquero, Alejandra: 81, 137 Contreras-Martín, Ines: 151 Corroto Cuadrado, Arturo: 180 Cors Ferrando, Salvador: 127, 193 Cuevas, Miguel: 210

#### D

Daudén Oliver, Paula: 107 De Juan, Victoria: 36 Díaz Barreda, María Dolores: 74, 161 Díaz Hurtado, Ana: 157 Di Benedetto, Charles: 55 Díez-Ajenjo, M.ª Amparo: 9, 10, 101, 163, 167, 193, 218 Dolz Tormo, Maria: 178 Donís de la Torre, Jorge: 151, 155 Dorronsoro, Carlos: 109, 111 Dotor, Paulina: 173 Durán-Prieto, Elena: 139

#### E

Esteban-Ibañez, Eduardo: 109 Esteve Taboada, José Juan: 9, 10, 129 Ezkurra León, Irene: 177

#### F

Fambuena Muedra, Isabel: 101, 117, 127, 193 Fernandes, Paulo: 76 Fernández Espinosa, Guisela: 74, 161 Fernández, José Alonso: 173 Ferrando, Vicente: 65 Flores Cervantes, Dayan: 147 Font Armadans, Sara: 39 Fossetti, Alessandro: 55 Furlan, Walter D.: 65, 67, 125, 206

#### G

Gambra, Enrique: 109 Garaszczuk, Izabela K.: 27, 28 García Balaguer, Paula: 45, 213 García-Domene, M.ª Carmen: 9, 10, 163, 167, 218 García Espinilla, Óscar: 79 García-González, Montserrat: 151 García-Lázaro, Santiago: 57, 59, 83, 129, 142 García Llopis, Celia: 107 García, María Jesús: 210 García-Marqués, José Vicente: 57, 59, 83, 142 García Párrizas, Jose Alberto: 50, 52 García Pérez, Jorge: 151 Gargallo Yebra, Diana: 63, 68, 165 Garzón Jiménez, Nuria: 170 Gómez Domingo, Elsa: 127, 193 González Cruces, Timoteo: 50, 52 González García, Emilio: 98 González-Méijome, José Manuel: 76 González Pascual, M. Mar: 139 González Pérez, Mariano: 170 Goodenough, Neil: 85 Granados Delgado, Pilar: 112 Gros Otero, Juan: 151, 155

# Η

Hernández Andrés, Rosa M.<sup>a</sup>: 9, 10, 101 Hernández, Antonio: 154 Hernández Segovia, Silvia: 207 Hernández Verdejo, José Luis: 60 Hernández Vián, Rubén: 145, 146 Herrero Gracia, Alba: 101 Hervás Marín, David: 98

# I

Igalla El Youssfi, Asmae: 103, 105

# J

Jiménez-García, Marta: 47, 49, 117

#### L

Lanzán Lanzán, María: 199 Larrosa Povés, José Manuel: 123, 146 Latifine, Houda: 216 Lin, Ana: 216 López-Alonso, José Manuel: 60, 85, 103, 139, 170 López Briz, Eduardo: 98 López de la Fuente, Carmen: 89, 95, 181, 183, 188 López Escolà, Celeste: 71 López-Raso, Alicia: 85 López Redondo, Estela: 157, 180, 196 Luque-Cobija, M.ª José: 9, 10, 163, 167, 213, 216, 218

# M

Madrid Costa, David: 60 Maia dos Reis de Jesus, Pedro Tiago: 29 Marín, Jesús: 36 Marquina Martín, Sara: 132, 145 Marrakchi, Yassine: 109 Marrakchi, Youssef: 170 Martín, Emma: 210 Martínez-Espert, Anabel: 65, 125 Martínez, Paula: 209 Martínez-Plaza, Elena: 41 Martínez Vañó, Natalia: 191 Martín Herranz, Raúl: 10, 79 Martins Jorge, Jorge Manuel: 9, 10, 29 Maurain Orera, Luz: 89 Mauri Aucejo, Adela de los Reves: 213 Mechó-García, María: 76 Mejía Chiqui, Natalia: 98 Melero Moreno, Mar: 98 Merino Torres, Juan Francisco: 98 Mestre, Clara: 185 Millán Salvador, José María: 98 Molina-Martín, Ainhoa: 41 Moneo Coll, Nela Martina: 125 Monsálvez Romín, Daniel: 9, 10, 45 Montagud-Martínez, Diego: 65

Montalt Rodrigo, Juan Carlos: 177 Morales Rubio, Ángel: 213 Mousavi, Maryam: 27, 28 Muresan Oltean, Bianca Tabita: 98

#### Ν

Navarro Marqués, Aitana: 181

#### 0

Olivares-González, Lorena: 98, 100 Orduna Hospital, Elvira: 74, 76, 81, 82, 89, 115, 161, 181, 183, 199 Ortega-Evangelio, Leticia: 132 Ortí Navarro, Susana: 9, 10, 203 Ortiz, Amparo: 154

# P

Paglia, Matteo: 55 Palacios Ortego, Irene: 95, 188 Palomino Bautista, Juan Carlos: 157 Pastor García, Agustín: 213 Pérez del Palomar, Amaya: 137 Perez, Ivan: 63, 68 Peris-Martínez, Cristina: 100, 127, 132, 163, 167 Pinilla Lozano, Isabel: 74, 76, 82, 161 Piñero Llorens, David P.: 9, 91, 107 Pons, Álvaro M.: 129, 178 Porcar Izquierdo, Esteban: 9, 10, 177, 178 Puertas Cuesta, F. Javier: 193 Puig, Xavier: 36 Pujol, Jaume: 185

# R

Radu, Beatriz: 216 Ramasubramanian, Darshan: 60 Ramón Campillo, Aida: 205 Ramos Arizcuren, Ana: 137 Rementería-Capelo, Laureano A.: 151 Remón Martín, Laura: 9, 32, 35, 63, 68, 165, 206 Ribeiro, Miguel: 76 Rodrigo Nicolás, Regina: 98 Rodríguez Villa, Rocío: 155 Roig Revert, María José: 127 Rovira-Gay, Cristina: 185 Rozema, Jos: 47, 117, 138 Rubio Barañano, Alejandro: 10, 25, 27 Ruiz-Alcocer, Javier: 85 Ruiz Carmona, Andrés: 216 Ruiz Fabra, Gabriel: 91 Ruiz Porras, Alberto: 50, 52

#### S

Sáez Hernández, Roberto: 213 Saez, María: 210 Salom Alonso, David: 98, 100 Sánchez Cano, Ana: 74, 76, 82, 89, 115, 161, 181, 183 Sánchez Jean, Rubén: 157, 204 Sánchez Pavón, Irene: 79 Sánchez Pérez, Isabel: 180 Sánchez Piracoca, Angie Julieth: 134 Sánchez Ramos, Celia: 10, 147 Sanchis Jurado, Vicent: 129 Sancho Larraz, Marta: 123 Sawides, Lucie: 109, 111 Saz Onrubia, Elena: 183 Sierra Buitrago, Laura Ximena: 134 Simó, Irene: 154 Songel, Bruno: 210 Sopeña Pinilla, María: 74, 161 Soriano del Castillo, José Miguel: 98 Soriano Pina, Diana: 95, 146, 149, 188

# Т

Talens Estarelles, Cristian: 57, 59, 83, 129, 142 Tolón Zardoya, Nerea: 165

#### U

Urbano Antela, Kevin: 213

#### V

Velasco Gomariz, Sheyla: 98 Vila Clérigues, Nieves: 98



The Sixth International Symposium of Young Optometrists (SIYO 2022) took place from 14 to 28 November 2022 in its usual online format. This conference aims to create a space featuring young optometry students and optometry practitioners.

This book of proceedings contains the abstracts of the different contributions to the conference. Its contents are organized into two sections: invited and sponsored talks and workshops, and free communications. This last section is divided in talks and poster communications, comprising the conference's different thematic areas.

The Organizing Committee thanks all the young and senior researchers who have contributed their work to the conference, the members of the Scientific Committee for their careful review of the work and the different companies and academic or official entities that have sponsored this event.

The Organizing Committee

